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CORPORATE PROFILE
EEBHN

VONGROUP AT A GLANCE
= REHE

CERTAIN KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following summary of certain indicators is to be read subject to, and in the context
of, fuller details and explanations as provided in the consolidated financial statements

below.

= TRRENIER

IATETEENHBEAD  BERTIARENS HIBR
RPHEAHABNMEE  TERENS IBHE T ETHE -

Revenue 2%

HK$201.6 M(E &)
(UP (EFH) 4.3%)

FY2022: HK$193.2 m (B &)

Technology-Related Revenue 3% 48 BI UL

HK$196.7 M(B &)
(upP (EH) 5.0%)

FY2022: HK$187.3 m (B &)

Total Assets #2&E

HK$609.4 M(BE &)
(up (LF) 3.0%)

FY2022: HK$591.6 m (EH &)

Profit Before Taxation B F775 %1 Al % )

HK$22.8 M (B &)

(DOWN (T ) 11.5%)

FY2022: HK$25.7 m (&)

Net Assets & &R {E
HK$528.7 M(E &)

(UP (EF) 9.4%)

FY2022: HK$483.4 m (H &)

Profit Before Taxation, before giving effect to non-cash change in fair value of

investment properties

EREMEZH RS D R EERE OB A EBAER
HK$27.8 M(B &)

(UP (LEFH) 43.3%)

FY2022: HK$19.4 m (A &)

Gearing Ratio 2L &

0.09

(DOWN (R %) 40.0%)

FY2022: 0.15

03
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CORPORATE PROFILE
EEEHN

AS WE HEAD INTO THE FUTURE

ERPIEARR

Vongroup Limited is a global company headquartered in Hong Kong with
presence in the UK, which operates businesses primarily in software
and IT services, and related consulting and business solutions, with
an emphasis on deploying our portfolio of technology-for-business
applications, digital transformation, and scalable cloud platforms,
including, amongst others, for example, industry vertical expertise in
enterprise management technologies, event management solutions,
financial management solutions for major events, SaaS mobile enterprise
solutions, remote learning/training solutions, and virtual/hybrid event
solutions.

At this very challenging time, our team of technology-for-business professionals
and our Vongroup Ecosystem of solutions, services and products help us deliver
solid results.

ENBEXRERARR-XABURER EREOAXEK
FAENZRUEAR - TERBRHNE LN KRB AEEN
EHNBEBRIF AEXEERNNERMAPVDNREAE
B BREANTRRNERTE BELBRATREEET
RACEEENRNACTEER FHEEBRIR XK
BEBNMBEEMRRT R R DRB(Saas) BB B
BRAR -EBERBE BFIBERFEUARER BEED
BRIR-

FESE (EE B PR M 2 SPIRORHR MR E HE BB A K
BNEELRRRZERNE RBMER - EBHFHFIE
B TIREIRKRR -

Our VG Technology Solutions and Business
Processes division intends to continue to
make further investments in and reinforce
our leading-edge IT and business process
outsourced services for customers in Hong
Kong, elsewhere in Asia, as well as the UK/
EU, by continuing to leverage upon our
technology and business expertise, as well
as our deep knowledge in multiple industry
verticals.

Strengthening our
Technology Solutions

and Business Processes
Ecosystem and
Operations: Continuing
Investment in Technology
and Business Expertise,
and Deep Knowledge

in Multiple Industry
Knowledge

In particular, we expect to broaden and
deepen our digital Ecosystem tto further
integrate Al technology, Data-Driven
Intelligence, FinTech services, digital Event
Management, E-Commerce, EdTech and
online training, enterprise Messaging and
Productivity, and Big Data Analytics, in order
to entrench our continuing relationships with
our customers.

IMERMOBMBEBRER AN SER BRI RN
NEXRBERRARE HERENHTEEEES
g RERENNERAE 8 BMEMEARKER
REXEEN YHEESME BNRTPREBELNERER
TEABEORERR - BAMEERRIZIRIRS - @B
SEMBHMAO MM ER
EEN UERBMESETE
A BE AR A TR ETTHE
—ZEIRE M -

B2 BPI IR AT A IR KRR
RPN BF ER R & —
FRAATEERM BERE
PER  EEMBRRE BT
hEMER EFHEBE HEM
BAMAEZF EEBEME
ENRRRBIESIN AEE
HAPIERE P A5 BRI R




FAREARAR FR2023

CORPORATE PROFILE

EEBHN

Capitalising on our FinTech,
Saa$, VR and AR Technology-
Driven Management Services
to grow Mission-Critical
International Events Business

We intend to develop further strategic
alliances for our Claman Global Limited
subsidiary, which owns and operates
FringeBacker Events, one of Asia’s premier
SaaS platforms that specialises in event
management and related fintech for large-
scale events, like, for example, the Standard
Chartered Hong Kong Marathon. We are proud
that FringeBacker Events is continues to
provide differentiated user experience through
its strong, high-security premium white-label
service.

We expect to also continue to strengthen
Data-Driven and Al management of major
international events, marathons, trade shows,
ticketed events, and payment services that are
Data-driven or otherwise Technology-driven.

Mega events may involve tens of thousands
or hundreds of thousands of participants
and interactions, which are projects that
call for large-scale technology and related
project management expertise, extra-high
security and privacy, unique fintech payment
solutions, as well as unmatched reputational
assurances.

We intend to also accelerate FringeBacker
Events” integrated SaaS services, virtual reality
(VR) and augmented reality (AR) that fully
integrate management, operations, reporting,
payments and participation-engagement for
customers.

FARMNSEBE &
HFENAR#E (Saas) - ERE
B (VR)FIEIE EH(AR) R}
HREEBSNEERE  #EH
AR BRI EK T
.§ o

BITEE - ERRMOT
A A]Claman Global Limited #) &
B R ZARIHAELES
FringeBacker Events * 35 & 38 )
— MR HISaaST = H)E RN RE
EEEE S E RN S E R
B BIanE T BE S B RN © F A
AFringeBacker Eventsht #3f i
Ha X sxztEnasfaE
BRiGREE R TR A E S
BRIBASR-

HMEEBEEMRYEE
BB BHiR -BEHRE-
PFIREBMER B s E Rt
RSN IREHEF RS
MATEREEE -

AEGE B A B R BUAE R
FUATEFM2EENES.
BLERFEAREOREM
HHEEREEEXENE 8BS
Wz 2 ML RE  BEN
ERMBEINERT R AR
BENBERE -

;P18 1T & 00 R 4 EFringe
Backer EventsHI#R& SaaSARTS
JE 7 B BE(VR) RN 2 18 B (AR)
TEEBAEE BE WE X
NM2EEHEFE: LR
BEEMFE X
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EEEHN

Repositioning New
Enterprise Business
Practice Models: Leading-
Edge Mobile Enterprise
Applications for growing
numbers of workers who
have become accustomed
to out-of-office work
environments

Our TeamTech subsidiary has developed
strong go-to-market strategic partnerships for
our TeamSoft mobile enterprise applications,
addressing the needs of enterprise
staff who, in the post-COVID era, have
become accustomed to out-of-office work
environments.

TeamSoft leverages our industry vertical
knowledge to develop, operate and manage
enterprise-level SaaS mobile enterprise
resource platforms to enable client enterprises
to efficiently manage and operate their
businesses in a post-pandemic world where
the necessity for out-of-office work interaction
has become a matter of daily business life.

To increase market penetration, TeamSoft has
also developed industry-specific functions and
products to target SMEs and is expanding its
distribution networks.

EREMHNEREERE
BEN  BEANBBEE
FER - LB e 2 E
ERBRAENTHEREN
BT-

F It TeamTech TR A B 4552
TR AW IS EER A ERE
B1% - AT TeamSoftiEEh >
XERARHIE RWELEE
THEEMBEBEHRREENH
REINTIERIBENF R

TeamSoftFl| A & M 7E 17 Z 4 =
EEMME RE EENE
BhEHSaasHEH T EERT
2 FEFLEEHNTETT
HERRRUHERMESL %
%M AEINTIEESEK AR
BRELEONEZ —-

BT IS 2B XK - TeamSoft
ERZETEHRPRPDEENITE
BENRMER WERTE
D EHHERE o

Continuing Business and
Technological Expansion
and Development, in
UK/EU and elsewhere
internationally

In addition to Asian markets outside Hong
Kong, we see the UK and EU as one of our
potential growth markets.

To that end, we have established our presence
in the UK from which the UK/EU initiatives
will be based.

We intend to build upon the momentum
that we have achieved in Hong Kong and
elsewhere in Asia to take advantage of the
potential that is driven by the markets in the
UK and EU, and their increasing adoption of
digital technology.

FrAUE T R M BT AV IR
BABRE  £REHE
MEAERHEE -

BT EBANNTEMTIS R
IR AR B R R AE
RIS —

Bl B ERRET T X
BiFE AEEXEBEIE
ATEITERRE -

HAPT HAF BTN E i
BEUS SRR o AR
B M Bk R 7 45 O 7 ) AN B R
FHBE=EER E—FBERA
* o

Strategic Partnerships
to grow Virtual/Hybrid
Conferences and Mobile
Marketing Solutions.

Further to our strategic alliances and joint go-
to-market cooperations, we intend to grow
by establishing more business partnerships
regarding virtual and hybrid conference and
exhibitions and events, and mobile marketing
business in Hong Kong and internationally.

BYBMEEREEE:
REER REFENE
BITHBRTRNER -

FERAPIH B0 B BB A K R 45
BIEMER L RITERBRE
UYRZERERMES SR B
BMEHARBBITHERD
BEAIERHEER EREME
B EERER -

Reinforcing our
commitment to our clients

We have to perform in a fast-changing and
uncertain world. Enterprise clients are living
with the resulting economic consequences of
the war in Ukraine, supply chain disruption,
rising inflation, interest rate hikes, and, in
case of Hong Kong, pandemic preventative
measures that were in force for most of this
financial year.

We help clients in upcycles and downturns,
helping them with their digital transformation
to the cloud, accelerating their new business
models with newer technology adoptions, and
bringing a high degree of multi-disciplinary
experience in business and technology,
together with deep understanding of multiple
industry verticals. In particular, we have been
engaged to provide the technology for some
of the biggest, most prestigious and high-
profile international sporting events that call
for our experience and track record.

s & F R EEE

B AE —ERRBEIT
EEMERARBHE bER
PLEmSSR@EF (HEE
T BERIR LT FIE LR
WA K & B AR B KA D B
P B e ) & 15 TR 5 AT 2R
FIEERR

PR A7 1 OB B A R )
WEEEDEF B FIEITE
BB - R ER A RO
B ERER  WHEAR
ABRBZETEARARNZ
BRAENRRER - BHE
BEWEZERS—L&EK &E
BENBZ@INERESE
SRR EHERME
ENERMRFHEETHE-



Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to announce that our Group has performed
well in spite of challenging and volatile global, regional
and Hong Kong environments during the financial year
ended 30 April 2023.

Our Group’s Performance

We are pleased that our Group has successfully
maintained steady development, successfully achieving
another profitable year. We have also increased revenue
for our Group as a whole, as well as specifically for our
technology-related business.

Our Group achieved revenue of HK$201.6 million, a
growth of 4.3%, and profit before taxation of HK$22.8
million, a decrease of 11.3%.

Before giving effect to non-cash change in fair value of
investment properties, our Group achieved profit before
taxation of HK$27.8 million, an increase of 43.3%.

Overview — the Software and IT Services Industry,
and Our Group’s Positioning

The Group’s technology and related business provides
software and IT services, and related consulting and
business solutions, with an emphasis on our portfolio
of technology-for-business applications, digital
transformation, and scalable cloud platforms, including,
amongst others, for example, industry vertical expertise in
enterprise management technologies, event management
solutions, financial management solutions for major
events, SaaS mobile enterprise solutions, remote learning/
training solutions, and virtual/hybrid event solutions.

Our Group continues to play an important role with
our clients to enable their digital transformation in
accelerated adoption of new technologies, helping
them with their transformation initiatives that are
revolutionising many sectors. We do this through strategic
leverage of our Ecosystem of technology-for-business
products, services and solutions, including, amongst
others, our expectation that we will increasingly deploy
artificial intelligence (Al) to re-position both enterprise
and customer experiences.

CEQ’S STATEMENT
1T AR R 2 B

BHHFARER :

KAMAEMH EBE-_ZT_=FNA
“THULEMBEE BERK RELER
RIBFRMRE L E S AEBINRIRR LT -

EAESLITES

BARSEAEEXRNREREER X
NEBRX —EBRME —F - HMIFSEE
1B - R R FHXAERE EH R U AR IO o

7K £ B ' 3 W £5201,600,0008 T 1 K
43% - Fi BT @ A A22,800,0007% JT 0 R
11.3% ©

ARBSBERAENR RS A EE

5 B)) 7 B B TS A% BT & 127,800,000/ 7T -
1 R43.3% o

Bk — A M E AR BRI TR - AREMA
SENER

5 18] ) B 5 R A B 35 75 92 SR R A B LR
PR » A K AERE ) RE SR R A AR TS 5=

ETREHERMOBENMZEREAA
B BFEUNAERERTFE HPFE
REXEEMBC ABEERRANE X
BB EIRARTT R - SaaSB BB E M
R BRERMTEREENZ  BIZEB
BIIORTT R ARER,REIEBEIR

kL

AMEREETEEERR EEFEH
i 38 00 SR 5% R T R B R A 9 0 B
B BE M E R A B T RS
BHSTE RPBBBEIERRERE
—BE AMOBENEES RENRR
FRAERRREG  E BRI 2 AR
S0 E A T SR BR Tl R
F s -
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CEQ’S STATEMENT
1T AR S R 2 B

Our Group believes that our business remains strongly
positioned, and the market demand for our core
technology-for-business services and solutions is expected
to support sustained growth over the long term. And,
increasingly, our customers are looking to deploy a
combination of products, services and solutions from our
Ecosystem. Therefore, while focused on our core strength
areas, we expect that growth will become more broad-
based, across markets and industry verticals.

Our Group leverages our technology and business
expertise, as well as deep industry verticals knowledge, to
support our clients’ businesses in Hong Kong and overseas
with our advanced enterprise technology tools, products
and services, to present cost-effective options for them
to out-rival their competitors in the market, to enable
them to reform and automate their business operations
during a tight labour market, and to rapidly deploy newer
technologies in the face of an increasingly post-pandemic
technology-savvy customer environment.

As the overall economy goes through considerable
changes, and geopolitical factors, rising inflation, market
volatility and tight labour markets come slow down
global growth, we believe that the digital transitions that
are going on now will continue to require significant
investments in new technologies and external expertise,
which offer meaningful growth opportunities for software
and IT services businesses.

AEBMEE B EHDER BRI AL
45 5 AP0 0 B B SRR SOIR TS A AR OR TT
RNB LB ERANTERER -
B BFI %P B % it % 2 50 = 3 M
ERRAGTHNER RIGMERTT ZEr A
&Rt EFERRMANZMEZ B
R APIFEETE M IS MM AT EMNIER
REFEIMEZ -

AEBAMARMOBMEMERER UK
REHERITERME AERMEENDEE
MBERTA ERMRBXHEFERBM
BHINNETR REPIREAKARGEHE
B ABBmS EMEFE T EPIsEm
EERNTIHEIHSTFRELEREHS
B TEHBRBERADZATHENE
PIRIZHIREALE R

EERRLBELKEERNEC WEBUAEHR
= ER LT TSKBMER N HIHERER
AR R IRIE R PRS- EEETTR B
{LEA S EER E YR E R A
HBETRERE  ER/THFNEMBBUR
BEBRBETERNERKS -



Ongoing Major Appointments and Potential
Additions of Technologies

Our Group has been investing in newer technologies,
including, amongst others, Al, cloud platforms, large-scale
automated event management, and mobile ERP. Over the
past few years, to further increase the breadth and depth
of our spectrum of Vongroup’s Ecosystem of technology-
for-business services and solutions, we have successfully
completed a number of technologies acquisitions and
entered into continuing strategic alliances and joint go-to-
market cooperation with leading technology partners. The
business and operations integration of our technologies
acquisitions and strategic technology partnerships
have brought about significant concerted efforts and
cross-selling opportunities to the Group, including
appointments to prestigious engagements to provide the
technology for some of Hong Kong’s biggest and most
important international events that call for the capability
to provide a world-class technology platform to handle
and manage tens of thousands, or hundreds of thousands,
of participants or interactions.

It is inherent in the nature of the digital technology
business that technologies will evolve, and old
technologies will gradually become obsolete, getting
replaced by newer technologies at much shorter
intervals than commonly would be the case for many
other tools or skillsets in other industries. Therefore,
the Group is looking forward to completing and making
new acquisitions that we believe would add to our
accumulated business, management and sales skills in
relation to technologies-for-business. We will also invest
in research in areas that we expect will be important in
the future, either internally or in partnership with other
experts.

CEQ’S STATEMENT
1T AR R 2 B

FETEEaNEENREREM

AEE—ERERNHBBC BRATERE
Emta ARBBCLEHEEMES
ERP - BEBF  RE—FBERUMEAE
ERBE R ERS MR RERRGH
FEEMZRE BB KK X ZER
WiE - WEBBENBRAERHFELSE
FY B B B B I B S T B E A A 1F o T PRy
BB NSRS ERHRENES
HELSEA/AKRETRTERNBRSL
NEXNHERS BREZRI2ENA
AE) BRATE LEERA REEM
BEURB RER R ELASHE BRI
PR e UEREMEEES K
TEMNZ2EENES-

BHEMEEBOANERERR BT
3 - B R RO R R R BT B
R ENHEERLEEMITENFZEMT
HAREABERERZ - Hit SEBFT
POMVE 1T #T U - BPIREE RIS h R
PEBEMRT EERZNER B IEMHE
ERXEE - HPIEBRENLMETRRKE
ZRABIE BEwmENBESEE
BERAEE-

09



10

Vongroup Limited Annual Report 2023

CEQ’S STATEMENT
1T AR S R 2 B

UK/EU Expansion

We are extending our global presence by setting up our
office and operations based in the United Kingdom, to
direct operations in the UK/EU, and we will continue to
further expand internationally, including leveraging upon
our experience to provide consultancy services to improve
or develop customers’ technology-focused commercial
models. With the combination of the Group’s applied
technology and commercial operation experience over the
past 16 years, we look forward to continuing to grow our
presence in Hong Kong, and internationally in Asia, the
United Kingdom and the European Union.

Outlook — the Vongroup Ecosystem, Generative Al,
and Building Partnerships

During rising markets, we help clients accelerate and
rapidly expand their technologies to give them an obvious
lead over their competitors; whereas during a faltering
economy, we help them sustain their positioning with
technology that seeks to increase efficiencies until the
next market upturn comes.

The breadth and depth of our expertise within our core
areas gives us a distinct competitive edge. In addition,
industry verticals will continue to be our primary go-
to-market business areas, and technology adoption
will remain to be a key driver of business growth and
transformation for our clients. We will strive to further
strengthen our spectrum of Vongroup’s Ecosystem of
technology-for-business services and solutions. We will
continue to grow our team and talent base, building
partnerships with key technology providers, to continue
to help our clients accelerate technology adoption and be
their “digital ecosystem partner for the post-COVID world”.

RE B®BER
KPEBERER I B EREBERE

BUBR R A ME & R E AR MR 2R
B RMABESE-TERRELER &
EMARPOEREREARE  AkZE
HFABREPUARBR AT ONEERN &
EEBBRFNRAMRMEEESR
B RPOMSESEAERS BRI
3 B MR BE RO 375

RE-THERERRS ERAATERE
LUK 28 3 R+ B &

EFETSEH RAEHEP IR MR
BREAMS EERRELRHEFHTF M
HERE B e BN T - FATE B b
BABHIER B DA RS HE
BRI N RMiGrERIR-

BAEZOBENEXZNFINRE RE
B ERMEABBRIEFES MM 4
RATRBEERRMEAT SN ERRS
R MREBIDSREMEFEKIER
MEUNERED ) - BHMAKEHE—F
MsR A B X 2 EEMBRBMERT =
ERAGHNEENRE - RFPGEEREAX
T E B A A A5 - R A E
BREYAEBHER NEEEHRFN
BEPIERHRIRA - R A ERER
KB ERER A BRI



Significant advancements of Al have already been seen in
many industries, like finance, government services, health
care, criminal justice, transportation, and smart cities that
have changed the manner of decision-making, business
models, risk mitigation, and system performance. We
therefore expect that newer technologies like generative
Al and machine learning will be amongst our several key
focus technologies going forward, and that their impact
on life and business will not be insignificant, especially as
we now witness a transitioning process from predictive Al
to generative Al, which we would expect may likely benefit
the software and IT services industry, through clients’
needs for further investment in technology innovation
and expertise.

We continue expect that global, regional and Hong
Kong business activity will remain challenging, posing
significant tough decisions for our clients. However, with
many enterprises relying on technology more than ever
to drive their competitive differentiation, many industry
experts expect that software and IT services spending will
continue to increase versus overall tech spending, which is
a trend that would benefit our Group’s business prospects.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to sincerely thank
all our team members for their support, hard work and
dedication this year. We also acknowledge and thank our
customers, partners, shareholders and other stakeholders
for their continued support and trust. We look forward to
a successful future together.

Vong Tat leong David
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 August 2023

CEQ’S STATEMENT
1T AR R 2 B

ATERDREHAZOTRABTERE
B e BUF RS BEKE IS5
A RBMBEWT  BEITRENE TIRR
7 BEE B EM R AR
g WA ERAA TS MR 2R
FHIR B R AT FIR R IR E B T
Z— efEAEENEROZER RN
TeEr FRRRMRERZ TEREA
ALEEIERKALERENRBERRE &K
PIFEETIE Al BE S (L T F M B AR AR 75 17
E¥m BBEPHMRAIFMEXNHE
M — P IRER R

HFEERY 23 BEMNEBNHEBEL
EDE TR ME . G RPINEFPHRERKR
EVERZEORIE - A ARNFFLZ BRI AT
EATR R EIMRBRIR R ES EHEFE
2 HETEERER S NEARER
B LS A REER S
E-BERETREFERENRTAS -

HERREFSERORIAMBEBEXES
FHIE - FH TIEMERUG M - AP
RPN ER  SERH  BERMEM R S
MEE - BEAROIENEE - TR
HARF — BRI B R 2R

HESB
TR RN TEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED

Overview of Technology-Related Service Industry

Global, regional and Hong Kong economic indicators during the financial year ended
30 April 2023 were severely impacted by, amongst other factors, the war in Ukraine
throughout this financial year, and, in the case of Hong Kong in particular, COVID
pandemic preventative measures and border controls until the later part of this financial
year. The war in Ukraine took its toll on business, due to severe global supply chain
disruptions, resultant inflation, and persistently rising interest rates. At the same time,
COVID pandemic preventative measures and border controls enforced by mainland
China, Hong Kong and Macau witnessed continuing business and logistics difficulties
experienced by many clients.

According to Gartner, Inc’s January 2023 forecast, while inflation continues to erode
consumer purchasing power and drive technology device spending down, overall
enterprise IT spending is expected to remain strong. In this regard, enterprises and
consumers appear to face very different economic realities: for instance, while inflation
seems to be devastating many consumer markets, contributing to increased layoffs at
many B2C companies, many enterprises are however continuing to increase spending
on digital business initiatives despite global economic slowdown. The Gartner forecast
explains what we have observed with our clients, that is, that a turbulent economy may
change the context of a company’s business decisions, delays decision-making, or re-
orders business priorities; however, in many situations, IT spending may be relatively less
affected by such onslaught of recession forces.

Many enterprises appear to have come to live with this new mode of business operations,
that is, they have been increasing their adoption of technology for, and by, both business
and customer usage. For example, global technology spending on software and IT
services exceeded US$2,000 hillion in 2022, according to Gartner’s estimates, of which
IT services grew to US$1,200 hillion, driven in part by accelerated cloud adoption. In
addition, we believe that there has been a decision by many enterprises to increase
their outsourcing component to external expertise, to address a tight labour market
where many skilled IT staff have been migrating away from in-house employment
towards technology and service providers who can keep up with increased compensation
requirements and career development opportunities.

In contrast with IT services growth, Gartner estimated that global spending on
technology devices fell 11% to US$700 billion in 2022. This observation is consistent
with the Group’s direction to focus on software and IT services, and related consulting
and business solutions, with an emphasis on our portfolio of technology-for-business
applications, digital transformation, and scalable cloud platforms, including, amongst
others, for example, industry vertical expertise in enterprise management technologies,
event management solutions, financial management solutions for major events, SaaS
mobile enterprise solutions, remote learning/training solutions, and virtual/hybrid event
solutions.

Vongroup’s Business
Overall Performance; an Overview

The Group’s main revenue generating business is a technology and related business
where we provide software and IT services, and related consulting and business solutions,
with an emphasis on our portfolio of technology-for-business applications, digital
transformation, and scalable cloud platforms, including, amongst others, for example,
industry vertical expertise in enterprise management technologies, event management
solutions, financial management solutions for major events, SaaS mobile enterprise
solutions, remote learning/training solutions, and virtual/hybrid event solutions.

Our Group leverages our technology and business expertise, as well as deep industry
verticals knowledge, to support our clients’ businesses in Hong Kong and overseas
with our advanced enterprise technology tools, products and services, to present cost-
effective options for them to out-rival their competitors in the market, to enable them
to outsource essential work during a tight labour market, and to rapidly deploy newer
technologies in the face of an increasingly post-pandemic technology-savvy customer
environment.

The Group’s international footprint has been extending by setting up our UK/EU regional
headquarters in the United Kingdom, which directs our operations for the UK/EU region.
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In spite of global, regional and Hong Kong headwinds, we are pleased that our Group has
successfully maintained steady development, successfully achieving another profitable
year. We have also increased revenue for our Group as a whole, as well as specifically for
our technology-related business.
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. 4.3% increase in revenue to HK$201.6 million (2022: HK$193.2 million)
U ASE hn4.3% 201,600,000 7T ( = = =4 : 193,200,000/ 7T )

B 75 A 28 FURL 20 11.3% 222,800,000 7T ( == — —4F © 25,700,00075 7T )

For the financial year ended 30 April 2023
BE-Z-=FfWMA=+tHLVBREE

. 11.3% decrease in profit before taxation to HK$22.8 million (2022: HK$25.7 million)

Cross-disciplinary Experience in Technology and Business; Deep
Knowledge of Multiple Industry Verticals

Our Group has been providing software and IT services to clients across a range of industries in
Hong Kong and regionally in their digital transformational journeys and requirements, including
when the outbreak of the pandemic in 2020 brought about sudden and increased demand for
remote and other newer technologies to support a workforce that was at that time increasingly
working from home or to support client interactions that were increasingly or predominantly
conducted online. These client demands have now continued to evolve and broaden in the
post-pandemic era as enterprises and clients have become more technology-savvy, and many
of them are not prepared to turn back to the lower or more simplistic levels of technology
adoption that were prevalent in the pre-pandemic era.

We believe that our successful performance in our core technology-related business may
be attributed to factors that include, for example: our Group’s longer-term mission to
establish strategic partnerships with our customers and other experienced organizations,
our nimble organization structure that allows us to adapt and deploy resources to
different client industries at short notice, our acknowledged expertise in cloud platforms
for mega events that involves hundreds of thousands of people or payments that
therefore enables us to operate in a scalable manner, our stable management team with
expertise and experience that transcends multiple technology, business and financial
industries, not just IT, both in Hong Kong and overseas, our corresponding investment
in talent development, research and innovation, our continuing programme to pre-build
newer technology capabilities that we expect clients may come to demand in the near
future, and our excellence in service execution that generates a high degree of customer
satisfaction.

For example, our Group’s TeamTech business develops, operates and manages enterprise-
level SaaS mobile enterprise resource platforms to enable client enterprises to efficiently
manage and operate their businesses in a post-pandemic world where the necessity for
out-of-office work interaction has become a matter of daily business life.

And our Group’s deep industry expertise in multiple verticals, our robust reputation and
track record, together with our comprehensive and growing portfolio of tools, services
and solutions, offers an attractive proposition for many of our clients. For example, our
Group’s FringeBacker Events business develops, operates and manages cloud platforms
for, amongst others, mega international event industries, like the Standard Chartered
Hong Kong Marathon. Mega events involve tens of thousands or hundreds of thousands
of participants and interactions, which are projects that call for large-scale technology
and related project management expertise, extra-high security and privacy, unique
fintech payment solutions, as well as unmatched reputational assurances. And our
Group’s Greenie EdTech business is focused on remote learning and training industries.

To maximize business opportunities, we cross-sell and leverage our different technology
and business capabilities and deep contextual experience in our clients’ industries to
provide unique, high-quality and high-benefit business results that are targeted to make
a difference for them. Where cross-border needs are called for, we deliver our services
by deploying our 24/7 Borderless Services infrastructure and location-agnostic working
method, where we deploy our resources from multiple locations in order to maximize our
ability to support clients wherever their businesses or needs may be situated.
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Strategy for Sustainability-move towards a much more technologically-
accepting and technologically-demanding market

One of the core values of our business is to be customer-focused in terms of our
organization and service delivery process. This means that we place a high degree of
emphasis on research and prediction of clients’ likely newer technology-for-business
needs in the near future. In this manner, we identify highly-probable client needs
before they are expressed to us, and we therefore target to make development and/or
technology investment decisions early.

For example, during the previous financial year ended 30 April 2022, amidst the COVID
pandemic, we had believed that the post-COVID era would likely transition to a normalcy
that would see the market maturing into becoming significantly more technologically-
accepting, as well as more technologically-demanding. We had envisaged that even
newer and more extended forms of digital and remote interaction, in particular higher
security, privacy and compliance needs, based on cloud technology, would rank amongst
some of the next significant business demands from our enterprise clients across
different industries, both in Hong Kong and internationally. We therefore dedicated
resources to R&D in newer technologies and commercial applications to eventually meet
this prospective demand. This direction at that time is now delivering continuing results
for our Group during the current financial year.

To this end, during the financial year under review, our Group has been broadening and
deepening our client relationships and analysis of likely future needs, as we have done
over the past several years, in order to explore newer business opportunities and newer
ways to deploy new technologies, and services, solutions and products and platforms to
proactively add commercial value for our clients.

By deploying this early research strategy, the Group has been able to become a leader or
pioneer in a number of technology-for-business areas, including, for example, developing
and managing a leading technology platform for some of Hong Kong's biggest mega
sporting events, like marathons, as well as developing and managing a leading mobile
Saa$ enterprise resources platform for out-of-office business activity and collaboration.

Increased success in this strategy has helped drive a steady flow of services that have
generated business for our Group on a year-after-year basis, from repeat clients. And,
over the years, this has resulted in strong relationships with clients, an engaging and
rewarded team of staff, an industry-wide reputation for quality, reliability and security,
an expansion of potential client markets, as well as a proven track record of delivering
value for our shareholders.

Business & Technological Expansion and Development

Since 2007, at different times, the Group has been engaged in technology and related
business where we provide software and IT services, and related consulting and business
solutions, with an emphasis on our portfolio of technology-for-business applications,
digital transformation, and scalable cloud platforms, including, amongst others, for
example, industry vertical expertise in enterprise management technologies, event
management solutions, financial management solutions for major events, SaaS mobile
enterprise solutions, remote learning/training solutions, and virtual/hybrid event
solutions.

During the current financial year, our Vongroup Ecosystem of products and services
for providing technology-for-business services and solutions has achieved a number of
business expansion and development milestones, including, amongst others:

- International Clients; UK/EU Presence; Technology-for-business Solutions
& Services. Our Group has continued to grow its diversified client base and
has achieved continued success not only in securing clients in Hong Kong, but
also regionally in mainland China, South Korea, Japan, Indonesia, Thailand,
and elsewhere in Southeast Asia, as well as establishing our UK/EU regional
headquarters in the United Kingdom to direct operations in that region. Our
clients that we serve cover a broad spectrum from small local companies to
international enterprises. Industry verticals has continued to be our primary
go-to-market business areas, we have continued to secure new and renewal
businesses during the year, including customers in investment banking, financial
services, wealth management, legal services, marine & engineering service,
ecommerce, education and training, media and entertainment industries,
hospitality and retail, marathon and other major leisure and sporting events.
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Some of our most sought-after solutions and services has continued to be:
enterprise architecture design and review, digital adoption and technology
transformation, next-generation Al-integrated workflow and work management
systems with remotely operated functionalities, and intelligent controls using
loT. The foundation for our innovative all-in-one digital platform, which is
being developed to help our clients manage across the entire value chain, and
integrate data from sales, marketing, cost estimation and control, production
management, inventory and facilities management, billing, finance, accounting,
human resources, and other business functions. Our comprehensive and
sustainable technology-for-business solutions enables superior decision-making
across a wide range of operations through advanced analysis using machine
learning and Al. With our accumulated global knowledge and technological
capabilities, we can anticipate and address key problems and challenges that
our clients face at different stages, such as talent retention, by using digital
technologies to increase employee’s job satisfaction, productivity and improve
the work-life balance of employees. Another example, is by using our Al-based
cross-section estimations to help our clients implement optimal structural
workflow and planning to enable better execution using accurate forecasts of
materials and personnel required to achieve target schedules, improve visibility
of project progress, enhance work productivity and business efficiency through
better designs, better control of project risks, and improved KPIs for quality,
cost, schedule, safety, and the environment.

- Event Management Solutions. Following the business and operational
integration of Claman Group Limited’s FringeBacker Events international cloud
management solutions system for major events, during the year, FringeBacker
Events has expanded its business and sales operations, in order to meet
the expected post-COVID demand for digital management of large-scale
international events, including sports, music, performance, as well as virtual and
hybrid events like conferences and trade shows. To this end, our FringeBacker
Events subsidiary was appointed to provide the technology for the Standard
Chartered Hong Kong Marathon and others.

- Financial Management Solutions. FringeBacker Events has also further
developed its financial management solutions for large-scale ticketed
entertainment admissions for post-COVID lifestyle, including the upcoming
integration of NFT, cashless systems and other advanced digital tools to address
industry problems and bottlenecks. FringeBacker Events’s instant cashless event
payment system is an advanced payment technology, that is frictionless, cloud
optimized and offers an innovative, cost-effective, payment solution that is
designed to accelerate and drive new fee-based revenues for clients. Hosted on a
public cloud, the solution is very resilient, highly secured, customizable and can
be auto-scaled.

- SaaS Mobile Enterprise Solutions. During the year, TeamTech Digital
Corporation’s TechSoft has further developed its SaaS work productivity and
team collaboration mobile application. To increase market penetration,
TeamSoft has also developed industry-specific functions and products to target
SMEs and expanding its distribution networks.

- Virtual/Hybrid Conferences and Mobile Marketing Solutions. Continued to
expand our strategic alliances and joint go-to-market cooperation regarding
virtual and hybrid conference and exhibitions, and mobile marketing business in
Hong Kong and internationally.

As a result of the Group’s achievements, the Group’s revenue for the year increased by
4.3% to HK$201.6 million, and technology sector revenue increased by 5.0% to HK$196.7
million.

OUTLOOK

Although COVID pandemic prevention measures and related travel restrictions in relation
to mainland China, Hong Kong, and Macau eased towards the latter part of the financial
year ended 30 April 2023, many uncertainties remain in the global environment,
including, amongst others, escalating geopolitical conflict and the ongoing war in
Ukraine, resulting in continuing global uncertainty. We expect that global, regional and
Hong Kong business activity will remain challenging, posing significant tough decisions
for our clients. However, many industry experts expect that software and IT services
spending will continue to increase, which is a trend that would benefit our Group’s
business prospects.
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Industry verticals will continue to be our primary go-to-market business areas,
and technology adoption will remain to be a key driver of business growth and
transformation for our clients. We will strive to further increase the breadth and depth of
our spectrum of Vongroup’s ecosystem of technology-for-business services and solutions.
We will continue to growing our team and talent base, building partnerships with key
technology providers, in order to continue to help our clients accelerate technology
adoption and be their “digital ecosystem partner for the post-COVID world”.

Potential Additions — Technologies

It is inherent in the nature of the digital technology business that technologies will
evolve, and old technologies will gradually become obsolete, getting replaced by newer
technologies at much shorter intervals than commonly would be the case for many
other tools or skillsets in other industries. Therefore, the Group is looking forward to
completing and making new acquisitions that we believe would add to our accumulated
business, management and sales skills in relation to technologies-for-business. These
potential additions include the acquisition of equity interest in Rosarini International
Limited’s FashionTech business.

Overseas growth

We are extending our global presence with setting up our office and operations based in
the United Kingdom, to direct operations in the UK/EU, and we will continue to further
expand internationally, including leveraging upon our experience to provide consultancy
services to improve or develop customers’ technology-focused commercial models. With
the combination of the Group’s applied technology and commercial operation experience
over the past 16 years, we look forward continuing to grow our presence in Hong Kong,
and internationally in Asia, the United Kingdom and the European Union.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Technology-Related Business

The Group’s main revenue generating business is a technology and related business
where we provide software and IT services, and related consulting and business solutions,
with an emphasis on our portfolio of technology-for-business applications, digital
transformation, and scalable cloud platforms, including, amongst others, for example,
industry vertical expertise in enterprise management technologies, event management
solutions, financial management solutions for major events, SaaS mobile enterprise
solutions, remote learning/training solutions, and virtual/hybrid event solutions.

The Group’s technology-related business segment recorded steady performance — it
achieved revenue increase of 5.0% to HK$196.7 million (2022: HK$187.3 million), and
profit for the year was HK$39.9 million (2022: HK$26.2 million).

Technology-Related Business — Potential Additions

It is inherent in the nature of the digital technology business that technologies will
evolve, and old technologies will gradually become obsolete, getting replaced by newer
technologies at much shorter intervals than commonly would be the case for many
other tools or skillsets in other industries. Therefore, the Group is looking forward to
completing and making new acquisitions that we believe would add to our accumulated
business, management and sales skills in relation to technologies-for-business.

These potential additions include, for example, the acquisition of equity interest in
Rosarini International Limited’s FashionTech business.

Property and other Businesses

The Group’s property-related business is managed with a two-pronged approach of value
gain and rental income to optimize value creation for our shareholders. The Group has
continued to manage its operations by identifying optimal opportunities to acquire,
manage and operate undervalued properties, including (i) commercial properties (retail
and offices), especially in Kowloon East CBD, in line with the government’s CBD 2.0 policy
to transform Kowloon East, (ii) residential properties, especially at prime locations, and
(iii) carpark properties, especially at locations with low carpark density. These properties
are located at locations that we believe are considered to be higher quality in terms of
stable property demand, primarily in Hong Kong, but also in Mainland China and Macau.
These properties are acquired, managed, operated and disposed for both value gain and
rental income strategies. As a result, (a) income from our properties can be from both
disposal proceeds as well as from rental receipts, and (b) change of fair value from our
properties are recorded and contribute towards profit or loss for the year.
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Rising interest rates and slow economic recovery in the property market weighed on
Hong Kong’s overall property values, and our property segment recorded unrealized fair
value of HK$234.1 million as at 30 April 2023 (2022: HK$239.1 million). Rental income for
the year under review was HK$4.3 million (2022: HK$4.5 million).

Although the Group’s property segment continues to generate steady income, given
uncertain market conditions we will continue to seek opportunities and opportune
timing as we target to reduce its weighting. However, we also believe that there would be
undervalued opportunities, especially outside Hong Kong.

The financial services related business is engaged in securities trading and other
financial-related operations. During the year under review, the Group recorded revenue
of HK$0.6 million (2022: HK$1.5 million), resulting in loss of approximately HK$1.1
million (2022: profit of HK$1.9 million). We expect to continue to reduce the weighting of
this segment, as compared with the growth in the technology segment.

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to the risk of negative, volatile or of uncertain developments,
including but not limited to negative, volatile or uncertain developments in the global,
regional and local economies, in the financial and property markets, and in the changes
in patterns of consumption. These developments might reduce revenue or result in
reduced valuations of the Group’s investment properties or in the Group being unable
to meet its strategic objectives or in negative effect to its financial condition, results
of operations and businesses. The Company will continue to adopt prudent financial
policies to cope with the impact of uncertain factors.

FUND RAISING EXERCISES

The Company did not have any equity fund raising activity during the year. There were no
unutilised proceeds brought forward from any issue of equity securities made in previous
years.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

(1) Potential acquisition of Equity Interest in Rosarini International
Limited — FashionTech

On 27 May 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Rosarini
Purchaser”) entered into a share purchase and strategic alliance agreement with
Karen Michelle Scheinecker (the “Rosarini Vendor”), pursuant to which the Rosarini
Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Rosarini Vendor conditionally
agreed to sell, 40% equity interest in Rosarini, which is principally engaged in the
FashionTech business, at a consideration of HK$22.0 million, which shall be satisfied
as to HK$11.0 million in cash and as to HK$11.1 million by the allotment and issue
of 17,000,000 consideration shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$0.65 per
share.

Pursuant to the share purchase and strategic alliance agreement, the Rosarini
Vendor additionally conditionally granted to the Rosarini Purchaser the right to
acquire up to a further 11% equity interest in Rosarini from the Rosarini Vendor,
which right is exercisable at the discretion of the Rosarini Purchaser within 2 years of
the completion of the acquisition, at an exercise consideration of HK$6.1 million, or
pro rata amount for partial exercise.

If the Rosarini Purchaser fully exercises its right in respect of such additional
acquisition, and assuming no change in the shareholding of Rosarini, the Group
will hold 51% of Rosarini, in which case the financial results of Rosarini would then
be consolidated into the accounts of the Group. Details of this transaction were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2021. As at the date of
this report, this acquisition has not yet completed.
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(2) Completion of Acquisition of 51% Equity Interest in Greenie EdTech
Corporation (“Greenie EdTech”)

On 8 February 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company completed the
acquisition of 51% equity interest in Greenie EdTech, at a consideration of HK$20.4
million, which was satisfied as to approximately HK$12.6 million in cash and
as to approximately HK$7.8 million by the allotment and issue of 20,500,000
consideration shares of the Company at an issue price of HK$0.378 per share. Details
of this transaction were disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 28
October 2021, 17 December 2021 and 8 February 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group had no significant investment of carrying value of 5% or more of the total
assets as at 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group maintained cash and bank balances as at 30 April 2023 amounting to
approximately HK$100.0 million (2022: HK$84.0 million). The Group’s current ratio as at
30 April 2023 was 3.7 (2022: 2.9). The total equity of the Group amounted to HK$528.7
million as at 30 April 2023 (2022: HK$483.4 million).

Gearing

The gearing ratio, as a ratio of interest-bearing borrowings to total equity, was 0.09 as at
30 April 2023 (2022: 0.15).

Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group’s assets, liabilities and cash flow from operations are mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Renminbi. The Group currently does not have any
related foreign exchanges hedges, however the Company monitors its foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedges should the need arise.

Treasury Policies

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated resources and bank
and other facilities. The interest rates of borrowings, if applicable, are generally charged
by reference to prevailing market rates.

As at 30 April 2023, there were bank borrowings and overdraft facility, which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, of approximately HK$41.3 million (2022: HK$43.5
million) and approximately HK$4.1 million (2022: HK$26.2 million) respectively. The bank
borrowings that are not repayable within one year from the end of the reporting period
but contains a repayment on demand clause. The bank overdraft facility is used by the
Group as a flexible facility for daily operations similar to other banking facilities. All bank
borrowings were classified into current liabilities of the Group.

As at 30 April 2023, there was an unsecured loan entered into by a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, which was denominated in Hong Kong dollars, of approximately HK$1.0

million (2022: HK$1.3 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 April 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent liability (2022: nil).
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Pledge of assets

As at 30 April 2023, the bank borrowings of the Group were drawn under banking
facilities. The banking facilities are secured and guaranteed by:

(i) Investment properties of the Group with an aggregate net carrying amount of
approximately HK$183.2 million (2022: HK$185.6 million);

(ii) Leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$10.3 million (2022: HK$10.8
million); and

(iii) An unlimited corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to the
respective subsidiaries as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities
would become repayable on demand. In addition, the subsidiaries’ loan agreements
contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the subsidiaries have complied
with the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

Commitments

The Group had no capital commitments as at 30 April 2023 (2022: nil).

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 April 2023, the Group had 45 (2022: 55) employees in Hong Kong and the
Mainland China. The total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) for the year were
approximately HK$9.1 million (2022: HK$11.8 million). The Group has not experienced
any significant problems with its employees or disruptions due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced difficulties in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff. The
Group remunerates its employees based on industry practices. Its staff benefits, welfare,
share options and statutory contributions, if any, are made in accordance with individual
performance and prevailing labour laws of its operating entities.
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Executive Directors

Vong Tat leong David, aged 61, has been a director of the Company since 2005 and serves
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. He was formerly Vice Chairman of the board of directors of CITIC 21CN
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from 2003-2004. Before that,
he was director and Deputy Chief Executive of i100 Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, since he co-founded the 100 Group in 2000 with an international consortium
whose key participants included management and leading institutional investors. Prior
to that, he was Chief Executive at Pollon Infrastructure Corporation, an infrastructure
investment holding company focused on power and telecom assets, since 1997. Mr. Vong is
a graduate of Yale Law School and The London School of Economics and Political Science.

Xu Siping, aged 65, has been a director of the Company since 2005 and held a series
of senior policy positions for about 18 years at the PRCs State Economic and Trade
Commission and the National Development and Reform Commission (formerly the State
Planning Commission), from 1983-2000, before retiring from public service in the central
government. Mr Xu is a graduate of Dalian University of Technology.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Fung Ka Keung David, aged 60, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since 2005. He is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He holds a master degree in Business
Administration from the University of Leicester. Mr. Fung possesses more than 30 years of
experience in accounting and finance. He was the executive director of Asia Energy Logistics
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 351) from January 2010 to
June 2017. He was formerly the consultant of VIN International Limited. Mr. Fung is a
fellow member of both the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Profile of Directors

Dr. Lee G. LAM, BBS, JP, aged 64, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since 2005. He is Chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee, and a member of the Company’s Nomination Committee.

Dr. Lam holds a BSc in Sciences and Mathematics, an MSc in Systems Science and an
MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, an LLB (Hons) in law from Manchester
Metropolitan University in the UK, a LLM in Law from the University of Wolverhampton in
the UK, an MPA and a PhD from the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Lam is also a Solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong (and formerly a member of the Hong Kong Bar), an Accredited
Mediator of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution, a Fellow of Certified Management
Accountants (CMA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators and the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors, an Honorary Fellow of Certified Public Accountants (CPA) Australia,
the Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management and the University of Hong Kong School
of Professional and Continuing Education, and a Distinguished Fellow of the Hong Kong
Innovative Technology Development Association.

Dr. Lam served as Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport, a member of the Committee on
Innovation, Technology and Re-Industrialization and the Sir Murray MacLehose Trust Fund
Investment Advisory Committee, and a Part-time Member of the Central Policy Unit of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) Government. Actively participating
in community service and international cooperation, Dr. Lam is a member of the Chief
Executive’s Policy Unit Expert Group, the Governance Committee of the Hong Kong
Growth Portfolio, the Green Technology and Finance Development Committee and the
Development Bureau Common Spatial Data Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government,
and Convenor of the Panel of Advisors on Building Management Disputes of the HKSAR
Government Home Affairs Department. He is also a member of the Belt and Road and
Greater Bay Area Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council and the Court
of the City University of Hong Kong, Chair of the United Nations Economic and Social
Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business Network (ESBN), Vice
Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic Council, and a member of the Board of Directors and
Chairman of the Permanent Commission on Economic and Financial Issues of the World
Union of Small and Medium Enterprises.
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Profile of Directors (Continued)

Dr. Lam is an executive director of Hong Kong Aerospace Technology Group Limited (Stock
Code: 1725, FKA: Eternity Technology Holdings Limited, re-designated from non-executive
director on 3 January 2022), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He is an independent non-executive director of each of CSI Properties Limited
(Stock Code: 497), Vongroup Limited (Stock Code: 318), Mei Ah Entertainment Group
Limited (Stock Code: 391), Elife Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 223, FKA: Sino Resources
Group Limited), Haitong Securities Company Limited, (Stock Code: 6837, it is also listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange Stock Code: 600837), Hang Pin Living Technology Company
Limited (Stock Code: 1682), Kidsland International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2122),
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 337) and Huarong International
Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 993), RENHENG Enterprise Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 3628) and New Huo Technology Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1611); and a non-
executive director of each of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 188),
China LNG Group Limited (Stock Code: 931) and Mingfa Group (International) Company
Limited (Stock Code: 846, re-designated from independent non-executive director on
23 April 2020), the shares of all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Asia-Pacific Strategic Investments Limited (Stock
Code: 5RA, FKA: China Real Estate Grp Ltd.), Thomson Medical Group Limited (Stock Code:
A50) and Alset International Limited (Stock Code: 40V, FKA: Singapore eDevelopment
Limited), re-designated from non-executive director on 2 July 2020), the shares of all of
which are listed on the Singapore Exchange. Dr. Lam is an independent non-executive
director of AustChina Holdings Limited (Stock Code: AUH, FKA: Coalbank Limited), whose
shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, and a non-executive director of Jade
Road Investments Limited (Stock Code: JADE, FKA: Adamas Finance Asia Limited), whose
shares are listed on the London Securities Exchange.

In the past three years, Dr. Lam was a non-executive director of National Arts Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8228, FKA: National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group
Ltd.) up to July 2022, Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (Stock Code: 455) up to August 2021,
and China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited (Stock Code: 412, now known
as Shandong Hi-Speed Holdings Group Limited) up to May 2020, and he was also an
independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (Stock Code:
8148) up to March 2021 and Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited (Stock Code:
2277, which was privatized on 12 November 2020) up to December 2020, the shares of all
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director
of each of Beverly JCG Ltd. (Stock Code: VFP, FKA: JCG Investment Holdings Ltd.) up to April
2023 and Top Global Limited (Stock Code: BHO), up to August 2021 (both are listed on the
Singapore Exchange), Sunwah International Limited (Stock Code: SWH, listed on the Toronto
Stock Exchange) up to June 2021 and TMC Life Sciences Berhad (Stock Code: 0101, listed on
the Bursa Malaysia) up to 31 May 2023.

Wong Man Ngar Edna, aged 57, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since 2005, is Advisory Board Member at Impact Investment Exchange, and was
formerly Regional Marketing Manager at American Express, Management Consultant at The
Mitchell Madison Group in New York and Senior Consultant at Informa Markets. She is a
graduate of Columbia Business School and is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ExeRs

The directors are pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements of
Vongroup Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
30 April 2023.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of
the Group comprise technology businesses, property businesses and financial services
businesses.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes performance analysis,
particulars of important events and future developments of the Group’s business, are
set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 12 to 19 of this report. This
discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is committed to complying with all environmental policies and other relevant
laws and regulations related to its business operating environment. During the year
ended 30 April 2023, the Group complied with all other relevant laws and regulations in
different jurisdictions (for example, Employment Ordinance and Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance). The relationships among the employees, customers, suppliers
and environment are discussed in the Environment, Social and Governance Report set out
on pages 36 to 44. In addition, the shares of the Company are listed on The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), therefore, the Company is also required
to comply with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and other relevant regulations.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its
employees and customers to meet its short-term and long-term business goals. During
the year ended 30 April 2023, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees and customers.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to operate in compliance with the applicable environmental
laws as well as to protect the environment by minimizing the negative impact of the
Group’s existing business activities on the environment.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

There are various risks and uncertainties including business risks, operational risks
and financial risks that may have different levels of impact on the Group’s financial
performance, operations, business as well as future prospects. For risks and uncertainties
relating to the business and operation of the technology business, which is the major
business of the Group, the Group’s ability of innovation and adaption of rapid change
of the technology business are critical to success and growth. If any stricter regulations
regarding the Group’s operation or the technology industry are enacted in the future,
business and operation of the Group may also be significantly impacted. Security
breaches and attacks against the Group’s systems and network, and any potentially
resulting breach or failure to otherwise protect personal, confidential and proprietary
information, could damage the reputation and negatively impact the business, as well as
materially and adversely affect the financial condition and results of operations.

Details of the financial risks are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Vong Tat leong David
Xu Siping

Independent non-executive Directors:

Fung Ka Keung David
LAM Lee G.
Wong Man Ngar Edna

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, Vong Tat leong
Davi and Xu Siping will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the above Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Interest in Transaction, Arrangement or Contract of
Significance

Details of the related party transactions for the year ended 30 April 2023 are set out in
notes 8 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements. The related party transactions as
set out in notes 8 and 33 constituted fully exempt continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Nothwithstanding the above, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and in which a Director
or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during or at the end of the financial year.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page
127.

Donations

No donation was made by the Group during the year (2022: Nil).

Share Capital

Details of the share capital are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 30 April 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted to
approximately HK$265.6 million (2022: HK$259.3 million).

Dividends

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividends for the year ended 30 April
2023.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to Article 165 of the articles of association (the “Articles”) of the Company, the
Directors and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain in the execution
of their duty, excluding any losses and liabilities that arise from fraud or dishonesty. The
above indemnity provision was in force during the course of the year and remained in
force as of the date of this annual report.

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted on 30 September 2011 expired on 29 September
2021 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”). No options were granted, outstanding, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Old Share Option Scheme since its adoption. At the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 31 October 2022, the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) approved, among other things, the adoption of the
new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”). For details, please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 7 October 2022. Pursuant to the New Share Option
Scheme, the Directors of the Company, at their discretion, may grant options to Directors,
officers and employees (whether full time or part-time) of the Company or a subsidiary
and any other groups or classes of suppliers, customers, sub-contractors or agents of
the Group from time to time determined by the Directors as having contributed or may
contribute to the development and growth of the Group. The New Share Option Scheme
will expire on 30 October 2032. No share options were outstanding nor granted during
the year.

Commitments

The Group had no capital commitment during the year (2022: Nil).

Events After the Reporting Period

No significant event has occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this
report.

Director’s and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

The interests and short positions of Directors, including the chief executive of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) as at 30 April 2023 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), are set out below.

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares shareholding
EspE EEME RHEE FREDH
Vong Tat leong David Interest in a controlled corporation 132,354,436 53.46%
5iEH BRI HIERE (note)

(Hfaz)
Note: Wi

The interest in these shares was held by Vongroup Holdings limited which is wholly owned by Vong
Tat leong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Other than the New Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement which enables the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholder’s Interest in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 30 April 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the following persons (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of issued

Name Capacity Number of shares share capital
=L 54 BRHEE HEBRITRAZBDL
Vongroup Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 132,354,436 53.46%
(note 1) (H1zE1) EmfaA

Allyking International Limited Beneficial owner 34,885,000 14.09%
(note 2) (Ff52) EmfBA

Wun Kam Hoi Beneficial owner 17,180,125 6.94%
BEE BEmfBA

Notes: Hiat -

) Vongroup Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Vong Tat leong David, an executive Director (1) Vongroup Holdings Limited AN A T {TE = RITHAEH SEH 2

and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
) Allyking International Limited is wholly owned by Huang Rong.

Save as disclosed above, no other persons had any interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 30 April 2023 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Investment Properties

Details of the investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 12 to the
consolidated financial statements and the list of properties set out on page 128.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Sales from the five largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the
total Group’s turnover for the year.

Purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the
total Group’s purchases for the year.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
issued shares of the Company) had an interest in these major customers and suppliers.

Purchases, Sale or Redemption of Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 April 2023.

BEER -
(2)  Allyking International Limited B &2 B A ©
BEXHBEEN RZE-_=ZFWA=1+H HEEHAL
AR B9 SR RA AR () R A SR 8RR R B 5 R BB R DI
BOIFAETHE 2 ELMA =X E -
REME

REEREMEZ FBRIN AR AT BREM T 12A R E
PR ETREE1288 °

ErEERE

ABERAANF SRS EDIERD A BARBERZLA
HERRARREEHRDOBLEEERGEI -

TEEFRHER
AEERREP ZHERINAEE R FELENEZ30% °

AEBRARER 2 RBERED
30% °

RASEAFERRERL

REEMAFN MEEE REZQ2ETHEATRAE
EMER AR BRAEBNA L2 EMRRRZELTERP
Rt e s

BE LEIEDEZE

RBE-Z-=FWA=TRHIFE KRR EMANES
NAERE  HEXE O AR TR L& -

25



26

Vongroup Limited Annual Report 2023

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ExeRs

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

Closure of Register of Members

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held in October 2023.
The closure of the register of members of the Company for determining the entitlement
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting will be set out in the notice of annual
general meeting which will be despatched to shareholders of the Company in due course.

Auditors

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company on 26 June
2020 and Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) was appointed as auditor of the Company on 26
June 2020. Save as aforesaid, there has been no change in auditor of the Company in any
of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2023
have been audited by Mazars who shall retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution to appoint Mazars
as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Vong Tat leong David
Executive Director

Hong Kong
29 August 2023
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and improving the quality of corporate
governance so to ensure better transparency of the Company, protection of shareholders’
and stakeholders’ rights and enhance shareholder value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year under review, the Company has complied with the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) and periodically reviews its
corporate governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet the requirements
of the CG Code, except for the deviation from code provisions C.1.8, C.2.1, and B.2.2 of
the CG Code as described below.

Under code provision C.1.8, the Company should arrange appropriate insurance cover
in respect of legal action against its directors. However, the Company did not take out
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the Directors during the year ended 30
April 2023 because it is believed that this legal risk to the Directors is quite low.

Under code provision C.2.1, the role of chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEQ”)
should be performed by different individuals. Vong Tat leong David, who is a director
and CEO of the Company, has also carried out the responsibilities of the chairman of the
Company. The Board considers the present structure is more suitable to the Company for
it can provide strong and consistent leadership and allow for more efficient formulation
and implementation of the Company’s development strategies.

Under code provision B.2.2, every Director should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
not appointed for a specific term which is derivated from code provision B.2.2. In
accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of Association adopted on 31 October 2022 (the
“New Articles”) of the Company, at least one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation, who have been longest in office since their last re-
election, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. As such, the Board considers that this deviation
is acceptable.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions of the Directors. The Model Code
applies to all Directors and to all employees who are informed that they are subject to
its provisions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirms that
all Directors have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 30 April 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) comprises five members: two executive Directors,
namely Vong Tat leong David and Xu Siping; and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Lee G. Lam and Fung Ka Keung David and Wong Man Ngar Edna. The
Board members have different academic and professional backgrounds and possess
excellent commercial relationships in their professional fields. The biographical details of
the Board members are set out on page 20 of this Annual Report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among themselves.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Roles and Functions

The function of the Board is to formulate corporate strategy and business development.
The Board meets regularly to discuss operational issues and evaluate the financial
performance of the Group. The Board will consider and approve acquisition and disposal,
remuneration policy, appointment and retirement of Directors, connected transactions,
placing and repurchase of shares and dividend policy of the Group in pursuit of its
strategic goals. Control and day-to-day operation of the Company is delegated to the CEO
and the management of the Company.

Directors’ Attendance Record

The Board held four Board meetings during the year ended 30 April 2023. The Directors
who cannot attend in person might participate through other electronic means of
communication. Notices of meetings and board papers were given to all Directors prior
to the meetings in accordance with the CG Code. The attendance record of Directors at
Board meetings, Board committee meetings and the annual general meeting held on 31
October 2022 (the “2022 AGM”) are as follows:
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Attended/Held

SHE TEITEE
Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Audit Committee
Board meeting meeting meeting meeting 2022 AGM
—E-CF
Members of the Board EEgRE EXggE FHZEeeE RERZE88E BENZEEgR BRBFRE
Executive Directors: BITESE:
VONG Tat leong David =iES 4/4 11 11 N/A i A v
XU Siping TRETE 4/4 N/A 7I~3E N/A 38 N/A i B X
Independent non-executive BIFHTEE :
Directors:
FUNG Ka Keung David 5 4/4 11 11 22 \
LAM Lee G. MK 4/4 11 il 2/2 v
WONG Man Ngar Edna B¢ 4/4 N/A i A N/A iE A 2/2 Vv

Directors’ Training Record

The Directors are encouraged to attend external seminars and training programmes at
the Company’s expense to update themselves with legal and regulatory developments,
and the business and market changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefings and professional development for Directors will be arranged
whenever necessary.

During the year, the Directors were provided with regular updates on the Group’s
business and operations and attended training, seminars and webinars and read the
update news about Listing Rules and/or related materials.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The positions of the Chairman and CEO are currently held by the same individual, Vong
Tat leong David. Mr. Vong is responsible for formulating the corporate strategies of the
Group. He also provides leadership to the Board and the management, monitors the daily
operation of the Group and evaluates the effectiveness and efficiency of the business
operations of the Group in order to ensure the outcomes are in line with the strategies.

The Board will continue to review and consider segregating the roles of the Chairman
and CEO at an appropriate time, taking into account the circumstances of the Group as a
whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointments and re-election of Directors

Pursuant to the New Articles of the Company, every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only until
the first annual general meeting after his appointment and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

As at 30 April 2023, all independent non-executive Directors, namely Fung Ka Keung
David (“Mr. Fung”), Lam Lee G. (“Dr. Lam”) and Wong Man Ngar Edna, have served
as independent non-executive Directors for over nine years. In accordance with the
requirement of the Listing Rules, their appointment as independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee is composed of three independent non-executive
Directors, currently, Lee G. Lam (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Fung Ka Keung
David and Wong Man Ngar Edna. The Audit Committee members performed their duties
within written terms of reference formulated by the Company in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. Its primary duties are as below:

(1) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

(2) review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

(3) review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems;

(4) review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; and

(5) discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management of
the Company to ensure that management has performed its duty to have an effective
system, including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

The Board has also delegated the corporate governance function to the Audit Committee.
The delegated authority for performing the corporate governance duties sets out below:

(1) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations to the Board;

(2) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management;

(3) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with all legal
and regulatory requirements;

(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(5) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of this Annual Report, the Audit
Committee has performed the following duties:

— reviewed the interim report and annual report of the Group;

— reviewed the significant accounting policies and the impact of the adoption of new
accounting standards;

— discussed the audit issue with the external auditors;

— reviewed the findings from the internal auditors;

— reviewed the internal control system and risk management; and
— discussed and reviewed the Group’s compliance with the CG Code.

Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Remuneration Committee is composed of two independent non-executive
Directors, Lee G. Lam (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Fung Ka Keung
David, and one executive Director, Vong Tat leong David. The Remuneration Committee
members performed their duties within written terms of reference formulated by the
Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Its primary duties are
as below:

(1) make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
all directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(2) review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(3) determine with delegated responsibility or make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; and

(4) make recommendations to the Board regarding the remuneration of non-executive
directors.

Director’'s remuneration package has been reviewed annually with respect to his/her
individual performance, responsibilities, and financial performance of the Group.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration
policies and approved the remuneration of the Directors. None of the Directors
participated in his/her own remuneration discussion in the meeting.

Nomination Committee

The Company’s Nomination Committee is composed of two independent non-executive
Directors, Lee G. Lam and Fung Ka Keung David and one executive Director, Vong Tat
leong David (Chairman of the Nomination Committee). The Nomination Committee
members performed their duties with written terms of reference formulated by the
Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Its primary duties are
as below:

(1) formulate nomination policy for consideration by the Board and implement the
nomination policy approved by the Board;

(2) identify suitably qualified candidates to become Board members, select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships or to fill casual vacancies of directors for the Board’s approval;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

(3) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(4) assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

(5) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
directors and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive;

(6) review Director Nomination Policy; and

(7) review the Board Diversity Policy and review the measureable objectives for
implementing diversity on the Board.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee assessed the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors and made recommendations on the re-election
of retiring Directors to the Board.

Board Diversity Policy

According to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service etc. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. The responsibilities
and authority for selection and appointment of Directors is delegated to the Nomination
Committee but the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors of
the Company rests with the entire Board. The final decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board has not set any specific ratio or number for male and female Board members.
As at 30 April 2023, the Board already has one female member and is not a single gender
Board.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the election of Directors. The policy,
devising the criteria and procedures of selection and performance evaluation, provides
guidance to the Board on the nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and the Board may nominate candidates for directorship.
In assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, the Nomination Committee may make reference to certain selection criteria,
such as personal reputation, academic and professional qualifications and skills,
accomplishment and experience in the technology markets, time commitment and
relevant contribution, diversity in all aspects.

The Nomination Committee shall discuss each nomination and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Director. The Board, with the recommendation from
the Nomination Committee, should make a balanced and informed decision on the
appointment of Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Procedures for Nomination of Director by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 88 of the New Articles, no person other than a retiring Director shall,
unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election to the office of
Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the
person to be proposed) entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice
is given of his intention to propose such person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the office
or head office of the Company at least seven days before the date of the general meeting,
such period for lodgment of the notices shall commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting provided that such period shall be
at least seven days.

The Board and the Nomination Committee will only consider the candidate nominated
by Shareholder(s) if the above procedures are followed and the required notices are duly
served to the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees for audit services payable to Mazars CPA Limited for the year ended 30 April
2023 was HK$1,300,000 (2022: HK$1,050,000).

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing consolidated financial
statements for the financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the Group’s results and its cash flows.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The senior management has provided to the Board, on a monthly basis, the necessary
explanation and information to enable the Board to make an informed, balanced and
understandable assessment of the financial position of the Company, which is put
forward to the Board for approval.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board oversees the
overall risk management of the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the
identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. If risks
and irregularity events which may bring any material adverse impacts to the Group, the
outcome will be discussed in the Board.

During the year under review, the Company has adopted and reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control and risk management procedures which include
the policies, procedures, monitoring and communication activities and standard of
behaviour established for safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders. The risk
management and internal control systems of the Company aim to help achieving the
Group’s business objectives, safeguarding assets and maintaining proper accounting
records for provision of reliable financial information. However, the design of the systems
is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement in
the financial statements or loss of assets and to manage, rather than eliminate, the risks
of failure when business objectives are being sought.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks by the Group are
summarized as follows:

Risk Identification

» Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

*  Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria developed by the
management; and

*  Considers the impact and consequence on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence.

Risk Response

«  Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk assessment; and

* Determines the risk management strategies and internal control processes to
prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

*  Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and ensures that appropriate
internal control processes are in place;

*  Revises the risk management strategies and internal control processes in case of any
significant change of situation; and

*  Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and the Board regularly.

The Board identified certain risks, namely (i) cybersecurity risk, (ii) talent shortage and
(iii) rapid technological change, in our operating environment. Such risks are discussed in
the Directors’ Report set out on pages 22 to 26. The Board considered that the Group has
adequate resources, including headcount and budget, for the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions.

Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the internal auditor who reports
directly to the Audit Committee. The internal auditor plays an important part in the
assessment of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group and reports directly to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

The internal auditor conducts internal reviews on material controls and compliance with
policies and procedures of the Group at both operational and corporate levels. Plans and
tools for corrective actions and control improvement are identified and communicated
with operations management to address an issue, non-compliance or deficiencies
identified. The internal auditor monitors the implementation of his recommendations by
operations management and reports the outcomes to the Audit Committee.

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions, the Board
believes that for the year ended 30 April 2023, the Company’s internal control and
risk management systems are effective and adequate. The Board is satisfied that there
are adequate resources of staff with appropriate qualifications and experience in its
accounting and financial reporting team and that sufficient training and budget have
been provided.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has a policy for handling and disclosing inside information for allowing
a balanced, clear and fair assessment of the Group’s performance by the Shareholders,
potential investors and stakeholders of the Company. The Company understands its
liabilities under the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong). As the Group has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct for securities transactions by Directors and designated staff, their dealings in the
Company’s securities are strictly prohibited before the publication of inside information
to the public.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group has a whistleblowing policy in place which allows our employees and
business partners (including customers and suppliers) to report any concerns, suspected
fraudulent or unethical acts or non-compliance issues to the Board or the Company
Secretary or the chairman of the Audit Committee. Any report must be in writing and an
anonymous report is not encouraged. In addition, the whistleblowing policy also set out
the procedures for handling cases and the guideline for protecting whistleblowers.

Anti-Corruption Policy

A fair and open business environment is important for every business. Corruption will
undermine a fair playing field and destroy the reputation of the business. Therefore, we
required all employees, suppliers and customers to comply with all relevant laws and
regulations in different jurisdictions, such as Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter
21 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the PRC. The Group will take follow-up action if a non-compliance case is noted, such as
termination of the contract and reporting to a related authority. We have reviewed the
existing anti-corruption approach and considered it satisfactory.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Po In San (“Ms. Po”), the secretary of the Company, is a full-time employee of the
Company. Ms. Po attained no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year ended 30 April 2023. Ms. Po serves as the secretary of the Board and the Board
committees and is responsible for advising the Board procedures and relevant laws, rules
and regulations to be followed at all times.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have any predetermined dividend payout ratio. The declaration
and payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion of the Board after
taking into account, among others, the general financial condition of the Group, the
capital and debt level of the Group, the future cash requirements and availability for
business operations, business strategies and future development needs, the general
market conditions and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate. The payment
of dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under all applicable laws,
rules and regulations and the New Articles.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is committed to maintaining good relations with its Shareholders and the
investment community. The shareholders’ communication policy sets out the principles
for handling Shareholders’ matters and the investment community in an equal, open and
timely manner. Shareholders could understand our business development and financial
position by visiting the website of the Company, reading any corporate communications
(such as announcements, interim and annual reports) and should actively participate in
general meetings of the Company. The Board reviewed the shareholder’'s communication
policy and was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the policy.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)
Procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM

Pursuant to Articles 58 of the New Articles, an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) can
be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the New Articles or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
for shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general in accordance with the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send requisitions and requests to the Board or the secretary of the
Company in writing to the principal place of business of the Company at 17A, EGL Tower,
83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Tengis Limited.

Constitutional Documents

The Company passed a special resolution to approve certain amendments to the then
Articles of Association and adopted the New Articles in substitution for it at the 2022
AGM, for the purpose of (i) updating and amending the provisions in the then Articles
of Association in line with the amendments made to the Listing Rules and applicable
laws and procedures of the Cayman Islands, and (ii) making other consequential and
housekeeping improvements.

A summary of the major amendments to the then Articles of Association is set out below:

1. to allow the Directors to fill any casual vacancy in the office of auditor but while any
such vacancy continues the surviving or continuing auditor or auditors may act, and
the remuneration of any auditor appointed by the Directors be fixed by the Board,;
and

2. to allow Shareholders the right to speak at a general meeting.
Details of the amendments brought about by the adoption of the New Articles are set out

in the Company’s circular dated 7 October 2022. The New Articles is available on both the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to present this
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”), which reviews the Group’s
ESG initiatives, plans, performance, as well as its sustainable development in respect
of environmental protection, labour practices, business operations, supply chain
management and other ESG issues for for the year ended 30 April 2023. As a responsible
corporate, the Group views ESG commitment as part of its responsibilities and is
committed to incorporating ESG considerations into its decision making process.

The purpose of this ESG Report is to improve stakeholders’ understanding and to
introduce ongoing sustainability initiatives directed towards the community and the
environment.

This ESG Report supplements information disclosed elsewhere in our Annual Report
2023. For the governance section, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report
as set out on pages 27 to 35 of our Annual Report 2023. The Company has adopted
the principles and the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Part 2 of
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company has complied
with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code throughout the year under review,
except for deviations as described elsewhere in our Annual Report 2023.

REPORTING STANDARD AND PRINCIPLES

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules and the operational status of the Group.

During preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied the following reporting
principles of the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify and prioritise material
ESG issues during the Reporting Year, thereby adopting the confirmed material ESG
issues as the focus for the preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of ESG
issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board and senior management of the
Group. Please refer to the section headed “Stakeholders Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies used in the calculation of relevant
data in this ESG Report, as well as the applicable assumptions are disclosed. The key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) are supplemented by explanatory notes to establish
benchmarks where feasible.

Consistency: The preparation approach of this ESG Report are substantially consistent
with the ESG report of previous year and explanations were provided regarding data
with changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies. This ESG Report
has undergone the internal review process of the Group’s management and has been
approved by the Board.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is responsible for the Company’s
approach, strategy and reporting in respect of the ESG issues. The Board, with
the assistance of the Audit Committee and the management of the Group (the
“Management”), reviews the effectiveness of the internal control system, risk
management, including the risk management mechanism, policies and procedures,
and major control measures implemented covering aspects of finance, operation,
compliance as well as sustainable development. The Board also reviews ESG reports and
the progress made against ESG-related goals and targets from time to time, inspects the
ESG-related issues and identifies the key opportunities.
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THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (Continued)

The Board has delegated to the Management the overall responsibility to implement the
approved ESG strategies and policies. The Management is responsible for examining and
addressing all the environmental and social issues listed in the aspects and areas in the
ESG Guide, as well as managing the established key performance indicators in line with the
Group’s strategies and policies. The Management evaluates ESG related issues and assesses
their materiality to our business as well as to our stakeholders regularly. The Management
also reviews the process, attainability and implementation of the sustainable development
measures against the ESG related goals and targets of the Group periodically, to ensure
that the Group fulfills and complies with its environmental and social responsibilities
and obligations in compliance with the ESG Guide, the laws and related regulations and
all relevant statutory requirements, operating practices and standards of Hong Kong.
Communication with the stakeholders will be strengthened and sustainable development
policies will be adjusted if the performance does not meet the expected targets and operations
of the Group. The Management confirmed that those systems are effective for the reporting
period under review.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the mutual understanding with its stakeholders and believes that
fostering a sound relationship with the stakeholders is the premise of value creation for
all. In order to strengthen our understanding of stakeholders’ expectations and needs,
as well as to identify material issues, the Group maintained diversified communication
channels for the external and internal stakeholders (including but not limited to, where
applicable, shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees, governmental organisations,
and regulated bodies).
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STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION CHANNELS EXPECTATIONS
BiE BERE M2
Shareholders and Investors + Annual general meeting I AT KE + Financial performance 8/ 7§%& 3R
BRRREEE + Financial reports B 73R & « Information transparency {=.8.% 8
+ Announcements and circulars 255 % 38 X + Operating risks management & & @[3 & 12
« Company website 22 &) 48uf « Corporate sustainability DS [ E % E
» Enhancement in company core value
ReARNZOMER
Management and employees + Trainings and workshops 555l & T {ELh « Humanity and labour rights A8 & 45 TH#E25
EEERER + Performance evaluation or appraisal + Occupational health and safety Bt EFE KL 2
BEMEH AR EZ + Career development 3R
« Internal announcement AEEA S « Equal opportunity ‘FE <
* Face to face communication [ ¥ /&8
Suppliers and business partners + Meetings €% + Selection with due care to ensure fair and open
HERREERT + Direct contacts (telephone and/or email) procurement of stable and qualified products and
BB (EELHER) services
« Business cooperation NERRAMNTREEFERREREBERER
A EIE E’Jéuuﬂﬂﬁ%
* Supply chain management
HEsE TR
* Ensuring contractual obligations are in place to
protect mutual benefit
BRETEAHES  RERE =
Customers * Meetings and events + Ensuring contractual obligations are in place for
LSS VST protection of customers’ benefits and rights
. Direct contacts by telephone and/or email BRETEAHET  MRERP Fa RIEF
BREENREBEERE « Collecting customers’ opinion from various channels
in order to improve customer satisfaction
HEBREWEREFER URABFPREE
Government and regulatory bodies » Written or electronic correspondences » Compliance with local laws and regulations
U K LB et EEEFEA BT E A IR
» Regular reports and filing « Compliant operation and corporate governance
TEBARE K B R AREENMPEESR
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group identified ESG related issues which are considered to have impacts on the
environment and the society during our operation in accordance with the disclosure
requirements set out in the ESG Guide and the business nature and operation of the
Group. Through a variety of open communication channels, the Group gains a deeper
understanding of its stakeholders’ concerns and expectations, which facilitates the
Group to better position itself in the competitive market and to make rapid and
appropriate strategic adjustments and helps the Group to determine the materiality of
ESG issues. The ESG issues considered to be material and with areas of improvement in
the future ESG work of the Group are listed below:

ASPECTS
=]
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MATERIAL ISSUES
EREH

Emissions and Use of Resources

PR K B IR A

Employment Management

EREERE

Operating Practices
BEER

Community Investment

[ AR

REPORTING SCOPE

During the year under review, the Group has three business segments which are (i)
technology-related, (ii) property-related and (iii) financial services-related. Revenue
generated from the technology-related segment represented about 97.6% of the
total revenue of the Group for the year ended from 1 May 2022 to 30 April 2023 (the
“Reporting Period”). The Board considered that technology-related business is our core
business and, therefore, allocated resources accordingly to this business segment. This
report mainly covers the operational information of the technology-related segment
and certain activities of the Group’s head offices in Hong Kong and Mainland China for
the Reporting Period.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Aspect A1: Emissions

Our policy is to minimize environmental impacts and to fully comply with laws and
regulations in relation to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. During the
reporting year, the Management provided confirmation on compliance with those
laws and regulations. In our business, we focus on minimizing our environmental
footprint in order to make a positive impact on the environment. We also engage our
staff and partners to promote environmentally sustainable business practices.

Our environmental footprint is mainly comprised of GHG emissions from electricity
and water consumption from our business operations, which are mainly office-
based, and therefore do not result in massive air emissions, discharges into water
and land or generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.

* Greenhouse gas emissions
B ZE R

» Energy consumption and savings
BLIREFE R BEIRENAY

« Water consumption and savings

FEZKE M Hi7K

* Employee welfare and working conditions
B BRI R TEEY

* Work-life balance
TR AE T

« Occupational health and safety
BEREETS

« Staff training and development
BTHEIIRER

* Human rights and equal opportunities

AERTFERE

» Supplier selection mechanism
A 7 T A

* Quality Assurance & Customer satisfaction
nEEEREPREE

* Business ethics
[BESEE:

* Community Services
HRgE
* Charity
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

Aspect A1: Emissions (Continued)
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A BT (&)

BEA1 : BB (&)

Key Performance Indicator: EERAENFENE -
Types 2023 2022
Al —E-= —ECF
Total Intensity Total Intensity
wme BE nE nE
(CO.e per (CO,e per
(in CO,e) million revenue) (in CO,e)  million revenue)
(=& (Z& bhx
EE =5 =S
(ZEtmEE) BBWA) (Z&tiEs) BERA)
GHG emissions B E R EEHER 20,981 107 26,488 141
We support environmental conservation at all our offices and business locations. BRI RAERIAEB S TIFRERE
We advocate paperless office in all our business operations. We encourage staff BN ARELEFEZHTERA A -RMBHET

to think about the necessity of printing and the promotion of use of electronic
banking, e-statements, e-bill, e-receipts, e-copies, and e-filing. For documents
circulated internally, we set a printing policy of using recycled paper first and
double-sided printing the next. Other office measures to reduce the use of
disposable consumables, the separation of waste for reuse and recycling are in
place. We also have special recyclers or service providers for handling cartridges,
toners, computers and waste paper with confidential information that must be
separated from other daily solid waste.

We also encourage and support our staff to implement green initiatives, join
recycling programs at our offices and business locations, e.g. paper, plastic bottles
and metal cans recycling and we will continue to adopt more green initiatives
when it is feasible to our business operations.

As our GHG emission is energy indirect GHG emission, we target to reduce our GHG
emission by reducing our electricity and water consumption intensity. Details of
our targets and steps taken to achieve them were set out in “Aspect A2: Use of
Resources” of this Report.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The Group consumes electricity and water during operation, and our policy is to
ensure efficient use of resources at all our offices and business locations.

The Group encourages the reduction of energy consumption. Energy-saving light
bulbs and LED lighting systems are used in all offices of the Group. The Group
encourages making use of natural daylight and refraining from turning on
unnecessary lights during the daytime. Other energy-saving measures include,
but not limited to, (i) switching off lights and equipment if they are not in use, (ii)
shifting to sleep mode for printers and photocopiers after office hours or in idle,
and (iii) turning off lights and computers before leaving the offices.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued) A RE (&)
Aspect A2: Use of Resources (Continued) EBEA2: ERER (&)
Key Performance Indicator: EERAENFENE -
Types 2023 2022
Al —E-= —ECF
Total Intensity Total Intensity
we BE wme nE
(per staff) (per staff)
(88T) (BEI)
Electricity (kwh) BH(FEE) 30,855 97 38,953 100
Office (kg) MARE(TR) 162 198 100 100

As water usage in our offices and business locations is minimal, we will continue
to carry out our water saving measures, and we will nevertheless consider carefully
the issue of water conservation whenever possible. During the reporting year, there
was no issue for the Group in sourcing water.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of our business, apart from electricity and water consumption as
discussed above, the Group’s business activities on the impacts of the environment
and natural resources during the reporting year is immaterial.

Actions have been taken by the Group to reduce its impact on the environment by
adopting energy-saving measures as set out in Aspect A1: Emissions and Aspect A2:
Use of Resources of this Report.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

Climate change gives rise to certain risks to our business. We address climate
change risks as part of our corporate risk management process. We first perform a
climate-related risk assessment, and then develop strategies in line with the Group
practices to mitigate the impact of climate change on our operations, to adapt our
operations to cope with it and to increase our resilience to climate change.

The two major risks of climate change that have potential impacts on the Group’s
business are physical risk and transition risk.

Physical risk refers to the risk of property damages and economic losses caused by
extreme weather-related events. Our investment properties are built with certified
materials and are not located in low-lying areas and the related risk is therefore
considered minimal.

Transition risk refers to the risk of higher operating costs caused by transition to
a carbon neutral economy. One of the decarbonization strategies as stated in The
Hong Kong’s Climate Action Plan 2050 published by the Hong Kong government is
to reduce the overall electricity consumption of the buildings through regulation.
As we had introduced measures to improve the energy and water consumption
efficiency in our buildings, we believe our business operations align with Hong
Kong decarbonization goal. The Management will continue to monitor the
climate related risks that may affect the Group and take appropriate actions when
considered necessary.
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B.

SOCIAL

Aspect B1: Employment

The Group recognizes that employees are important and valuable assets to the
corporate contribution and is committed to building a pleasant and valued-adding
workforce and workplace. As recruiting and retaining talent is vital for us to stay
competitive, attractive and competitive remuneration packages are offered to our
employees and reviewed on performance basis within the general framework of
the Group’s salary and bonus system.We also encourage our staff to maintain a
work-life balance and support them to actively pursue their personal development
by participating in different roles and activities in the community.

Being an equal-opportunity employer, we implement fair employment practices
and no one will receive less favourable treatment on the ground of, for example,
race, disability, age, gender, sex, sexual orientation or religion. We believe that each
individual has his or her unique strengths and contributions that can add value to
the Group and the society at large.

For the year ended 30 April 2023, the breakdown of employees and turnover rate
by gender, age group, employment type and region is set out below:

B.
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Bl N FEAL 2 O B BRAE 2R MR TR RIBIEIRAT - BAPIIR
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2023 2022
—E-= -z
Number of employees EEAH
By gender bgedsll
- Male - 5% 23 28
— Female -t 22 27
By age group LA R
— Under 30 — 305 A T 12 20
—30to 50 — 302505% 24 30
— Above 50 — 505 E
By employment type RIEMHBEE 9 5
— Permanent —KH 37 40
— Temporary — ER R 8 15
Geographical region i@
— Hong Kong —&E 36 47
— China —h 5 5
— Others —HAfth 4 3
staff turnover ratio (Note 7) BIRKR(MHET)
All grades i E#
— Male - 5% 14% 1%
— Female — M 14% 1%
By age group LA R
— Under 30 — 30 A T 16% 13%
—30to 50 — 302505% 12% 9%
— Above 50 — 505 E
By geographical region bioe:i) 0% 0%
- Hong Kong — &5 28% 22%
— China — 0% 0%
— Others —H1h 0% 0%
Note: s -

1. Staff turnover represents the employees (permanent and temporary) leaving the Group

voluntarily.

During the reporting year, the Group complied with laws and regulations in
relation to labour and human resources practices and our Management provided
confirmation on the compliance. Also, our employees are encouraged to have
direct dialogue with the Management and can freely bring up issues to the
Management when they considered necessary.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. & (&)

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Group endeavours to provide a safe, healthy and pleasant working
environment, which protects the physical and mental health of our staff and
minimises the risk of occupational diseases. Periodic cleaning of air-conditioning
systems, the office areas, pest control services and regular floor care maintenance
are carried out to ensure a hygienic working environment.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, surgical masks, disinfectant detergents, and
alcohol-based hand sanitisers were available to employees in order to protect our
employees from possible virus infection. Video conferencing facilities were setup
and software were installed for the employees to have meetings while they were
working from home.

Due to the nature of our business operations, work related injuries and
occupational health hazards are not significant risk factors to us. During the
reporting period, the Group achieved zero work-related fatalities, and no work
fatalities were reported for the past three years.

The occupational safety and health related policies and practices are regularly
reviewed by the Group so that preventive and corrective measures are
implemented to minimize occupational health and safety hazards. During the
reporting year, the Group complied with laws and regulations in relation to health
and safety and our Management provided confirmation on the compliance.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

Continuing education and development of our employees is a priority for the
Group. In order to create a supportive workplace that develops the competency of
our employees and supports their personal growth, the Group actively invests time
and resources in staff training and development. On the job training is provided
to all employees and employees are encouraged to take job-related courses.
This ensures our employees are constantly updated with adequate skills and
professional knowledge to perform quality work.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

We comply with the Employment Ordinance and respect human rights. All
employment with the Group is voluntary and child and forced labour is prohibited
in any of our operation.

To ensure the Group is legally complied with local laws and regulations, it has
implemented effective controls in the recruitment process, for example, the
applicant’s identity is checked, including but not limited to his or her age and
eligibility for employment. We avoid engaging vendors of administrative supplies
and services and contractors that are known to employ child or forced labour
in their operations. If child labour is detected, a corrective plan is required and
implemented by the suppliers/contractors. The plan must take into consideration
the child’s best interest, including their family and social situation. If concrete
steps are not taken to eliminate the problem, or there are repeated violations, the
contracts will be terminated and no new contract will be issued.
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B. SOCIAL (Continued)

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Our main business suppliers include technology products and service providers,
professional and other business service providers. Among the suppliers, the
technology service providers are our key service provider which pose a significant
impact. During the Reporting Period, the Group has over 50 regular suppliers. Most
of them are located in Hong Kong.

We carefully select our business suppliers and assess them based on a list of criteria
including not only the financial status, reputation, past performance, reliability
and costs, but also the environmental and social standards relating to their services
provided. The Group encourages our suppliers the efficient use of resources and
gives higher priority to the suppliers that incorporate and promote sustainable
practices at their work.

Aspect B6: Product/Service Responsibility

Quality Assurance and Customer Satisfaction

We endeavor to maintain a close and lasting relationship with our customers and
pursue their satisfaction. In addition to our business teams, customers can also
contact our management team directly via telephone and emails as and when
needed. We also pay attention to the customers’ satisfaction and put the best effort
to respond instantly to any issues or problems encountered by our customers. For
the reporting period, there were no substantiated complaints received relating to
the provision of use of products or services that have a significant impact on the
Group. In case, we receive any customer’s feedback, the management team will
closely liaise with the customers to understand his/her needs, then work with the
business team or relevant parties to take suitable follow up actions to address the
concerns..

The Company also regularly reviews its strategies and adopts special measures in
order to maintain long term business partnership with our customers.

Data Protection and Privacy Policies

The Group ensures a high standard of security and confidentiality of personal
data throughout its business and operation. We only collect personal data for
operational needs and clearly inform all customers or persons about the intended
use of the data and their rights to review and revise their information. Collected
information is accessible on a “need-to-know” basis. Disclosure of personal data
to any third parties without explicit permission, unless required by law, is not
allowed. Statutory requirements are strictly adhered to and employees are required
to retain in confidence any and all information obtained in connection with their
employment, including but not limited to trade secrets, client personal data and
information, supplier information and other proprietary information.

Intellectual Property Protection

The Group respects intellectual property rights. Employees are not allowed to
possess or use copyrighted materials, including computer software and published
materials, without the permission of the copyright owners. The Group maintained
proper records of software applicants and assured only legitimate and genuine
software is installed to the employee’s computer.

The Group was not aware of any violation of product responsibility laws and
regulations relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

FAREARAR FR2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE HEREREE

B. #& (&)

[EHEBS : HEHEERE

BPMEEXBHEDREMRER MREGRERE &
EREMAERFRERE - HERT  BMRERNLRE
REBREMNEZRBGRER HARRAETATE
NeRBREHA AEEBBD +REF HER - KA
DALAEE

BFIRE—RIRE - B NMEREM MR  BE -
BERR AR RKA - EEBELREENRBEH
MREBE R SRS BRESRMOEGHRER - KNE
EEBEMANHERAUNAER XEELERER
TR IR A AL E A A R TR R -

[BTEB6 : Em,RESE
BERERELHEE

BN EEFEFEERANBR e HEE2-
EPREARERIERBREAEREBMERMNE
BER - HPPERERTPHMEE LB EfE
EPRHZEBRER - MEHA  RZEARMIAH
EmEREMEREEEERNTENERERF - HER
FEMFPHRER - BB/ A BT P R
BEUTHREZI BEREQFSAEALSERIVEE
BAETTEN ARDR L Z 8 -

ARRRIAE e RRB I B BB MNEF #R R
HIZETS R AR -

BIFIRERIIEH R

AEBCREBBEBREETHRREARENRE
ZERREE - RMERELERTHOEARE LA
BEAMBRPREAZBBENRER BN R KSR
B M ASRT E BRI AORE R © PTUCER BB A AR BIFER
BIpERME BN REHBEMEME=TR
BREAZE - ARRBRETEEERAEERRT M
HEMmEMMESHNEMNLMAEN BREANRNE
ERT BEPEARBEREN HERENLEGESR
Ao

IRIEAIHERE

FEBOEMBERE -EETSREMEREFERT
HARENER(BEEMEIERORY) B AT AR
EA-AEEENTRFERDEE LT URRER
B EELERAIE NI AR

FEEVTERBEAMNEHARERLZE BE BH
HRHEEMMREFRLEEENEREDER
RO EREENHEDE

43



Vongroup Limited Annual Report 2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R -HERERRE

B. SOCIAL (Continued) B. #& (&

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Group prohibits all forms of bribery, extortion, fraudulent, money laundering
and corruption activities in connection with any of its business activities. Code of
conduct with anti-bribery and anti-corruption principles are established to provide
guidance to our staff when discharging their duties and obligations. All directors
and employees are required to possess high ethical standard and demonstrate
professional conducts in our business operation. They are notified not to engage in
any form of corruption and not to request, receive or accept any form of benefits
from any persons, companies or organizations having business transactions
with the Group. Also, the Group complies with relevant laws and regulations
and adopted whistleblowing procedures for employees to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible improprieties in any matters related to the Group. Our
employees can report any unlawful conduct, incident of corruption, incorrect or
improper financial reporting and other fraudulent activities directly to the chief
financial officer. Any reported case of fraudulence will receive immediate, fair and
independent investigation and appropriate follow-up action. The Management
will regularly review and monitor the anti-bribery and anti-corruption principles
and procedures. The Group did not provide any internal anti-corruption training
to directors and staff during the reporting year, but they are encouraged to attend
anti-corruption training provided by external parties.

During the reporting year, the Group received no complaints or legal cases in
relation to corruption. The Group was also not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations in relation to anti-corruption and our Management
provided confirmation on the compliance.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Group did not participate in any charity or community events during the
Reporting Period. However, we still expressed our respect for our community
and all our investment and business decisions did not have any negative impacts
on society. The Company often explores the opportunities of incorporating
environmental and social elements into its investment decisions and operational
management, with reference to best practices in the industry and internationally
recognised ESG standards.
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mazars
R OB R W

To the members of Vongroup Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vongroup Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 52 to 126,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2023, and of its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”)
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements”
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

FAREARAR FR2023

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIYBRHEMRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRESER

RRESEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMHENAEERRENSE

Fair value of investment properties

REWEZ A FE

Refer to Notes 2 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRMGE B IHREN 22512 -

The Group’s investment properties were measured at fair value of
approximately HK$234,050,000 as at 30 April 2023.
RZEZ=FMA=+H" EENEBEEMERLATED
234,050,000/ 7T E ©

The management of the Group has estimated the fair values of
the Group’s investment properties based on independent external
valuations. These valuations are dependent on certain key
assumptions that required significant management judgement,
including market unit value of comparable properties, premium or
discount adjustments to these market values for factors specific to
the characteristics of the Group’s investment properties compared
to recent sales on the comparable transactions and assuming the
investment properties are capable of being sold in existing status.
EXEEEEENDERBUIINIEERT BEEEERAMENLT
B-ZEMERES TEREE FTE2EREFHERAE 215
AALBYENTSEMER HE BESERENEFNES
mliﬁm% BEEELOELITELBRR S0 R ESITEFE
WRRIR AW HEARBERHE -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter because the
valuation of the investment properties, which are material, involved
significant judgements and estimates including the determination
of valuation techniques and the selection of different inputs in the
models.

BMEK L EBERE-—HERREETFE REAREMEM
BEEEX PREXRAB KRG REGERN BT REXF
AN EHE 2 EE -

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

B ETIEF R (RPaeR):

evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence of the independent
professional valuer;

MR EEMAERM 2 BB - 880 KBE

reviewing the valuation report from the independent professional valuer and
discussing with management of the Group and the valuer to understand the
valuation basis and methodology used, underlying assumptions applied and
critical judgements used in the valuation of investment properties; and
EHBVEEMEM 2 HERERE EXEEEERAEMARKRE
MEMERA 2 EEEERTE IR ZAEERERERAE &

checking, on a sample basis, the underlying data including comparable of
market transactions being used by the independent professional valuer and
assessing the appropriateness.

M BEEEEE BEBCEXGEMMA A LERMISER
SR -
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Key audit matter

BRESER
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RRESEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMHENAEERRENSE

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment on accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables

YR EREFRESREMERFAZBAEEEE ([RHEEER)BE

Refer to Notes 2, 18, 19, 20 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRI E I ERANE2 - 18 - 19 ~ 2034 °

As at 30 April 2023, the Group had accounts receivable, loan
receivables and deposits and other receivables (net of loss allowance
for ECL) of approximately HK$113,180,000, HK$24,722,000 and
HK$17,137,000, respectively. The loss allowance for ECL on accounts a)
receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables were
approximately HK$9,229,000, HK$2,071,000 and HK$6,143,000,
respectively, as at 30 April 2023. a)
RZZFEZ=FMNA=+H EBEEBEZEKEZR EREXRK
Re REMBUGFEHBREREESBZEBEEREB)DNOA
113,180,000/ 7T * 24,722,000 7T 517,137,000 c- R —ZZE_=  b)
FOA=FA ERER BRERKIZS RE M ERGRIE &
HREEBBZEREED 5I4/9,229,000%8 7T+ 2,071,0008 LK b)
6,143,000 7T

The management of the Group performed periodic assessment on

the recoverability of the accounts receivable, loan receivables and
deposits and other receivables and the sufficiency of provision 0
for loss allowance for ECL based on information including credit
profile of different debtors, ageing of the accounts receivable,

loan receivables and deposits and other receivables, historical d)
settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing

and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and ongoing
trading relationships with the relevant debtors. The management

of the Group also considered forward-looking information that may
impact the debtors’ ability to repay the outstanding balances in
order to estimate the ECL for the loss allowance for ECL assessment. d)
The Group engaged an independent professional valuer for ECL
assessment on accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits

and other receivables.
EEBETEERBREBSAZEEMRRL BRER BRERRIE ¢
S REMERRIEBZERR BIEERE RELEKRR  RE
BEBERVEHSELSEUNREBEBAZEEZE B E
SEM T EEEER BRERREZS REMEKRRIEZ e
WEMREREEBE BEREE 2 TRE BEXEERE
MERMEMER ZEAHURETEEBABEREENRTE
2N UStTEBEE BRI EERE NERBEEBET
e BESXEZEBUEEAEMEBREER BRERKZES R

H b M IR B E BB 1RAT (4 -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter because
of its significance to the consolidated financial statements and the
subjective judgements made by the management of the Group over
assessing the credit standing of the Group’s debtors and therefore
the estimation of ECL of accounts receivable, loan receivables and
deposits and other receivables.

BME# R FERIE-—HRARENFE REAHYGEUE
WMEZEEZUHUAR BESEEEENTE BESXBEBAZEE
ARSI B L e 5T FE U BR 3K - RS R I 4R < Tk L i P W SR IE B 4
o 2 B T o

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

B ESIEFRE(RPaeR):

obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit risk management and
practices, and assessing the Group’s impairment provisioning policy in
accordance with the requirements of applicable accounting standards;
BERER BESEEERBEEIEHR WREBERASERNFE B
SERERBEEE

evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence of the independent
professional valuer;

B BB 2 T8N - e RBEN

assessing the application of impairment methodology of ECL, and checking the
assumptions and key parameters to external data sources where available, on a
sample basis;

SHETEEE EBBRET EZER - RIEFIEIER N BB E I ERR
pACE YLl L

inquiring of management of the Group for the status of each of the material
accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables past
due as at year end and corroborating explanations from management of the
Group with supporting evidence, such as understanding ongoing business
relationship with the debtors based on trade records, checking historical and
subsequent settlement records of and other correspondences with the debtors;
SREMEBRRBz MR REHEREE BEETEEZHE(WRE
Dotk TREBEBAZHEEBRR ZEEEANBERBEERD
B R BEERANEMARGR)EN BEEEERE

assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of the external information used
by the Group as the forward-looking information including economic data and
forecasts published by government bodies and monetary authorities; and

FHE BESERERREER 2 NER 2 & B RERB N - BIEBUTH
BREBEREMILSBEEBERIEN &

checking the accuracy of the calculation of ECL based on the methodology
adopted by the Group and the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in relation to
credit risk exposed by the Group in the consolidated financial statements.
BERE BEEMEMNZTETEZEREERB2ERE R BE
ERGeBRENEHE BSREMER2EERR KR ERIT-
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRESER

RRESEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMHENAEERRENSE

Acquisition accounting for Greenie EdTech Corporation and its subsidiaries (together the “Greenie Group”)

Greenie EdTech Corporation R E [/ 1A 5] (4 %8 [ Greenie £ F /) Z K IBEEHE

Refer to Notes 2 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRRFE BT 2530

The Group completed the acquisition of the Greenie Group during
the year at a nominal consideration of approximately HK$20,400,000
(the “Acquisition”). The Acquistion was accounted for as asset
acquistion.

FR- EEETH W EGreenieft B« &% A (E5%920,400,00075
TSR] - WEEFBARIE—IBEEEWE -

The initial accounting for the Acquisition requires the Group to
identify the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and measure
their amounts. The Group has appointed an independent
professional valuer to assist in determining the acquisition-date fair
value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the Greenie Group.
WIHEEEZ LSRR ER EXEBAIFMKEEERPTAE
BE WiEHEE BEECZAEBVIEMGER UHSE
TEGreenief B 2 AIEBIEE R B ERNKIESIEER A FERK
ARE(ER)-

We considered this matter to be a key audit matter because of the
significant impact of the Acquisition on the consolidated financial
statements, and the inherent judgement involved in estimating the
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
HRBBEEEEGEMBERREEATE UGG FAREEE
MFrEEEECEERMS R AEHE  BMRALEIERH
RETER

FTEE

Our procedures, among others, included:

BMWEFEE(ERERE):

evaluating management’s assessment of the terms of the acquisition
agreement;

ST T S W B B IR I R IR A0 AT A

understanding the valuation processes and methodology, significant
assumptions adopted and key inputs used in the identification and valuation of
assets and liabilities;

HARAEEERAERMRAZEABR LR EEGAEHR

challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions used by management based
on our knowledge and understanding of the business of the Greenie Group and
market;

*E%FﬁfFﬂ‘%TGreenie%I%i‘“&ﬁ%Zﬁﬁﬁ@&@ﬁ@ CHEBEMERAZE
BHRECAEMRIER

assessing the appropriateness of the methodology and the reasonableness
of significant assumptions in determining the values of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed including fair value adjustments at date of acquisition; and
SHEREz BT REEMBEEERAEEE(RERNKEEEBE
Z NPERE)EER ERNBRE2AEN &

evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer.

AHMEB EXMEMZEEN e REENT -
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Key audit matter

BRESER
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RRESEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMHENAEERRENSE

Impairment assessment on intangible assets and goodwill

ERBERBEREG

Refer to Notes 2, 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

AR RN E2 13814 -

As at 30 April 2023, the Group had intangible assets of approximately
HK$61,634,000 and goodwill of approximately HK$39,331,000 arising
from acquisitions of subsidiaries.

REZZBZ=FNA=+H &EXHEAEREFLEEL61634,000/%T
VA K% 75 4939,331,0007%8 7T+ 79 B U B B Jo8 2 =) i 2= A o

The Group is required to perform impairment assessment of goodwill
at least annually. For intangible assets with definite useful lives, the
Group is required to estimate the recoverable amount of intangible
assets when an impairment indication existed.

ERBAZ P EFHHEETREN G - HEEERAIEAFH
WELEE BEREEERNFERETREGFTEEZEENTH
[EIk =

For the purpose of assessing impairment on goodwill, goodwill is
allocated to cash generating units (“CGUs”). The Group has appointed
an independent professional valuer to assist in determining the
recoverable amount of each CGU identified supported by value-in-
use calculation, which is based on future discounted cash flows,
prepared by the management.

KR BRENS HEIREReELEN([ReELES
firl)e BEEEEZEBUYIEMGERN HHETHERERZD
BRARERBEREAENEREEMIERENAINEEE -

We have identified the above matters as a key audit matter because
of calculation of recoverable amount involves significant estimates
and judgments about future market conditions, including the growth
rate of revenue and discount rate applied in the calculation.

BN E AT E &85 R EARRTR(BIEAERAERZ W
ERERMBER) ZEXEEF KA ZMEH LA EEH LB
RETEE

Our procedures, among others, included:

BAERFRE(EREE):

assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology used in the
impairment assessment;

FERER ARG E AR EARE ¢

assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted by the
management in calculating the recoverable amount based on our knowledge of
the business and industry;

A EREEBRBEHEBRITECEBEAE NG FEMRAZ EFERERL
BB

testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliance of the input data used,;

HFTA B R B R J AT SE IR TR AR B

testing management sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions to ascertain
that selected adverse changes to key assumptions would not cause impairment
loss; and
BAHAFEBRBOERGURESINT  UBEMEE 2 T ERZNTHEHT
TEBREEE &

evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer.

BB BRMGEM 2B EN s RFHIE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s 2023 annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 August 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:
Tsoi Wa Shan
Practising Certificate Number: P07514
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeEBEEREMZEKEE
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-E-_=FNA=1+HLEE

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mfat FERT FET
Revenue Wz 4 201,608 193,230
Other revenue Has 5 737 158
Cost of inventories FEKA (4,300) (4,694)
Staff costs BTIKA 6 (9,067) (11,812)
Expenses recognised under short-term leases REHEE TR ZFAX (552) (901)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses W& MR 11, 13 (6,612) (5,235)
Administrative and other operating expenses TEREEMEERT (155,570) (151,724)
Gain on disposal of an investment property HEREYEN R E 12 - 792
Net reversal of impairment losses recognised in respect of 1% # #4551/ BR 2 & B8 E MR 2 REE
financial assets at amortised cost B EIF 687 1,335
Change in fair value of investment properties BEMFEZ ANTEEE 12 (5,000) 6,310
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value BBESEAFEYE(SBREREATE
through profit or loss (“FVPL’) NRDzeMEE 2 A TEE 16(b) (23) 23
Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable — JE{f sk AK(E 2 A F(EE ) 24 2,240 (1,150)
Finance costs EUE AP %N 6 (1,380) (591)
Profit before income tax BT EBAIER 6 22,768 25,741
Income tax expense P8R~ 7 (2,190) (1,632)
Profit for the year REE R 20,578 24,109
Other comprehensive loss for the year AEEHMEHEER
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss E 12 A] ¢ E# P AEF 875 2 HH
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations B EBINETSEE ZEN =58 (672) (628)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EB AL 19,906 23,481
Profit for the year attributable to: THEEMRFEERR
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEF =N 13,508 20,037
Non-controlling interests IR = 7,070 4,072
20,578 24,100
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable T3 E&EEAAREE2ENEEE :
to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE Z =N 12,836 19,409
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 7,070 4,072
19,906 23,481
Earnings per share BREF 10 HK cents &1l HK cents 71U

— Basic and diluted

—EARNEEE

5.83

8.98
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRRE

AS AT 30 APRIL 2023
R-B-=%#MNA=+H

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
MieE FHET FHT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment LEN NN 11 10,398 10,870
Investment properties WEYE 12 234,050 239,050
Intangible assets EBREE 13 61,634 29,750
Goodwill G 14 39,331 39,331
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 3% i@ E {th 2 E W AL A FEFIEE ([FE@E
income (“FVOCI") FHRAZRAFEINR] ZeREE 15 - -
Financial assets at FVPL BREREATEIEZEHEE 16 1,592 1,615
347,005 320,616
Current assets RENEE
Financial assets at FVPL BEREREATEIEZSRHEE 16 6,796 5,000
Forfeited collaterals held for sale FEWSUIE T M 17 282 310
Inventories 7E 21 233 2,533
Accounts receivable YRR 18 113,180 116,361
Loan receivables BB R 19 24,722 25,608
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e BIBRRREAMERERER 20 17,137 37,152
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 22 100,003 84,022
262,353 270,986
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals, deposits received and other payables JEFTFUE - BEURS R AL R 23 15,300 18,230
Interest-bearing borrowings AEEE 25 46,396 70,952
Current portion of contingent consideration payable EASAREZRBBS 24 2,803 2,351
Tax payables JET B IR 5,813 2,610
70,312 94,143
Net current assets REBEETFE 192,041 176,843
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBARE 539,046 497,459
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Contingent consideration payable FERTEAAR(B 24 5,170 7,862
Deferred tax liabilities FRIERRIEEE 26 5,172 6,185
10,342 14,047
NET ASSETS EERE 528,704 483,412
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital A& 7N 27 9,903 9,083
Reserves & 29 461,502 442,736
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KA BVER A FEL A 471,405 451,819
Non-controlling interests IR 317 57,299 31,593
TOTAL EQUITY R 528,704 483,412
These consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 126 were approved and — FH52HZH126B 25N BHRACHEF SR —FE - =4+

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 August 2023 and signed on its behalf

by:

Vong Tat leong David
HEB
Director

EF

Xu Siping
Director

EF

SNAZTAARERRETE i TIEEAREE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FEEREBR

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-_=FENA=1tHLEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARAREAERE
Reserves
Fif
Financial
Property Capital Statutory assets at Exchange Non-
Share Share  revaluation  redemption surplus o0 translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interest  Total equity
ERAME
AUARR
TE5I%Z
MXER  BEAEE  ARRR  SREE
ke RiEE i i i HE  EXEE  ZanEE B ERER by 4
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
TEn TEn TERL TEn TEn TEn TR TEn TEn TER TR
(Note27)  (Note 29a)) ~ (Note 29b)  Note29¢)  (Note29@)  (Note29e)  (Note29(f))
(i) (W) (Waow)  (Widvg)  (hEnw)  (Ee) ()
A0 April 2021 and 1May 2021 RZE--¥WAZTER
“E--ERf-R 7688 611,780 1231 b[3) m (15.289) 193 (8% 4B - 139
Profitfor the year AEREN - - - - - - - 20037 20037 40 24109
Other comprehensive loss A2EEE
ltem that may be reclassified HRAREN S EZ R
subsequently to profit or loss BR
Exchange differences on translation ~ E BN EHEL 2
of foreign operations EREE - - - - - - (626) - (626) - (626)
Total other comprehensive loss for AEEHM2AFELE
the year - - - - - - (628) - (628) - (626)
Total comprehensive (loss) income ~ ERZM (FE) A
for the year - - - - - - (628) 20,037 19409 4072 23481
Transaction with owners HEEARS
Derecognition of financial assets at ~ RAFUBZENBA 7B
FVOCI upon step-up acquisition of 4%t ERS BEE
a subsidiary - - - - - 5076 - (5,076) - - -
Contributions and distributions RERDK
Shares issued for acquisition of BIGENBLAAMET2
subsidiary i3 1395 17,0% - - - - - - 18489 - 18489
Non-controlling interests arising from 7R 8 WiE EBEIFAERER
acquisitions - - - - - - - - - 2751 75
Total transactions with owners ~ EEFARSAE 1395 17,09 - - - 5076 - (3,076) 18489 75 46,010
At 30 April 2022 RZE-ZFMA=1H 9,083 628,874 131 26 Al (10213) 1335 (179,003) 451819 31593 483412
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HBEEZEEHR

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-_=-FENA=1tHLEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

LNGE LN
Reserves
fife
Financial
Property Capital Statutory assets Exchange Non-

Share Share  revaluation  redemption surplus at FvoCl  translation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interest equity
iyt
2EUA
BAVE

WEEf  EAEE  ERBER  GIRzER EX gif FER

k& ROEE fith fife B HERE e i h B L5

HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

Thn Thn Tén TEn Thn Thn Tén TEn Thn Tén Tén
(Note27]  (Note 290a))  (Note 29b))  (Note 29(c)  (Note 29(d))  (Note 29(e)  (Note 29ff)
(fitz)  (He2e)  (WiE2ol) (i) (i) (BE2e) (i)

A30 April 2022and 1 May 2022 RZEZZEMA=TAR

ZE--FRR-R 908 688M 131 1) m o (1021 1335 (79023) 451819 353 483412
Profitfor the year REREA - - - - - - - 13,508 13,508 7,070 20,578
Other comprehensive loss A2 EER
ltem that may be reclassified RRLEN BZRRL
subsequently to profit r loss EH
Bichange differences on trandlation of REBIEREEZES
foreign operations ¥ - - - - - - (672) - (672) - (672)

Total other comprehensive loss for AEEHA2HHELE
the year - - - - - - 672) - (672) - (672)

Total comprehensive (loss) income ~ ER2 () HALE
for the year - - - - - - (672) 13,508 12,836 7,070 19,906

Transaction with owners BEEARS
Contributions and distributions RERA R
Shares issued for acquisition of BUHERBAAMRTZR

subsidiary (Vote 27) WiliF2) 820 5,930 - - - - - - 6,750 - 6,750
Non-controlling interests arising from 7R & Wi EBEMFFARER

acquisitions - - - - - - - - - 18,636 18,636
Total transactions with owners ~ EBARZEE 820 5,930 - - - - - - 6,750 18,636 25,386

At 30 April 2023 RZBZZEMA=1A 9,903 634,804 1,231 262 270 (10,213) 663 (165,515) 471,405 57,299 528,704
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SRELRER
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023

BE-Z-_=FNA=1THLEE
2023 2022
—E-=HF B F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 FExT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEB
Profit before income tax BPTS AR A 22,768 25,741
Adjustments for: KD -
Bank interest income RITFBHA 5 (34) (32)
Finance costs B A& AR 6 1,380 591
Dividend income from listed equity securities EHRAESZRBRA 4 (193) (126)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 13 6,140 4,458
Depreciation e 11 472 777
Gain on disposal of an investment property HEREMEZ W 12 - (792)
Net reversal of impairment losses recognised in respect of IREE AT EZ S REERRAZRERR
financial assets at amortised cost BEFE (687) (1,335)
Change in fair value of investment properties BEMFEZ ATEEZS 12 5,000 (6,310)
Change in fair value of club memberships at FVPL BRBEREATEIRZEMEREATEEZS 16D 23 (23)
Change in fair value of listed equity securities at FVPL }ﬁLTEﬁn?ﬁﬁ$1ﬁﬁ‘JEEZJ: mRAES AT E
4 744 (234)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration payable FH&W‘W 2 ATFEES 24 (2,240) 1,150
Write-off of loan and interest receivables WEHEREREF 2 6 - 3N
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital ZEESHE v LLEBELRE 33,373 24,176
Changes in working capital: BEES 2
Financial assets at FVPL BRBREATEIRCSREE (2,540) -
Inventories 7 2,300 (2,264)
Accounts receivable JEUBR X 3,177 (38,591)
Loan receivables JEWE R 34 3,665
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Bz% FET BR R I E At R 3K 9,308 15,151
Accruals and deposits received [EETRIBRE WiEe (2,933) (5,882)
Cash from (used in) operations and net cash from (used in) REZEKRES(FA)RERLELLME(FA)
operating activities R& T8 42,719 (3,745)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Bank interest received B UERIT A8 5 34 32
Dividend received from listed equity securities B TR ARTE AR S 4 193 126
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment BEVE BENLLE - (12)
Proceeds from disposal of an investment property PEREME ZMEHA 12 - 11,880
Net cash outflows arising from acquisition of subsidiaries U BB A TFEZﬁﬁumﬁ?%%ﬁ 30 (385) (9,713)
Net cash (used in) from investing activities REXBR (A B2HEFE (158) 2,313
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEER
Inception of interest-hearing borrowings e Fﬁﬁﬁ% - 35,829
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings Eﬁﬁ‘f EEE (2,483) (13,166)
Interest paid 7.8 (1,380) (591)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities MEFH (A MBZRLFE (3,863) 22,072
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEBREMTHE 38,698 20,640
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting HEHNHEERRESMEER
period 57,872 37,857
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEFE R B8 v 2 (644) (625)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period BEH AR EREESEER 95,926 57,872
Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents BeRBELEEERERIWN
Bank balances and cash RITEBRES 22 100,003 84,022
Bank overdrafts RITEX 25 (4,077) (26,150)
95,926 57,872




CORPORATE INFORMATION

Vongroup Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares of
the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is situated at 17A, EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is an investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Vongroup Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), is the immediate and ultimate holding company
and Mr. Vong Tat leong David is the ultimate controlling party (the “Ultimate Controlling Party”)
of the Company, who is also the chief executive officer and an executive director of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all individual applicable
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000”), unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the
accounting policies adopted in the 2022 consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the current
period as detailed below.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to
the Group:

Proceeds before Intended Use

Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 16: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments clarify the accounting requirements for proceeds received by an entity from
selling items produced while testing an item of property, plant or equipment before it is used for
its intended purpose. An entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items, in profit or loss and measures the cost of those items applying the measurement
requirements of HKAS 2.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (for example, direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

FAREARAR FR2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRMEE
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-=FNA=1+HLEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEAMBRERMTE

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023

BE-Z-=FA=1+HLEE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in 2018. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its requirement
for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a
liability. The exception specifies that, for some types of liabilities and contingent liabilities, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should instead refer to HKAS 37. The exception has been added to avoid
an unintended consequence of updating the reference.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements Project — 2018-2020 Cycle
HKFRS 1: Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter

This amendment simplifies the application of HKFRS 1 for a subsidiary that becomes a first-time
adopter of HKFRSs later than its parent — i.e. if a subsidiary adopts HKFRSs later than its parent
and applies HKFRS 1.D16(a), then a subsidiary may elect to measure cumulative translation
differences for all foreign operations at amounts included in the consolidated financial
statements of the parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the purpose of performing the “10 per cent test” for
derecognition of financial liabilities — in determining those fees paid net of fees received, a
borrower includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements. As currently drafted, Example 13 is not clear as to why such payments are not a
lease incentive.

HKAS 41: Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

This amendment removes the requirement to exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring
fair value, thereby aligning the fair value measurement requirements in HKAS 41 with those in
HKFRS 13.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
historical cost basis, except for investment properties, financial assets at FVPL and financial assets
at FVOCI and contingent consideration payable which were stated at fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and
all of its subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as that of the Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners of the Company, in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or at
the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests (if applicable). Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the Company and the non-controlling interest (if applicable) even if
this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date when control is lost and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the holding company had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to
the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as
appropriate from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business (including the acquisition of joint control
of a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business) is measured at the excess of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if
applicable) and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the
acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a separate asset and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. For the
purpose of impairment test and determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.
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2.

Bo=FNA=THLEFE
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date amounts of identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed of the acquired business over the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if applicable) and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain purchase.

Any resulting gain or loss arising from remeasuring the previously held equity interests in the
acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property,
plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which
they are available for use and after taking into account their estimated residual values, using the
straight-line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated
separately:

Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

5 years or the lease term, whichever is shorter
5to 10 years
5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which
the item is derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are held by owner to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include properties held for a currently undetermined future use
and properties that are held under operating lease, which satisfy the definition of investment
property and carry at fair value.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Any gain or loss
arising from a change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development activities, which involve
the application of research findings to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially
improved products and processes, are capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources to complete the development.
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as an
expense as incurred.

Licence

Licence with finite useful lives that is acquired separately is carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for license with finite useful
lives is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected lives of the licence, which is
determined to be 20 years.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination — customer relationships and software

Customer relationships and software acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, the software and customer relationships with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the expected lives of the software and customer relationships, which
are determined to be 5 and 8 years respectively.

The software, customer relationships and licence are derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of the customer relationships, software and licence, measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Forfeited collaterals held for sales

Forfeited collaterals are initially recognised at the amortised cost of the related outstanding
loans on the date of repossession, which is generally below the net realisable value of the
repossessed assets. Upon repossession of the assets, the related loans and advances together with
the related impairment allowances, if any, are derecognised from the consolidated statement
of financial position. Subsequently, forfeited collaterals are carried at the lower of the amount
initially recognised or net realisable value and are therefore written down if and when the net
realisable value falls to below the carrying amount of the asset. The excess of the net proceeds
over the carrying amount of the forfeited collaterals is recognised as a gain upon the disposal of
the assets.

Financial instruments

Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future
cash flows from the financial asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and either
(a) it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent
of its continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing component which
are initially measured at their transaction price) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in
the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt
investment measured at FVOCI; (iii) equity investment measured at FVOCI (“Designated FVOCI”);
or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period following the change in the
business model.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

7)

2)

3)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as FVPL:

(i) itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

(if) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include accounts receivable, loan receivables,
deposits, prepayments and other receivables, and bank balances and cash.

Designated FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument that is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies in other comprehensive income. The classification is determined
on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

These equity investments are subsequently measured at fair value and are not subject to
impairment. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other gains or losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income and shall not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred directly to accumulated
profits or losses.

The Group’s financial assets at Designated FVOCI include unlisted equity investments not
held for trading.

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI, including financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, financial assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets that
are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or interest income is presented separately
from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and
for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on

initial recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a designated and effective
hedging instrument.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)
3)  Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases.

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVPL include listed equity securities and unlisted
debt securities of club memberships.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is,
when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial
liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the
financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accruals, deposits received and other payable, contingent
consideration payable and interest-bearing borrowings. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for trading, financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies. They are
carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss (excluding interest expenses) recognised
in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair value changes of financial liabilities designated
at FVPL that are attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities which is presented in other
comprehensive income unless such treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. The amounts presented in other comprehensive income shall not be
subsequently transferred to profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”) on financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost and contract assets to which the impairment requirements
apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as detailed below, at each
reporting date, the Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to
the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects
to receive.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on the
following one or more shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(iii) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors
(vi) external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk and loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss
allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial asset that meets any of the following
criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. In
particular, the following information is taken into account in the assessment:

«  the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on the due dates;

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external or
internal credit rating (if available);

» anactual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and
» actual or expected changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment

that have or may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Bank balances and cash are determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For accounts receivable and contract assets without a significant financing component or
otherwise for which the Group applies the practical expedient not to account for the significant
financing components, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties; or

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations of
recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical experience of
recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

Bo=FNA=THLEFE
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all
costs of purchase and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads, is calculated using the first
in, first out method. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents comprise short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows.

Revenue recognition

Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when the assets are let out and on the
straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate are initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date and subsequently
adjusted when such index or rate changes. Such payments are recognised as income on the
straight-line basis over the lease term. Other variable lease payments are recognised as income in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Dividend income

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when the Group’s rights to receive dividend
is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income
from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payments have been
established.

Disposal of forfeited collaterals held for sale

Disposal gain or loss is recognised when the buyer of the forfeited collaterals take control of and
accepts the goods.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is provision of technology &
management services and financial consultancy services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a
customer and identifies as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer
either:

(a) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are
met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other
resources that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of
being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is
distinct within the context of the contract).
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the
customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance
obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance
obligation at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and
such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from provision of technology & management services is recognised at a point in time in
the accounting period when the actual service provided.

Sale of goods is recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the control of
the promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to
customers and the title is passed.

Commission income from provision of financial consultancy services on capital funding is
recognised at a point in time in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreement or deal
mandate when relevant significant act has been completed.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the customer or the Group
is provided with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer), in determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration
for the effects of the time value of money. The effect of the significant financing component is
recognised as an interest income or interest expense separately from revenue from contracts with
customers in profit or loss.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for the effect of the significant financing component if the period of financing
is one year or less.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration,
or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is presented as a contract liability when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group’s
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in the currency of HK$, which is
also the functional currency of the Company and most of the subsidiaries, and rounded to the
nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except for those arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity, in
which cases, the gains or losses are also recognised directly in equity.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

« assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of the reporting period;

« income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rate;

» all resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange
differences arising from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a
foreign operation are recognised as a separate component of equity;

» on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest is no longer
equity-accounted for, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to the
foreign operation that is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
separate component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or
loss on disposal is recognised,

* on the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation which does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences recognised in
the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling interests in that
foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

« on all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of associates that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of
information to assess whether there is any indication that the Group’s property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) and the Company’s investment in subsidiaries may be
impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
smallest group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced
to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating
unit that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.
Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as an income in profit or loss immediately.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant on
a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an
asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account/recognised as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary investment of the
specific borrowings, that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and low-value asset leases.
Lease payments associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components, and
accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate component are considered to
be part of the total consideration that is allocated to the separately identified components of the
contract.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset (included in property, plant and equipment) and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:
(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case depreciation is provided
over the estimated useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 50 years or the lease term, whichever is shorter
As the Group’s lease payments for its leasehold land and buildings cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements at the inception of the lease because similar land and
buildings are not sold or leased separately, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of
the leasehold land and buildings and are classified as right-of-use assets (included in property,
plant and equipment).

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following
payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

() amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not
readily determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there are changes to the
lease payments arising from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when there is a change in
the residual value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and
there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any
remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease or an operating lease at the
inception date of the lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately from
non-lease components of the contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating
lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new lease from the effective date of
the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
employees of the Group’s entities established in the PRC are required to participate in defined
contribution retirement plans organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans are
expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits to its employees.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by
having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in capital reserve within equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items
that are non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of
the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition
of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not
recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the period when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be
utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

2. FESHEE#®R)

EEEA(E)
AULFEF

AEERAHERLE LEBELAEIEE - HER LT
EEFAERAE T EE ARERMEHAN S REELBERT
T IR HERR AR AR -

BB XS
UEmaFHRS

PRERTS 2 A FETDZERMMERR LRz ATFEST U
BRENBBHARR AR W EST RN DREETE
ARG AN

RERESR  FEBETEHRNREEE 2R HHEEE 2
st e AEHERT 2 B (WA ) MR R - WH AL BIERR 1
HAREE -

KB BT AR R - SRR IR IR R R 8 R
EROEE - AR BN BB B RO/ RBIH AR
176 - SERI R M R AR 2 B - B ERE AN o

MR AT REREE MG AEREHAHEE  MEH
R HERR 2 B S 1 BN A 38 - AT - IR AT SRR B Bt
SHEEE) WA AR E R B R R - RIT 8 R B9 1%
BRRE LR ZER] -

IR

EVERFAIS B IR IAN R A B W BERR R AIHR
HREHAE AERAEAIREANSREPRREATLE
BECHEITZHE -

EERBEIREERABEZHEREANGRUBRRAMNRZ
BREENSREMRZAELTREEZR RAAEETREE-
A A ERBHEL AR S (EBAGBRINTZEMEENK
BEMEEZEMELEHE  WERR ST E G flsk e
AT IR - BT &2 R

ERERBAERBEDRENSBREARCSROTNER LR
TZRERBE RUEEESFTEAEZ MRERERZHE

CEE

i BT BE A AR M FE BR T4 A P FB (R IR SH T FRLET B 1R 2 TRIRUES
BRER BISRRETHREE -

EERBIRRMB AR RAEEE 7 TR EHERE 1
et 2 AN 2 R i AR BEG REREZER A LR
RATBE & 1R 2 Al BR 51



PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group,

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(ii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a holding company
of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each
holding company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the

sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(vii
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management, which is the Group’s chief operating decision maker,
for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management
of the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on
experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(i)~ Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) and
intangible assets

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful lives of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions. The estimated
useful lives could be different as a result of technical innovations which could affect the
related depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

(if)  Impairment of non-financial assets, other than goodwill

The management of the Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets, including property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets), at the end of each reporting period in accordance with the accounting policies
as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. In determining whether
an asset is impaired or the event previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
management has to assess whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value
or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would be determined as the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use, the calculations of which involve the use of
estimates. Owing to inherent risk associated with estimations in the timing and amounts of
the future cash flows and fair value less costs of disposal, the estimated recoverable amount
of the asset may be different from the amount actually received and profit or loss could be
affected by accuracy of the estimations.

(iii) - Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance for financial assets at amortised
cost including accounts receivable, loan receivables and deposits and other receivables by
using various inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss rate.
The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical
information, recoverable amount of pledged collaterals, past collection history of debtors,
concentration risk of debtors, the Group’s actual loss experience, existing market conditions
as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of the financial assets at amortised cost.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC was
determined by independent professional valuers. The valuation performed was arrived
at with reference to recent market transaction prices at the end of reporting period and/
or market rental value for similar properties at similar locations with total fair value of
investment properties approximately HK$234,050,000 at 30 April 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$239,050,000). Favourable or unfavourable changes to recent market prices would
result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.

Fair value of financial assets at FVOCI

The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI that are not traded in active market is
determined by valuation techniques. Fair value of financial assets at FVOCI is determined
by independent professional valuer by using valuation techniques including the discounted
cash flow valuation model. Valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based
on observable market data and make assumptions that are primarily based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislation. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for deductible temporary differences and tax losses only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the deferred tax assets
can be utilised. As a result, management’s judgement is required to assess the probability of
future taxable profits. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

(vii) Acquisition of subsidiaries

The initial accounting on the acquisition of subsidiaries involves identifying and
determining the fair value to be assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
acquired entities. The fair values of the identified assets and liabilities and consideration,
including contingent consideration are determined by reference to the valuation performed
by an independent professional valuer where applicable. Any changes in assumptions used
and estimates made in determining the fair value will impact the carrying amount of these
assets and liabilities.

(viii) Impairment of goodwill

(ix)

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
results in downward revision of future cash flows, further impairment losses may arise.

Valuation of contingent consideration

For acquisitions accounted for under HKFRS 3, future anticipated payments to vendors in
respect of earnouts are based on the management’s best estimates of future obligations,
which are dependent on future performance of the interests acquired and assume the
operating companies improve profits in line with management’s estimates and are included
in liabilities greater or less than one year as appropriate. These estimates will likely differ
from future actual results of operations and cash flows, and it is possible that these
differences could be material. Changes to earnouts are recorded in the profit or loss.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current reporting period, which
the Group has not early adopted:

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosure of Accounting Policies '

Definition of Accounting Estimates '

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction '

Insurance Contracts '

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information '

HKFRS 17
Amendment to HKFRS 17

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current ?
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants *
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback ?

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture *

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
*  The effective date to be determined

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods
will have any material impact on the results of the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being identified as the chief
operating decision makers (the “CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on nature of services provided. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable operating segments of
the Group.

The Group has determined that there are three reportable operating segments which are set out
below.

1. Technology:
2. Property:
3. Financial:

Technology and related activities

Real property and related activities

Consumer finance, securities trading, other financial/business services
and related activities

a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from provision of technology services,
property leasing services, financial services and trading of listed equity securities.

Segment results represent the revenue reported by each segment without allocation of
certain other revenue and other gains, corporate expenses and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM of the Group for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

a)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The segment information provided to the CODM of the Group for the reportable operating

3 2EERG
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FEMBRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-_=FNA=+HLEE

a) 2EWE ¥XE BEEREEHEE)

IWAFEA2R[ENBAAEETBLERRERMIZ

segments for the year is as follows: DEERINT
Year ended 30 April 2023 BE-Z-_=-FNA=1tHLEE
Technology Property Financial Consolidated
B L/ A e
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT FET FET
Segment revenue D 196,721 4,265 622 201,608
Segment results DEEELE 39,922 (2,069) (1,142) 36,711
Unallocated other revenue and other gains & 73 g E At e A I E b Uk 25 538
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBREFRZ (13,101)
Finance costs B R AR AR (1,380)
Profit before income tax W P43 85 A 22,768
Income tax expense SR (2,190)
Profit for the year NG i F 20,578
Year ended 30 April 2022 HE-ZT-_—FNA=1+HILFE
Technology Property Financial Consolidated
B LIES SR nE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET TR FEIT
Segment revenue HREM R 187,255 4,459 1,516 193,230
Segment results DEEEE 26,171 10,762 1,889 38,822
Unallocated other revenue and other gains 7k 2 B £ At Mg A R E 4t i 25 92
Unallocated corporate expenses Kot ERT (12,582)
Finance costs BA RS AR AN (591)
Profit before income tax R P43 8 A A 25,741
Income tax expense s (1,632)
Profit for the year ANF R F 24,109

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same on the Group’s accounting
policies described in Note 2.

RENBZ G BOR BN 2T AN R B 2 &R AR -
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 3 2EERG
a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (Continued) a) AEWE ¥(E EEREEHE)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable and operating RA2RE LN BRI D v NEBEERBBZOWHT -
segments:
Technology Property Financial Unallocated Consolidated
M L/ES kA ROE )
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FiET FiET FET FET
At 30 April 2023 R-B-=FWA=+H
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ERNBEE 303,456 248,219 34,119 23,564 609,358
Liabilities 8f&
Reportable segment liabilities ERHEAE 26,474 45,567 1,131 7,482 80,654
Other information Hip&
Amortisation B 6,140 - - - 6,140
Depreciation biik 9 6 2 455 472

Net reversal of impairment losses recognised 31 8 $5PX A5t 2 2 £ B A ETER
in respect of financial assets at amortised 2 (BT 1B B )% 48

costs (1,702) - 1,015 - (687)
Change in fair value of investment BREMEZ NTFEEZE
properties - 5,000 - - 5,000
Change in fair value of financial assets at  EBIEZIZAFENIEZ
FVPL TREEZATEEY - - - 23 23
Change in fair value of contingent ERNSAREB 2 ATES
consideration payable (2,240) - - - (2,240
Additions to intangible assets NEBVEAE 38,024 - - - 38,024
Technology Property Financial Unallocated Consolidated
RHE bIES i PVl s oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT T FHET FHT
At 30 April 2022 R-ZZ-Z=FNA=+H
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets EHmOBEE 243,528 274,788 35,503 37,783 591,602
Liabilities af&
Reportable segment liabilities EH/NEAE 30,074 69,827 279 8,010 108,190
Other information Hingn
Amortisation g 4458 - - - 4458
Depreciation e 5 125 2 645 777
Gain on disposal of an investment property &% & ¥ Uz - (792) - - (792)

Net reversal of impairment losses recognised i 1% # S5 A5 T 8 2 & B A ERER
in respect of financial assets at amortised 2 B {6518 & [0 % 58

costs (401) - (789) (145) (1339)
Change in fair value of investment REMEZ AFEE

properties - (6,310) - - (6,310)
Change in fair value of financial assets at  BBEHIZAFENEZ SREE

FVPL PANSEEE-E) - - - (23) (23)
Change in fair value of contingent BRNAREB 2 ATEZE)

consideration payable 1,150 - - - 1,150
Additions to intangible assets REEBVEE 34,208 - - - 34,208

Additions to property, plant and equipment SR B ¥ % B MR 4 12 - - 55




3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

a)

b)

q
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3 2BERG)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (Continued) a) 2HENWE %@ BEREEE)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between REESBERBARRSBEESEERME :
segments:
segment assets include certain property, plant and equipment, (including right-of-use NEEEBEETYE BELARB(RECHAER
assets), investment properties, intangible assets, goodwill, financial assets at FVOCI, E)REWME BREE BE gBEME2EEAR
certain financial assets at FVPL, forfeited collateral held for sale, inventories, accounts AFEIRZEHEE - B TEBREBZRATENRZ
receivable, loan receivables, certain deposits and other receivables and certain bank CREE -FEWLKERR FE BUER B
balances and cash. Other assets are not allocated to operating segments as these assets ER - ETIHSNEMEWGRENRE TIRTES R
are managed on a corporate basis; and S HMEETANEELENE REALSEED
BRAREEERE Rk
segment liabilities include certain accruals and deposits received, interest-bearing NEaEeEETETZERDWIZS tEEE &
borrowings, contingent consideration payable, certain tax payables and certain AR E - BETEMNRELETECHIEAGE  Eib
deferred tax liabilities. Other liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as BEIRPEEZLLEH A ERAKSEEIRATE
these liabilities are managed on a corporate basis. TR o
Geographical information b) ibiFE R
The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s TR#VNEAOEAEBINBELZBARGAEBRREY
revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s investment properties, property, ¥ ME BERRE EFEERRE(HEHERDE
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill (the “Specified Non-current Assets”). ENZHBAUBEER WRZHBNE NIREEERRE
The geographical location of the revenue is presented based on the entity’s countries of G TEIRRBDEEZMBMNENIEEEZEBRMUE (RIE
domicile. The geographical location of the Specified Non-current Assets is presented based EMENYE BELREMNS )VALESREBEEZE
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of investment properties and property, B (B EERBEMS )25 -
plant and equipment, and the location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the
case of intangible assets and goodwill.
Revenue Non-current assets
Wz kRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=H T —E-=HF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET FHET FAET
Hong Kong & 166,614 90,211 323,005 296,280
Mainland China (the “PRC’) FREIARE([HE) 5,400 8,168 7,818 8,721
Macau P - - 14,500 14,000
South Korea BEH 8,963 27,686 - -
Thailand Z=H 6,780 15,884 - -
Indonesia ENE BT 10,011 37,670 - -
Others Hih 3,840 13,611 - -
Total FESs 201,608 193,230 345,413 319,001
Information about major customers  BEIEEFZER
No revenue from customers individually contributing 10% or more of the total revenue of REE-T-_=FF_T-__FNA=1+HILFE #HER

the Group for the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022.

FPEBRBZWEEASE BRI Z10%A L
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4. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

4. W

REEFARE ZAMEFIAT

2023 2022
—F=-= g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Revenue from contracts with customers within BEBHBHREERZISHEZREEFEHZ Mz — R
HKFRS 15 —point in time I
Provision of technology & related services RENEREBERY 196,721 187,255
Revenue from other sources FKE R MR Wz
Provision of property leasing services RV EBERE
— Gross rental income from investment properties —REMHEZEES WA 4,265 4,459
Provision of financial related services RESBRERRY
— Interest income —FI B A 1,173 1,156
— Dividend income from listed equity securities — EmBRAES RS A 193 126
— Net (loss)/gain on listed equity securities at FVPL (Note) -~ ERBHFRAFEINREZ LWRAZESZ (BE)/ K
SFR () (744) 234
622 1,516
201,608 193,230
Note: Mz -
2023 2022
—EBC-=HF T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAIT
Net (loss)/gain on listed equity securities at FVPL BRBHEIEATFEYERZ ERAERZ (BER)/ s
F R
— Change in fair value —ATEES) (723) 234
— Realised loss* — B &8 EiE (21) -
(744) 234

*

The amount represented the proceeds from the disposal of listed equity securities of approximately

HK$139,000 (2022: nil) less relevant costs and carrying value of the listed equity securities sold, of

approximately HK$160,000 (2022: nil).

L ORERERE EWRAFESFZAEN

T8 #9139,00078 7T (=

TooF E)BME ETRAESZ AR KRR ELD

160,000/8 T ( — T4 : &)

5. OTHER REVENUE 5. Hpz

2023 2022

—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Bank interest income RITFBIA 34 32
Management fee income EEBYA 198 66
Others EHth 505 60
737 158




PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

This is stated after charging (crediting):
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6. BRATBBIATEFI

BB GEA AT EHZT

2023 2022
—F=-= g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Finance costs BB
Interest on banking facilities RITRLE FIS 1,308 522
Interest on other borrowings HiEEF S 72 69
Total finance costs BA R AN 4R RE 1,380 591
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) BEIRKX(BIZEESHH)
Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind HE R REMEDREA 8,754 11,614
Contributions to defined contribution plans FEMRET AR 313 198
Total staff costs #E TRRA 9,067 11,812
Other items EftEH
Auditor’s remuneration 2 EEM BN & 1,300 1,050
Amortisation of intangible assets B A ERH 6,140 4,458
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment e /EN T 44 349
— Right-of-use assets —FREEE 428 428
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties ~ESMHERAZREMEEL 2 EELERT
that generated leasing income 159 117
Exchange loss, net I 5 B 18558 122 2
Research and development expenses (included in AT GIATITREEMEEFRS])
“Administrative and other operating expenses”) 26,297 17,760
Retainer fees (included in “Administrative and other operating BE:5% (5t A [1TH R HAab & &5 |)(Mfat)
expenses”) (Note) 107,509 103,311
Net (reversal of) impairment losses recognised in respect of  BEIRE SR AT 2 & BLE E MR 2 OB ERBEE) RIEE
financial assets at amortised costs BFE
— Accounts receivable — EURER R 4 (572)
— Loan receivables —FEE R 852 (54)
— Deposits and other receivables — ke RE M ERFIE (1,543) (709)
Write-off of loan and interest receivables g8 P LU SR R RIS - 31

Note: Retainer fees include, for example, payments to our business partners who
are retained to provide services to the Group and in relation to services that

we provide to our customers.

Arit - BREEMIIBERARMNETSEBRHEINNER
ZEEBEEBHARMARATFREEAREMAAREE
HIRTS R IR AE RS -
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7.

INCOME TAX FrigBt
2023 2022
—E-=H —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TR
Current tax BIEA% 1R
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBENEH
Current year KEZ 3,203 1,900
Deferred taxation EIEBIE
Changes in temporary differences (Note 26) R EREE S (M iF26) (1,013) (268)
Total income tax expense for the year NEEMEMAZEE 2,190 1,632

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the
jurisdiction in which entities in the Group are domiciled and operated.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject
to any income tax under these jurisdictions.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong is applicable to years of assessment
beginning on or after 1 April 2018, under which, the profit tax rate for the first HK$2,000,000
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong of qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and
assessable profits arising from Hong Kong above HK$2,000,000 will continue be taxed at the rate
of 16.5%. As only one of the subsidiaries in the Group is eligible to elect the two-tiered profits tax
rates, profits of the remaining subsidiaries of the Group will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

For the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated in accordance
with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has not been provided for the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022 as
the Group’s entities in the PRC incurred a loss for taxation purposes.

7SR B LA 5 B R TR e A T RDRRE [ 2 AR ok RN
IR EREEGNAEH -

REASHENEBEZHENRARRD  NEBBEHNZ
S RERBE W ER TSN -

EAFISHBEMEHEANE S \FMA— B2 %M
BHBRREE Bt A EREBIEEEE £/ H2,000,000%
TORE RR B v B G 428 25% M Bl R M FIEH - M BBELED
2,000,000 7T LA = ) JE 2R 75 i 1) 5 488 48 121 6.5% KO Bt R i o |
RALENE-—RNBRARIAERERTSHMEMAS A%
5] EL BRI BB 1N )2 i ) A 4 B 21 6.5% ) ) — B SR B -

HE-_T-_=FR-_ZT-__FRA=+ALEE BEMNESHD
RIEFIS R RMARGIFTE o

BRAKERTRZEBRSHBENE 2BR SREE-F
TEERCECCFNAZFTREFEIRARTECERAS
B

Reconciliation of income tax expense 8RB 2 ¥ iR

2023 2022
—Z2-= —F=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit before income tax MRETS B AR R 22,768 25,741
Tax calculated at the rates applicable to the respective tax ZEANBRBE AR 2R E 2B

jurisdictions 3,587 4,762
Effect on graduated tax rate R EZE (165) (165)
Non-deductible expenses AR 1,703 1,633
Tax exempt revenue Rl (908) (2,058)
Unrecognised temporary differences RERY R ERE (365) (237)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses BRI AR ERBIEE B (1,662) (2,303)

REFEHFN

Income tax expense for the year

2,190 1,632




8. EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

8(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The aggregate amounts of emoluments received and receivable by the directors and chief
executive officer of the Company in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and its subsidiaries are as follows:

Year ended 30 April 2023

ENEEAR AT FiR2023
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BE-Z-_=FNA=+HLEE

8. EBRTHASURIERSHFATIHME

8@ EERITHRARME

ARRBERITREHAREEARARARAMBRRZEH

BUREKROMEEENT

BE_Z_=FNA=THLEE

Salaries,
Directors’ allowances and Discretionary
fees benefits-in-kind bonus Total
g RER
EEWS BYEF BETEAL st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FExT FExT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Vong Tat leong David (Note) =miEB R E M) 564 600 - 1,164
Mr. Xu Siping TRETF R 500 - - 500
Independent non-executive directors B I HITES
Mr. Fung Ka Keung David REREE 100 - - 100
Dr. Lam Lee G. MREE L 150 - - 150
Ms. Wong Man Ngar Edna ED'¢idoeu 100 - - 100
1,414 600 - 2,014
Year ended 30 April 2022 HE-_Z-_—#NMA=+HILEE
Salaries,
Directors’ allowances and Discretionary
fees benefits-in-kind bonus Total
BB EUR
EEHe EYET BIETEAL “eEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FHET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Vong Tat leong David (Note) =EH R E M) 700 600 1,300
Mr. Xu Siping RETFE A 500 - 500
Independent non-executive directors BN FEHITES
Mr. Fung Ka Keung David s E 100 - 100
Dr. Lam Lee G. MREE L 150 - - 150
Ms. Wong Man Ngar Edna Tzt 100 - 100
1,550 600 2,150

Note: Mr. Vong Tat leong David is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and his emoluments

disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive Officer.

Hfit  EEG S EMRARRMNTRAE - T EXRBROM S 2ER

FEETRESARARBE RIS -
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BECE--FNA=TALFE

8.

10.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND FIVE 8. EERTHARURIEEBFATINMS2)
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
8(b) Emoluments of five highest paid individuals 8h) EEEEHALTHME
The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2023 included two HE_Z_ZFNUA=ZTALFE AEEREEaFHFALT
(2022: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above and TEEME(CE-—F - HE)ES  HENMERMRE
three (2022 three) non-director individuals whose emoluments are disclosed as follows: AR B TI=R(—FE-—F: =ZF)IFEZEALHHE
BWEMT :
2023 2022
—B-=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind &R REMEA 3,014 4,085
Contribution to defined contribution plans REHFEEIHR 23 45
3,037 4,130
The number of the highest paid individuals (excluding the directors of the Company) whose HHBRUTHENSGSHAT(TEERARAGESE) A
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows: W
Number of individuals
A#
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —T-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ1,000,00075 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 722,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7T 2 3,000,00078 7T - 1
3 3
There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive officer, the five REBEEZZ_=FR-S-__FNA=1THILFE HEE
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years = THER L2 HF ATHEXREHRETMAESH
ended 30 April 2023 and 2022. In addition, no emolument was paid by the Group to the TN BE-Z-_=ZFR-_ZT-__FNOA=THLF
any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon E -AREEVYEATFNESIOIETaGATINME £
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office for the years ended 30 April 2023 BRI 5 N AN B s hn AN £ B 2 S5 Eh o BBk A (E o
and 2022.
DIVIDEND 9. BRE
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company for the year ended 30 April 2023 (2022: Nil). “EMA=FTHIEE  AATW KRN EIEEM
The directors of the Company do not recommend for payment of a final dividend for the year BE(—CE-——F ) A G BEEV I EEZFHE_T-_=F
ended 30 April 2023 (2022: Nil). WA=Z+HLEFERNGRARE(ZE=ZF : )
EARNINGS PER SHARE 10. 3REF

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for the current and prior year is based
on profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the years.

Diluted earnings per share were same as the basic earnings per share as there were no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in existence during the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022.

AEEMAEFEZSRERREERFDREARFHEE A
EAE F AR R FAD BT ERRZ METHEEE -

HREE S =R T _FWHA=+HELFELEFE
HABEESERR  KEREFRANAGREARFER -



10. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

11.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

ENEEAR AT FiR2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023

BE-Z-_=FNA=+HLEE

10. EREF (&)

BIREAREERNIRBEA T REFE

Earnings B
2023 2022
—EC-=HF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company, MEEEREARBERIMENAAREE AELEAN
for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share i ) 13,508 20,037
Number of shares RHEE
2023 2022
—E-= T F
Weighted average number of ordinary shares R EEREAREERFM S LBRINETHERE
for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share 231,680,312 223,157,247
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. V¥ BERRE
Right-of-use
assets — leasehold Leasehold Furniture, fixtures
land and buildings impr t and equipment Motor vehicles Total
e
EE-HE HE B =B
T RIEF MR K& AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FAT FAT FHT
Reconciliation of carrying REEHER-H#E T —_—
amount-year ended 30 April 2022 WA=Z+HIEFE
At 1 May 2021 R-ZE-_—FHA—H 11,188 - 69 335 11,592
Additions NE - - 55 - 55
Depreciation nE (428) - 31) (318) (777)
Exchange realignments FEE 54,52 - - - - -
At 30 April 2022 R-E-—FWA=+H 10,760 - 93 17 10,870
Reconciliation of carrying REEHE-BE-—ZT-=F
amount-year ended 30 April 2023 B=t+HLEEE
At 1 May 2022 W-ZE-—FRAF—H 10,760 - 93 17 10,870
Depreciation e (428) - (27) (17) (472)
Exchange realignments [ 5,35 - - - - -
At 30 April 2023 R-ZB-_=FWA=+H 10,332 - 66 - 10,398
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BE-Z-=FA=1+HLEE

11.

12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Right-of-use
assets — leasehold

11.

WE - BERRE )

land and Leasehold Furniture, fixtures
buildings improvements and equipment Motor vehicles Total
R
BE-HE HE B =B
T REF MEEE KR#&E "E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET FET
At 30 April 2022 RZTZ—FWA=+H
Cost AR 15,393 83 1,093 4,476 21,045
Accumulated depreciation Z2:tirE (4,633) (83) (1,000) (4,459) (10,175)
Net carrying amount BREFE 10,760 - 923 17 10,870
At 30 April 2023 R-B-=FWA=1+H
Cost (P& 15,393 83 1,093 4,476 21,045
Accumulated depreciation BEHTE (5,061) (83) (1,027) (4,476) (10,647)
Net carrying amount BREFE 10,332 - 66 - 10,398
Notes: Hiat -

(i) At 30 April 2023, leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$10,332,000 (2022: approximately
HK$10,760,000) were pledged to secure bank facilities granted to the Group (Note 25).

(i) The total cash outflow for leases, which represents short-term lease, for the year ended 30 April 2023 was
approximately HK$552,000 (2022: approximately HK$901,000).

) RZZTZ=FNA=+8 AEEDEHF10332,0008T(=F==
4 1 4910,760,000 7T ) 2 FE + 30 R AT LA EE 5 T AN M 2 4R 1T Rk
& (MfsE25)°

(i) BE-Z-=FMA=+tARILFEAEERNEE) 2B R HeR
##9552,0008 70 (= F = —4F : £7901,0007T )

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. REMHE
2023 2022
—EBC-=F T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT

Fair value BRATE

At the beginning of the reporting period HRRE ) 239,050 243,828
Disposal BE - (11,088)
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBEER A FEZE)FHE (5,000) 6,310
At the end of the reporting period R|EHR 234,050 239,050

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purpose are measured at fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

At the end of the reporting period, the investment properties of approximately HK$234,050,000
(2022: approximately HK$239,050,000) are held under head leases with the remaining lease term
of 5 years to 820 years (2022: 6 years to 821 years).

Certain of the Group’s investment properties with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$183,200,000 at 30 April 2023 (2022: approximately HK$185,600,000) were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 25).

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at 30 April 2023. The valuations were
carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, ValQuest Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited (2022:
ValQuest Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited), who have among their staff fellows of the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (2022: Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) with recent
experience in the location and category of properties being valued. The management of the
Group has discussions with the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation results
when the valuation is performed at each interim and annual reporting date. In estimating the
fair value of the investment properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

AEEULEHEERVAFEURDES WASIEE R EER S
2B EEEEARTERNGE INBAREDEANR-

RS IR+ £9234,050,00078 70 ( = F = = 4F ¢ £9239,050,000/F
TIZREMERBBREHOFEMATHEN F528205F (=
T 6F821F)°

RZZEZ=FMA=+H"  BIRMAIE#183,200,0008 (=L
T T4F < 49185,600,000F T ) 2 AR S EE T A W E B R DU
B TAEE 2 SRITRVE (MisE25)

AEEFEREMER T _=FNA=TREHEE HER
B REMOTHBET(ER)BRAR(ZFE-—F  FHET
(BB)ARAEET R RERFHAESMEG(—F -
FEREAHEMEE)KE 2 BERENTSMEN RN
RERBEYEETHEZER RERTPHRFEREE RET
AR AREEEECEREMTREERREEESR R
BEHREMEZ AFER ZIEVEZESEEEREAERE
Rk



12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The property interests in investment properties thereon (including the whole or part of
undivided share in the underlying land) in Hong Kong of approximately HK$211,750,000 (2022:
approximately HK$216,350,000) are held by the Group as the registered owner. Those property
interests were acquired from the previous registered owners by making lump sum payments
at the upfront (which may be financed by a mortgage). Except for the variable amounts to be
charged by the government subsequently that are reviewed regularly with reference to the
rateable values, for example, there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the
land lease.

Leasing arrangement — as lessor

The investment properties are leased to independent third parties for a term of 1 to 3 years
(2022: 1 to 3 years), which had an initial non-cancellable lease term of 1 to 3 years (2022: 1 to 3
years). Some leases do not include purchase or termination options and some leases provide the
lessees with options to renew the leases upon expiry at new terms.

The details of the leasing income from operating leases are set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The investment properties are subject to residual value risk. The lease contract, as a result,
includes a provision based on which the Group has the right to charge the tenant for any damage
to certain of the investment properties at the end of the lease, unless the loss or damage caused
through the act, neglect, omission or negligence of the Group. Besides, the Group has purchased
insurance to protect it against any loss that may arise from accidents or physical damages of the
properties.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received from the leasing of
investment properties.

FAREARAR FR2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M EHmRMETE
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-_-FNA=THLEE

12. REWME(E)

#1211,750,00078 70 ( = F = = 4F : #9216,350,000;E L) M) E B R E
MENYEEZ(RERB LN RHTRLD T “%M’\%E)EE
REBERBEREFRHA - ZEWMHEER TR \"Eﬁw?
A (AT RBIRIB A ARE ) MAT B C X IE - Bﬁﬁﬁz}ﬁﬁ«é g2
B JE i 2 6 A (B E BRAR S AT URER B2 B S A0 - 40 - AR IR £ 3
TSGR B A

HEZHF-FRHAA

REMELRFBYF = ABME3F(—F_—F 153
F) BRAAIRBEER MBI (CF - ZF - 153F)- BT
METEERENKRILEER ARSOBERERBARER
TERRA BRI 3T a0 E B A -

REAENEERAFIBERN G A M MR -

REMEAZNHEERR Bt BEANEE —RE &
It AEBEE RN HERREBE FIREME 2 EARERER
RE BFBASIBEZRALEZ1TH B2 ERIBEME
Heltih REBCBERR  UWREAMEEBIINSMEZEL
B 5l AV EIRR -

AT B E R E MR RN E MR E E D

At 30 April 2023 HK$’000
R-B-=FMA=+A FET
Undiscounted lease payments to be received W 2 KRB E R
— within one year ——FR 2,704
— In the second year —FF 1,936
— In the third year —E=F 860
5,500
At 30 April 2022 HK$’000
REZT=Z=FMA=1+H FAT
Undiscounted lease payments to be received HUER 2 AR AR IR E R
— within one year —— %R 3,035
— In the second year —EF 592
3,627

On 29 July 2021, the Group entered into a provisional agreement with independent third parties
to dispose of an investment property with carrying amount of approximately HK$11,088,000 at
a consideration of HK$11,880,000 and the disposal was completed in September 2021 which
resulted in a gain on disposal of an investment property of approximately HK$792,000 during the
year ended 30 April 2022.

RZZEZ—F+LtAZ+NB AEEABYE = HJUBER
e A S BREE 4110880008 T2 R EAME REA
11,880,000 0 HEFEER T _—F AT BEZE=
T CFENMA=THIEFEREREYEWELI792,000/57T ©
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BE-Z-=FA=1+HLEE

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of
investment properties classified as Level 3 (Note 35) of the fair value hierarchy:

Valuation techniques

fhER

Unobservable inputs

THBEEZHABE

12. REWME(E)
AFEER

ATARSBEARTESRTE=RORED X (M35 HE
FER PR B (E R e E B ABIRA R

Range of
unobservable inputs

THBEEZHABE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

THBEEYBEATEZBE

Investment properties in Hong Kong

REBZREYE

— Commercial properties

CES/ES

— Residential properties

Investment properties in the
Mainland China
R EABEZ REYF

— Commercial property

ES/ES

Investment properties in Macau

RBPIZREYF
— Residential property

Direct comparison approach

BERLLEOR

Direct comparison approach

BEREE

Direct comparison approach

BELLEOR

Direct comparison approach

BEREE

Adjusted market price
(per square foot)

BRBEZTEETAR)

Adjusted market price
(per square foot)

RARZMEEFIR)

Adjusted market price
(per square metre)

@B E(ETHR)

Adjusted market price
(per square foot)

RARZHEEFIR)

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China is
determined using direct comparison approach by reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square foot/per square metre basis, adjusted for a premium or
discount specific to the quality of the Group’s properties compared to recent sales on the
comparable transactions. The higher the adjusted market price, the higher the fair value and a
favourable adjustment on the timing of comparable transactions will result in a higher fair value

measurement.

Fair value adjustments of investment properties are recognised in the line item “change in
fair value of investment properties” on consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. All gains (losses) recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are arisen from the investment properties held at the end of

the reporting period.

HK$8,106 to HK$38,211
(2022: HK$9,725 to
HK$37,520 )

8,106/ 7L 238,211/ 7T
ZE T T4 9,258
F37,520/87T)

HK$11,722 to HK$36,704
(2022: HK$13,490 to
HK$33,989)

11,722 7T 236,704 7T
TE T T4 134908
JTE33,989%7T)

Renminbi (“‘RMB”)
RMB26,753 to RMB29,449
(2022: RMB26,938 to
RMB35,557)
ARBE(TARE]D
AR#26,7537L%
AR#E29,4497T
(ZFE=——%F:

AR #26,938 T %
AF#355577T)

HK$5,724 to HK$6,509
(2022: HK$5,922 to
HK$6,509)

5,7247 JLE6,509/8 7T
TE T4 5987
£6,509%7T)

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

BEHEMEAZRETE - LAE
ZzTEMSATELS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

BEEMARRETE  ERE
ZEEEAFESS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

R EMEARRFE - AR
ZHEREATFESS

Assuming other factors remain
unchanged, the higher the
adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value

BEEMARRETE  ERE
ZEEEAFESS

UREE RPIRPFEAEZREMEZ A FETIERERLR
EEE  HE2EMHEENERSTAR /BRI REREE
AEZIHER BECiARERTEE 2o aERTE (A
MAEERZLBME)EHAE  HEAEZTERSNEA
FEESREAIHELERR S 2 BEREBELEFHE 98 HH

HERBZATESS -

REME L ATEREAERRGEREAMEERERFTNUIE

CUESHNZL

1=k - N REP R AL REMEE

EZ ARG (BR)EFAREREMEERERPHER



13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ENEEAR AT FiR2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023

BE-Z-_=FNA=+HLEE

13. BLEE

Customer
Software relationships Licence Total
B EFBEF BEE: st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET
Cost 2%
At 1 May 2021 RZTE-Z—F1H—HB - - - -
Additions arising from acquisition of subsidiaries FE UM B AT EEMNRE 24,859 9,349 - 34,208
At 30 April 2022 and 1 May 2022 RZEZZFWNA=+HK
—E-=FHA—H 24,859 9,349 - 34,208
Additions arising from acquisition of subsidiaries U BB B A RIEAHIRE
(Note 30) (Ktat30) - - 38,024 38,024
At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FMA=+AH 24,859 9,349 38,024 72,232
Accumulated amortisation E-S: £
At 1 May 2021 RZZE-_—F1H—HB - - - -
Charge for the year AEEEA 2,900 1,558 - 4,458
At 30 April 2022 and 1 May 2022
- - 2,900 1,558 - 4,458
Charge for the year AEEER 4,972 1,168 - 6,140
At 30 April 2023 R-B-_=FWA=+H 7,872 2,726 - 10,598
Net carrying amount REEE
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-—FNA=+H 21,959 7,791 - 29,750
At 30 April 2023 R-Z-_=FMA=+AH 16,987 6,623 38,024 61,634

Software and customer relationships are acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries in prior
year and amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 and 8 years respectively and tested for

impairment where an indicator of impairment appears.

Included in licence with carrying amount of HK$38,024,000 which represents a right of a series
of online and offline education and related curriculum and related materials, acquired through
acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 30) during the year ended 30 April 2023. The licence entitles the
Group to develop and sell an education related online application for 20 years from the date of
acquisition. The licence will therefore be amortised over the remaining useful lives of 20 years

and tested for impairment where indicator of impairment appears.

B REPBAENIR L —FEEBKBMEB ARG L0 BIRN5F
RFRREERE YN HRRED R ETRENA -

T ABRE{E38,024,0008 T 2 S Al EEHE-T-_=FMA=1TH1t
FEBEBUEH B AR (M E30) B2 — RINER REERHE N
RAABERIZFVE RN R 2 R o XTI B T AR EAEA AT g UiE
AEB20F A REERHEEENERERRER Bl &5 A
FIHEAR T 205 2 Al {F A HE Y - Wi IR E R EITRE R

=t o

B
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14(a)Goodwill arising from acquisition of Claman Global Limited and its subsidiaries (the

“Claman Group”)

Goodwill arising in prior year related to the acquisitions of equity interests in Claman Group
and was allocated to the technology and related activities CGU. The excess of the fair value
consideration transferred over the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately HK$39,331,000 was recognised as
goodwill.

At 30 April 2023, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit with reference to a value-in-use calculation based on the cash flow
projection of Claman Group. The calculation used cash flow projection based on financial
budgets approved by the directors of the Company covering a 5-year period. Cash flows
beyond the 5-year period have been extrapolated using a 2.0% long-term growth rate. This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation are as follows:

14. GOODWILL 14. HE
2023 2022
—E-=H —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Reconciliation of carrying amount FREEH R
At the beginning of the reporting period RiRE ) 39,331 -
Addition NE - 39,331
At the end of the reporting period RBEHR 39,331 39,331
Claman Group b= EE Total
ClamanfE tRIEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHxT FAT
(Note 14(a)) (Note 14(b))
(B7F14(a) (B7F14(b))

At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FWA=+H
Cost AR AR 39,331 11,383 50,714
Accumulated impairment losses ZEHREEE - (11,383) (11,383)
39,331 - 39,331

At 30 April 2022 RZZEZZFMNA=+H
Cost (D& 39,331 11,383 50,714
Accumulated impairment losses ZEHRERE - (11,383) (11,383)
39,331 - 39,331

14(a) B Claman Global Limited & E K& 2 7 ([ Claman @ |) &

EZEE

FREAZHEAKERCamanEB 2 BESH Y HREE
RERAEES 2R EA RSN - TEEAFERERBL AT
WEAENEERMAREBRESERAAFEZEZEN
39,331,000/ L HER AR E -

RZZEZ=FMNA=TH AEELERENamanEE 2
BeneRBAtE 2 CABETEABERSEELSM 2T
Bl &5 - AT E A RARBAARE S AT
BEEETZRSREREN BB FHZRESRENER
20% 2 RHEIEREFHEE o iIZREDIRBHEBITEIERIER
e BVEBBABITEZ PR RE -

AREEEREECTZERRNT ¢

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—
Long-term growth rate REER X 2.0% 2.5%
Discount rate (pre-tax) BEER X (BiAT) 23.2% 19.0%

The management of the Group performed impairment test for the goodwill and determined
such goodwill was not impaired. Reasonably possible changes in key assumptions will not

lead to the goodwill impairment loss.

AEEERECHHEETRERD  TEEZHELER

E-TERENGEAEEH T EHHERESHR



14. GOODWILL (Continued)
14(b)Goodwill arising from acquisition of 1t R EE

Goodwill arising in prior years related to the acquisitions of equity interest in 1t 5 I8 38 82
EHEREMEAAE (dERNERE”) and was allocated to the financial services CGU (“Financial
Services CGU”) for impairment.

The carrying amount of goodwill had been fully impaired during the year ended 30 April
2014 due to the uncertain market conditions.

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI

ENEEAR AT FiR2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023

BE-Z-_=FNA=+HLEE

14. BE(E)
b WEBILtRIEEEE2EHE

EHNFEEECHERRBLERIEBBREEREMEAF
(TERIEBDZREERLESRESMBRBEB RS
EXEL((eRREASEEEM DIERERRE -

HRTRTHN BEZEISEREE_T—HFNUA
=T REFECELZRE -

15 EREMEERAZRATEIRZEREE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value FETREARE RAFE
— Honest Pro (Holdings) Limited (‘Honest Pro”) — Honest Pro (Holdings) Limited ([ Honest Pro ) - -
Notes: Mzt -

Honest Pro is a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability. The principal activity of Honest Pro is
investment holding. The Group had 20% equity interests in Honest Pro. The Group does not participate in
policy-making processes, including participation in decisions about dividends or other distributions of Honest
Pro. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group does not exercise significant influence
over the financial and operating policies of Honest Pro. For the year ended 30 April 2020, a fair value loss of
approximately HK$670,000 was recognised in FVOCI reserve. Subsequent to the fair value loss recognised for the
year ended 30 April 2020, the carrying value of investment in Honest Pro is nil as at 30 April 2023 and 2022. In
the opinion of the management of the Group, there was no fair value change in the investment in Honest Pro for
the year ended 30 April 2023 and 2022.

Please refer to Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements for the details of fair value
measurement.

Honest Pro/3 R /8 a2 B &t B2 2 BBR XA © Honest Proz F B2 5
BB R o AR M Honest ProF 4 20%% # o 7% 5 [@ K /5 2 B2 B Honest Pro
DRSS AEE H At 5k 2 RESECR BB - ARAIEERA  AEE
WM REERRY EEAYEN BE_T_SFNA=1TALFE"
N {E B8 £9670,00078 LA A FERT A E A 2 E AR ENER - FEH
E-T-TFNACHBEFERAATFEBEZE RT_=FK =T
ZoFEHAZTRRZREAZEEEART - AKEEIEER A RHonest Pro
ZRERBE-T-_=FR-T-—FNA=FTALFEIATEL &S
o

BRARAFEFBZFHE 20 M HRRMEES -
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BE-CZE-=FNA=tTHLEFE

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

16. FBBBRBZEQAFPEIIRZERHEE

2023 2022
—E-=H —EF-—

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

Mt FExT FAT

Listed equity securities TR AE 16(a) 6,796 5,000
Unlisted debt securities — club memberships ELMEBES — S 16(b) 1,592 1,615
8,388 6,615

Less: Non-current portion o IEREE D (1,592) (1,615)
Amounts shown under current assets REBEEBNIREHE 6,796 5,000

At 30 April 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the financial assets represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk of those financial assets and there are no significant concentrations of

credit risk for those financial assets.

At the end of the reporting period, no financial assets at FVPL exceeded 10% of the Group’s total

assets.

16(a)Listed equity securities

At 30 April 2023 and 2022, the listed equity securities are listed in Hong Kong. The fair
values of the listed equity securities are determined on the basis of quoted market closing

prices available on the relevant stock exchanges at the end of each reporting period.

RIF-=FR-ZE-_FNA=1+H eREECREBERZ
EeRMAEZRRERARE TARZESREETREKNE

EERER -

RREER WEBRBESEATEIEZCREERBBASE
HBEEZ10% °

16(a) ET R A%

REZZBZ=FR-_T-_FMA=1+H LTREABFNE
BEM EMRAZBS 2 AFEIRERERRENEBE

HRGAFHRZ W EANEEE °

As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, during the year, the trading
of listed equity securities activities has recorded loss of approximately HK$551,000 (2022:
gain of approximately HK$360,000) from a fairly diversified portfolio of listed equity
securities at FVPL, held for trading purposes. There was an increase in asset value, this was
almost entirely due to acquisition of listed equity securities of approximately HK$2,540,000
(2022: nil) during the year, market-to-market unrealised loss of approximately HK$723,000
(2022: unrealised gain of approximately HK$234,000), and realised loss transactions of
approximately of HK$21,000 (2022 nil).

These transactions did not constitute notifiable transactions pursuant to Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rule.

16(b)Unlisted debt securities — club memberships

The Group’s investment in club membership were revalued at 30 April 2023 and 2022
based on valuations performed by BonVision International Appraisal Limited (2022:
Roma Appraisal Limited). The fair value of club membership was valued by using market
comparable approach.

uw%e%%%&%m%;w&mg FR BEE EMRAES

SBREFEESRATFENERIE LTRAZES 28

BT BAMNEIBLS5,0008 T —F - —F  WaEH
360,000/ ) BEBEEM T T2 RERFANUE L
MR AR % 42,540,0008 T( ZF==F : #&)- }**F?ﬂﬁ
R ARE L EI849723,0008 0( = F==4F - K&
234,000%8T) REBRFBEXR HHZ21, 000/%75(777:
F o fE)o

ZERGTBERBIELTRAFUENATAMRS

16(b)E LT EBES -SFEHE

FEERERERZREN - ZE-_=ZFR-T-__FOA
=TANRBEREBHEERAR(=F-—F - £F5H
B BER AR ETNHESHEE eMEENATE
RAMISLBORETRE

The movement of the club membership at FVPL is analysed as follows: AT EESABGZEeE B OUOT -

2023 2022
—E=HF T

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
At the beginning of the reporting period RS EY) 1,615 1,592
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBEERZ A EZEFHE (23) 23
At the end of the reporting period R|BEHR 1,592 1,615




17.

18.

FORFEITED COLLATERALS HELD FOR SALE

During the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022, the Group obtained assets by taking possession
of collaterals held as security. The nature and carrying value of these assets held as at 30 April

are summarised as follows:

ENEEAR AT FiR2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
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17. HFERRYEAR R
HEZT-=FR-_T__FNA=THILFE A£EEBH

BREEROENREREE RUA=THEZSEEZHER
SREERANT -

2023 2022
—E-=HF —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Forfeited collaterals held for sale —a mix of gold and jewellery &R FUIRIFR —=& MHKEAS 282 310

The estimated market value of the repossessed assets held by the Group as at 30 April 2023 and

2022 was approximately to its carrying amount. It comprises

gold and jewellery in respect of

which the Group has acquired access or control for release in full or in part of the obligations of

the borrowers.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

R-F-_=FR-T-__FHWNA=F+H AEEMHFLEKEEE
ZAET IS EE SR REERS o e Ea R % B A sz bl
URBRIERA DA BO B2 ED RKE -

18. FEWARRX

2023 2022
—E-=HF T

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHET TR

Accounts receivable FEWLER R
From third parties RAFE=H 122,409 125,586
Less: Loss allowance R EERE 34 (9,229) (9,225)
18(2) 113,180 116,361

18(a)Accounts receivable from third parties

The ageing of accounts receivable based on invoice date,

the end of each reporting period is as follows:

net of loss allowance for ECL, at

18(a) B E=F R

REREHMRIZBEZ AR 27 2 BARRHREHEES
B2 ERBUE) ZREDMRIIMT

2023 2022

—E-=H —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FA&TT
Within 30 days 30HA 11,641 9,584
31 to 60 days 318 %60 11,141 13,477
67 to 90 days 61HZ=90H 9,856 11,101
91 to 180 days 918 %E180H 26,511 35,396
Over 180 days HiB180H 54,031 46,803
113,180 116,361

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of accounts receivable, net of loss

allowance for ECL, by due date is as follows:

REREHM KRR A2 2 BERR(INHRERERER
ZERERE) ZREOMEIIAT

2023 2022
—E=F T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FATT

Not past due AR ER 32,639 34,162
Past due: e

Less than 30 days 30HA 8,685 11,820

31 to 60 days 31HZE60H 9,399 12,191

61 to 90 days 61HZE90H 8,426 11,384

91 to 180 days 91H=180H 54,031 28,563

Over 180 days HiE180H - 18,241

80,541 82,199

113,180 116,361

The Group generally allows an average credit period range from 30 to 180 days (2022: 30 to
180 days) to its customers. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks

and loss allowance on accounts

receivable are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

AEBERTFAEEPEEZ FHEEHNFI0R £180H
{(:}5::% F30HE180H ) AL B L S EMIT AT
BEEEhEES

BRIARSEp K E NG EERR REBRREER
A M BRI L34 -
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19. LOAN RECEIVABLES

19. BWER

2023 2022
—EC-=HF T

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHT FAETT

Loan receivables ERER
— Unsecured — 4 26,793 26,857
Less: Loss allowance o EEEE 34 (2,071) (1,249)
24,722 25,608

The loan receivables bear interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 30.0% (2022: 3.0% to 30.0%) per
annum and are repayable according to the respective loan agreements which usually cover

periods not more than one year.

a) Maturity profile

JEUWE M A R RN F3.0%230.0% = F = = F :3.0%%
30.0%) WERESBERBHEER E—RPORTEB—F-

a) ZHER

2023 2022

—E-=HF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Due within 1 month or on demand 1E B REHiskiz 25 518 1,300
Due after 1 month but within 3 months & A& 18318 A R E2IE 1,000 14
Due after 3 months 3@ A& EIE 25,275 25,543
26,793 26,857

b) Loan receivables that are not considered to be impaired are as follows: b) KWK ERMEZEWERMOT :

2023 2022

—EC-=F —F=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Neither past due nor impaired KRB ER TR ARRE 26,492 26,544
Less than 1 month past due wAILER - 3
1 to 3 months past due w1 =31 A - 3
Over 3 months past due BmEEA L E 301 307
26,793 26,857

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss allowance on loan

receivables are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

20. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FHASEREKESREE  EERRRBERBEZER
WA I T IRA M R34 ©

20. BE - BAARRR E b RERIRR

2023 2022

—EC-=HF —E--
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHET FAT
Prepayments TR 1,283 1,280
Rental and other deposits HekHEMES 20(a) 4,527 16,783
Rental receivables YA 519 576
Interest receivables FEUF B 2,015 1,411
Other receivables E e R IE 20(b) 14,936 24,788
23,280 44,838
Less: Loss allowance R EEERE 34 (6,143) (7,686)

17,137 37,152




20. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

20(a)Rental and other deposits

As at 30 April 2022, rental and other deposits included the refundable good faith deposits
with carrying amount before ECL of approximately HK$12,250,000 with corresponding loss
allowance for ECL of approximately HK$1,011,000, paid for proposed investment in equity
interest in Greenie EdTech Corporation (the “Greenie”). During the year ended 30 April 2023,
the acquisition of 51% equity interest in Greenie was completed on 8 February 2023 and the
carrying amount of approximately HK$12,250,000 was fully utilised as consideration paid
for acquisition of Greenie (Note 30) during the year.

20(b)Other receivables

As at 30 April 2022, include in other receivables is carrying amount before ECL of
approximately HK$15,000,000, with corresponding loss allowance of ECL of approximately
HK$1,239,000, which represents prepayment paid to an independent party, for support
services fee of potential business investments. During the year ended 30 April 2023, the
carrying amount of approximately HK$10,000,000 was utilised as consultancy fee and
recognised in profit or loss as a result of completion of acquisitions of subsidiaries. The
remaining amount of approximately HK$5,000,000 was paid for a proposed investment for
which the due diligence is ongoing and the acquisition has not yet been completed up to
the date of this report.
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20. ®&  BAARAREAMERIRNR (&)
20 & R EMES

RZZ-—&F#MA=+0 A RHMESBEREHREE
Greenie EdTech Corporation([Greenie )~ B e 2 (4 #)A 5t
TEEE B 18 2 BRI B 4912,250,000/8 A AR B B 1k &
BEREHEEHRNERBEERL,011,00087T - REE
“EC=FWA=FTRIEFE  KEcreenie S1%REER =
Zo=FZ ANHTEK - A RREE£12,250,0008 TE 7
FEREHBAERUE Greenie (F5E30) ST MR E -

20(h) E b FE W 518

RZTZZFHWA=1+A EthENFERERGTELRE
B E 1B/ R E4915,000,0008 7T WA MIAETEHIEEEE
BB RE 491,239,000 L (BN F— BB A L 2B K
B) DHEBEEBREZIERBER REBEE-S ==
FOA=ZTHIEFE AR THRKENRBRF  REMED
10,000,000 TEN AE AR BV E R BEAER - B T2
RB#J5,000,0008 LE X TAR—BEZLE MBREED
TR BEEARE B G BUE MR

21. INVENTORIES 21. &
2023 2022
—=2=-= —T-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
Merchandise B 233 2,533

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 30 April 2023, bank balances and cash in the Mainland China amounted to approximately
HK$8,608,000 (2022: approximately HK$9,906,000). Remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject

to the exchange controls imposed by the PRC government.

22 RITEHBRES

RZZEZ=FNA=1+H RTIBEREZRTEHLEALEHEAR
498,608,000/ 7L ( = F = =4 : 499,906,000;&C ) B & & EAF

VASNERE <7 BER AT R A0 2 SNE B R 1 36

2023 2022
—E-=HF T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHIT

Bank balances and Cash IRITHESR MRS 100,003 84,022

Bank overdrafts (note 25) RITEZ (MF25) (4,077) (26,150)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of GeEReRERANRe ME2EEER

cash flows 95,926 57,872
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23.

24.

ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER PAYABLE 23. R BERRERHEMBEMARE

2023 2022
—EC-=HF T

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Accruals FEEtRIE 4,284 3,127
Accrued retainer fee (Note) FEEHHEEE & (HYiE) 3,401 7,775
Accrued staff costs FEETE TRA 4,066 3,817
Consideration payable FERHRE 1,350 1,350
Rental and other deposits received Bl e REMZS 1,190 1,167
Other payables Hth i A~ R0E 1,009 994
15,300 18,230

Note: The accrued retainer fee are non-interesting bearing and the Group is normally being granted with credit
terms range from 30 to 150 days (2022: 30 to 150 days).

Bfst PR B AT R AEE—REF0E1S08(ZE-ZF : 30F
150K) 2 {561 -

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE 24, EARARE
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At 30 April and 1 May REOUA=+BEKAA—H 10,213 -
Contingent consideration arising from acquisition of TeamTech Uz TeamTech Digital Corporation ([TeamTech |)

Digital Corporation (“TeamTech”) EEZHARE - 9,663
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIERER 2 AT EZE)FE (2,240) 1,150
Realised during the year RAFEEEE - (600)
At 30 April RUA=+H 7,973 10,213
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RHREEHHSITIT -

Current portion BN 2,803 2,351

Non-current portion ERB S 5,170 7,862

7,973 10,213

The contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value, which is calculated based
on the expected business performance of the acquired companies of the Group. During the
year, the decrease in fair value of approximately HK$2,240,000 (2022: increase in fair value
of approximately HK$1,150,000) was recognised in profit or loss which was mainly due to the
certain levels of revenue and profit and other conditions for the year ended 30 April 2023 have
not been fulfilled.

ERIARBURATEFE MATENRERAEERKEQR
WIEMEBRRAEGLE -FR ERERAERRTERDH
2,240,000/ 7L ( == = =5« A F(EHINAI1,150,0008 7T 22
HRBE-_T-_—FMA=-FTHLEFE—EKFHKAREF
A B EL b {61 R EEAK o



25.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

At the end of the reporting period, the details of the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group
are as follows:

FAREARAR FR2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M EHmRMETE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-_-FNA=THLEE

25, FFEEE

RRERR AEEFESEEZFENT

2023 2022
—EB-=F —F=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE

— Secured bank loans —BEMRITER 41,319 43,552
— Other secured borrowings —HhBEREE 1,000 1,250
42,319 44,802
Secured bank overdrafts BEBRITEL 4,077 26,150
46,396 70,952

Carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings that are ENEtEEE Z REENE)

repayable (Note)

Within one year —FR 7,093 29,629
More than one year, but not exceeding two years BB —FEEBELRMER 2,618 3,521
More than two years, but not exceeding five years BRRFRLRAEFA 7,686 8,829
More than five years HBARF 28,999 28,973
46,396 70,952
Less: Amount shown under current liabilities B REBEETFIRERE (46,396) (70,952)

Amount shown under non-current liabilities FRBEAEBENITEE
Note: All interest-bearing borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause and are shown under current
liabilities. The amounts due are presented based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements.
The ranges of interest rates on the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are as follows:

Secured bank loans of approximately HK$8,181,000 as at 30 April 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$9,222,000) is charged interest from 0.7% per annum over 1-month HIBOR* to 2.5% per
annum below prime rate for both years.

Secured bank loan of approximately HK$1,712,000 as at 30 April 2023 (2022: HK$1,730,000) is
charged interest from 0.7% per annum over 1-month HIBOR* to 2.75% per annum below prime
rate for both years.

Secured bank loans of approximately HK$31,426,000 as at 30 April 2023 (2022: HK$32,600,000) is
charged interest 1.7% per annum over 1-month HIBOR* for both years.

Other secured borrowings of approximately HK$1,000,000 as at 30 April 2023 (2022:
HK$1,250,000) is charged interest 3% per annum over Hong Kong dollar prime rate for both
years.

Secured bank overdraft of approximately HK$4,077,000 as at 30 April 2023 (2022: HK$26,150,000)
is charged interest overnight HIBOR* or 2% per annum below the Bank’s Hong Kong dollar Best
Lending Rate, whichever is higher for both years.

*

Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate

Wizt AR SREEREREREEGRLNRBAER TR - ZE2H
SRERBERGHRARBEEEE Eﬂ%’iﬂ

AEEFSEEZARGEENT -

RZZT_=FMA=1+H2AHERRITERKLS,181,0008 T(=
T 499,222,000 ) RAEER —EABBRITRE
P B IN0.7%ZE B BB LG F FIF2.5%71 2.

RITZ=FMA=+Hz2BEEPIEITEKL,712,00087T(=
T Z4F - 491,730,000 )RR EFEIE—E A B BRITRIE
P8 IN0.7% E S BB R F F K 2.75%51 8. o

NZZEZ=FMNA=+82HEMRITE K £I31,426,000% 7T
(=ZF=—4F : 432,600, OOO%E)EAWIEF& 8 A BEBRT
FIEFRE*N1.7%:T 8

RZZT_=FMA=+HZEmEEREEL1,000,000%E (=
T4 491,250,000 ) R AEERBTREBRF R NE
F3%5T S

RZZB_=FNA=+HZEERRITEZH4,077,0008 (=
T = Z4F : £926,150,000F 7T ) AR EF ERR R BB RITRIER
ErRRITE T RERFERMEN R (AR EE AE)TE -

¥ BBIRITIRIRFE
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25.

26.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

The other secured borrowings are borrowed from a financial institution, an independent third
party, and guaranteed by unconditional corporate guarantee provided by the Company and a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary.

The bank borrowings are drawn under banking facilities. The banking facilities are secured and
guaranteed by:

(i) Investment properties of the Group with an aggregate net carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately HK$183,200,000 (2022: approximately HK$185,600,000)
(Note 12);

(ii) Leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$10,332,000 at the end of the reporting
period (2022: approximately HK$10,760,000) (Note 11); and

(i) An unlimited corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

All of the banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to subsidiaries’
ratios based on their statements of financial position, as are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the subsidiaries were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand. In addition, the subsidiaries’ loan
agreements contain clauses which give the lender the right at its sole discretion to demand
immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the subsidiaries have complied with
the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants and has made payments
according to the schedule of the loans and does not consider it probable that the banks will
exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as the Group continues to meet these
requirements. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in Note 34
to the consolidated financial statements. As at 30 April 2023 and 2022, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities had been breached.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the years
ended 30 April 2023 and 2022.

25,

26.

FFEEE@E)
HiBRMERDER —HUBERE  —2BUE=7 YhA
RARHZ BRI LEERR BB QR Z FFERBRER

RITHE B RTTRE AL - SRITALE DA T 205 S4BT

(i) RIS HKREERFEL183,200,0008T( ZF=—4F : 4

185,600,000;% 7T ) 117 5 Bl E 3% (Hiit12) :
(i) AMEBRZEE - REFA10,332,0008 0 ( = F==
F 110,760,000 )(F1at11): &
(i) ANREREEBEARER -
FTARTREYAEFENBAR I R(ERAEFBHRRER)AE

BRMRGEKR DA RS ERANESRBBR L BEAR
Herp o B A RE R Z % BIBRBWRE N AREREE -

LS - MY AR 2 B R A A B T RS A 2 RS e
ERENFERE G - M A w B AR RS ETRE MEITE
BlgRE

RHYUTREZHNEN 45— FikstElEER
REAEHBEETREMTE RITE TR
IFEEMBEREZRER - AEEERRIERBG 21— S ER
NINE AT ERRMTM N = F R T - —FOA=+
B iEEREDIRIEE G AR -

ELER IR

NTARBE-Z-_=F LT -_—_FNA=THLFEDHE
RZEEHBABREZS-

Fair value

adjustments Unrealised fair

arising from
acquisition of

value change
in investment

subsidiaries properties Total
B H B A REYEZ

BEZAVERRE RERAFEED wst

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET FHET

At 1 May 2021 R-ZE-_—FHA—H - 809 809

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 30) BB AR (A7530) 5,644 - 5,644

Credit to profit or loss P AEE - (268) (268)
At 30 April 2022 and 1 May 2022 RIZZZFWA=+HK

ZEZZHRA—H 5,644 541 6,185

Credit to profit or loss FFABE (1,013) - (1,013)

At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FMA=+AH 4,631 541 5,172

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$59,350,000 (2022: approximately HK$69,419,000) available for offset against future profits,
no deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

R|EHR NEB G A RE AR EEAI59,350,00008 7T

(ZZEZZF : #969,419,000/% 7T ) 7] FA MK 85 KR S 7 - AR
AIFBAIAR TR - M EERECHBEE - ASHAHEBIE
] 4 PR A4S o
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
2023 2022
—E-=HF T
No. of shares HK$’000 No. of shares HK$'000
RHEHE FHET fi&17 & B FAET
Authorised: SEE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each FIREE0.04/8 T2 ZiEAR
At the beginning and the end of the REEH AR K
reporting period 5,000,000,000 200,000 5,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR :
At the beginning HRERT 227,074,833 9,083 192,189,833 7,688
Issue of shares in respect of LU BB P B 2 R B 1 TR
acquisitions of subsidiaries (Note) (Ktat) 20,500,000 820 34,885,000 1,395
At the end of the reporting period RIREHIK 247,574,833 9,903 227,074,833 9,083

28.

Note:

On 8 February 2023, the Company allotted and issued 20,500,000 consideration
shares at an issue price of HK$0.378 per share to acquire approximately 51% equity
interest in Greenie. Details are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

On 11 June 2021, the Company allotted and issued 34,885,000 consideration shares at
an issue price of HK$0.45 per share to acquire approximately 17.8% equity interest in
Claman. Details are set out in Note 30 to consolidated financial statements.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from
time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company adopted on 30 September 2011 had been expired
on 29 September 2021. The Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
pursuant to a ordinary resolution passed on 31 October 2022. The purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. The Scheme unless otherwise cancelled or amended, remains in force for 10 years
from that effective date which was expired during the year ended 30 April 2033. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including non-executive directors,
employees of the Group, any other groups or classes of suppliers, customers, subcontractors
or agents of the Group and the Company’s shareholders determined by the directors of the
Company as having contributed or who may contribute to the development and growth of the
Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholder’s approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the official closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of the
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

28.

Hrat

RZBZ=FZANA ARARIKRETESR3I7SE TR &
#1720,500,000 % (X B B LAU FE Greenie#I51% A% 1 © FF 1B & ER
B I TEIRE M FE30

RZZZ—FX A+ B KRB ITESR4SBTEER
%£7734,885,000% LB B 10 LAY BE Claman £917.8%A% 1 » S I E A
fRE SRR MIEE30

LTRRHE AR RRBTRE IR RE  YHRNADBTRRA
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer,
upon the payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during the period commencing
from the date on which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and expiring on a date
to be notified by the directors to each grantee, which shall not be more than 10 years from the
date on which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted. There is no minimum holding
period before an option may be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors of the Company, but may
not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’
meetings. No share options under the Scheme were granted and outstanding during the years
ended 30 April 2023 and 2022.

29. RESERVES

(a) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
share premium account are distributable to shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(b) Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve relates the property reclassified from owner-occupied to
investment properties. For such reclassifications, the accumulative increase in fair value
at the date of reclassification in excess of any previous impairment losses is included in
the property revaluation reserve and will be transferred to retained earnings upon the
retirement or disposal of the relevant property.

(c) Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the amount by which the Company’s issued
share capital has been diminished on the cancellation of the shares purchased. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the capital redemption reserve may be applied
by the Company in paying up its unissued shares to be allocated to shareholders of the
Company as fully-paid bonus shares.

(d) Statutory surplus reserve

According to the articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of its net profit after tax, as determined
in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve. When the balance of the statutory surplus reserve reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’
registered capital, any further appropriation is optional. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of a dividend to the shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up previous years' losses, if any, and may
be converted into capital in proportion to their existing shareholdings, provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

(e) Financial assets at FVOCI reserve

Financial assets at FVOCI reserve represents cumulative gains and losses on revaluation of
financial assets at FVOCI recognised in other comprehensive income less those cumulative
gains and losses recycled and transfers amounts from this reserve to accumulated losses
upon derecognition of financial assets of FVOCI.
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29. RESERVES (continued)

(f)  Exchange translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

30(a)Acquisition of Greenie Group

On 28 October 2021, VG Investment Assets Holdings Incorporated (“VG Investment”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a share purchase agreement
(the “Agreement”) with Mr. Wun Kam Hoi, an independent third party, in relation to
the acquisition of 51% equity interest in Greenie and its subsidiary, Greenie EdTech
Limited (together the “Greenie Group”). Pursuant to the Agreement, the consideration
shall be HK$20,400,000 which comprises cash consideration of HK$12,645,875 and as
to HK$7,754,125 by the allotment and issue of 20,500,000 consideration shares of the
Company (the “Consideration shares”) at an issue price of approximately HK$0.378 per
share.

Greenie is an investment holding company and holds the entire equity interest in its
operating subsidiary, Greenie EdTech Limited, and the Greenie Group is principally engaged
in provision of technology-enhanced education technology solutions and services.

The transaction was completed on 8 February 2023. Details of this acquisition were
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 28 October 2021, 17 December 2021
and 8 February 2023.

In the opinion of the directors, this acquisition did not constitute business combination as
defined in HKFRS 3 (Revised) “Business Combinations”. Therefore, the acquisition had been
accounted for as acquisition of assets during the year ended 30 April 2023.

The directors of the Company have engaged BonVision International Appraisals Limited to
provide assistance in determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the Greenie
Group and Consideration Shares in accordance with HKFRSs. BonVision International
Appraisals Limited has reviewed the methodologies, the key valuation parameters and
business assumptions adopted.

The Company issued 20,500,000 ordinary shares as part of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of the Greenie Group. The shares issued were valued based on the recognised
amounts of net assets of the Greenie Group (net of non-controlling interests) in excess of the
amount of other consideration for the acquisition.

The non-controlling interests in Greenie Group recognised at the acquisition date was
measured by reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of
Greenie Group and amounted of HK$18,636,000.

Since acquisition and up to 30 April 2023, Greenie Group has not commenced its business,
neither revenue nor profits were contributed to the Group’s revenue and profit for the
period, between the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting period.
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
30(a)Acquisition of Greenie Group (Continued)

The following summarises the consideration paid and the amount of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

30(a) i Greenie 2@

30. WEBMIB DB (42)

)

TR A e N RERAKBEERAREZAE
ZER:

Greenie Group
Greenie £ [H

HK$'000
FAT
Net assets acquired: ERBEESRE:
Intangible assets (Note 13) | EE (M aE13) 38,024
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS "
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FERTEOE - BIE S R E M FE S FR0R 3)
Total identifiable net assets BB REEERE 38,032
Non-controlling interests e i (18,636)
19,396
Consideration paid/payable, satisfied by: BN EARE A THARXM :
Cash consideration ReRE 12,646
Consideration Shares RERD 6,750
Adjusted consideration KARRE 19,396
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of WENBEARCREREDIT
subsidiaries
Cash consideration paid ERERE (12,646)
Deposits paid (Note 20) BASES (K1520) 12,250
Bank balances and cash acquired BMERITESR LIRS 1
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisitions BEWENB AR ZE & KBS SEER GH F5E
of subsidiaries (385)

30(b)Acquisition of Claman Group

On 22 October 2020, VG Investment, a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
acquired 23 shares or approximately 17.8% equity interest in Claman at a consideration of
HK$15,689,250 from Allyking International Limited (“Allyking”), an independent third party.
The consideration was paid for by allotment and issue of 34,885,000 consideration shares of
the Company at an issue price of HK$0.45 per share (the “Further Acquisition of Claman”).

On 27 November 2020, VG Investment and Claman entered into a subscription agreement,
pursuant to which Claman conditionally agreed to issue, and VG Investment conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, 26 additional shares issued by Claman at a cash consideration of
approximately HK$14,100,000 (the “Subscription of Claman”).

After the completion of the Further Acquisition of Claman and the Subscription of Claman
on 11 June 2021, the number of shares issued by Claman was increased from 129 shares
to 155 shares, and VG Investment has stepped up its equity interest in Claman, holding 78
shares which is equivalent to approximately 50.3%, and Claman became an indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

30(b) i B Clamank &

RZZZZEF+A-+ R ARBRZEEZENBAR
VG InvestmentIA X {815,689,25078 7t B %8 32 5 = HAllyking
International Limited ([Allyking)) 4 B Claman 2 230% % 15 sk
17.0%ic - RECBEBRETETR4SE TR K3
734,885,00008 A 2 BB AR 2 ([ Clamani — U B
e

RZZZZTF+—HAZ++tH V6 InvestmentéiClamani] iZ
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H#Z 1558 BE 1D 0 LA KVG InvestmentE 5 23R FH A Claman 2
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

30(b)Acquisition of Claman Group (Continued)

Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 22 October
2020, 27 November 2020, 27 May 2021 and 11 June 2021.

The above step-up acquisition constituted a business combination and had been accounted
for using the acquisition method under HKFRS 3 (Revised) “Business Combinations”.

The directors of the Company have engaged Roma Appraisal Limited to provide assistance
in determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the Claman Group and
consideration Shares in accordance with HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”. Roma
Appraisal Limited has reviewed the methodologies, the key valuation parameters and
business assumptions adopted.

The Company issued 34,885,000 ordinary shares as part of the consideration paid for the
acquisition of Claman Group. The fair value of the shares issued was valued based on last
traded price of shares as of 11 June 2021.

Upon the step-up acquisition of Claman Group, the Group remeasured the fair value of its
pre-existing 22.5% equity interest in Claman on 11 June 2021 and is of view that there was
no fair value change at the acquisition date. The goodwill arising from the acquisition of
Claman Group is attributable to the growth and profit potential as a result of benefiting
from the growing demand in financial technology services industry. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The receivables acquired with a fair value of HK$23,465,000 at the date of acquisition had
gross contractual amounts of HK$23,465,000. The non-controlling interests in Claman Group
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the proportionate share of
recognised amounts of net assets of Claman Group and amounted of HK$16,964,000.

30(c)Acquisition of TeamTech and its subsidiaries (“TeamTech Group”)

On 17 August 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company entered into a share
purchase agreement (‘Agreement”) with Faith Honest International Co. Ltd. in relation to
the acquisition of the entire equity interest in TeamTech, which is an investment holding
company and holds approxiamterly 51% equity interest in its operating subsidiaries,
TeamSoft Technologies Limited (“TeamSoft”) and Four Directors Ecommerce Limited,
(together the “TeamTech Group”) and; TeamTech Group is principally engaged in software
and ecommerce business.

Pursuant to the share purchase agreement, the maximum consideration is HK$16,500,000
which comprises of and is to be satisfied by the Group in the following manners:

(i) Initial consideration

The initial consideration of HK$1,500,000 which is to be settled in cash of HK$750,000
upon completion and another HK$750,000 within 90 days after the completion,
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions.
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30. WEBMIB DB (42)
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

30(c)Acquisition of TeamTech and its subsidiaries (“TeamTech Group”) (Continued)

(ii) Contingent consideration

A maximum of HK$15,000,000 which will be settled in cash upon fulfilment of
certain levels of revenues and profits of TeamSoft, and the Group shall have received
dividends of not less than certain amounts as stipulated in the Agreement from
TeamTech for the years ended/ending 30 April 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025.

The transaction was completed on 30 September 2021 and a portion of initial
consideration of HK$750,000 was duly paid during the year ended 30 April 2022 and
the conditions for the remaining initial consideration of HK$750,000 were met but not
yet settled and therefore it was recognised as consideration payable as at 30 April 2022
in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 17 August
2021.

The above acquisition constituted a business combination and had been accounted for
using the acquisition method under HKFRS 3 (Revised) “Business Combinations”.

The directors of the Company have engaged Roma Appraisal Limited to provide
assistance in determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the TeamTech
Group and contingent consideration in accordance with HKFRS 13 “Fair Value
Measurement”. Roma Appraisal Limited has reviewed the methodologies, the key
valuation parameters and business assumptions adopted.

The fair value of contingent consideration was arrived at based on discounted cashflow
of TeamSoft’s forecast financial budgets used to capture the present value of the
expected future economic benefits that will flow into TeamSoft by applying probability-
weighted average of achieving the required benchmark, using discount rate of 15.9%.

As the contingent consideration covers a period of more than one year, there are more
interactions to be assessed for the results. Probability-weighted payout approach is
therefore adopted as the simulation produces distribution of possible outcome values.
By assuming probability distributions, variables can have different probabilities of
different outcomes occurring. Probability distributions are a much more realistic way
of describing uncertainty in variables of the result.

The amount of contingent consideration to be settled is subject to certain guaranteed
revenues and profits, therefore, at the completion date, the contingent consideration is
classified as liabilities, measured at fair value. Subsequent changes to the fair value of
the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss of the Group.

The receivables acquired with a fair value of HK$7,669,000 at the date of acquisition
had gross contractual amounts of HK$7,669,000.

The non-controlling interests in Claman Group recognised at the acquisition date was
measured by reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets
of TeamTech Group and amounted of HK$10,557,000.

30. WEBMIB DB (42)
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of subsidiaries acquired during the year
end 30 April 2022 as at the respective dates of acquisitions are set out below:
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30. WEBMIB DB (42)

REWERS BZ T -_—_FHA=THILFERBEZHNEA
AR EREER BB ATFESRIIT

Claman TeamTech
Group Group Total
Claman TeamTech
£H 3 | st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET
Net assets acquired: BWBEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment WE - HE kG - 43 43
Intangible assets BIVEE 9,349 24,859 34,208
Inventories FE - 269 269
Trade receivables B EWGRIE - 7,562 7,562
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be  FET IR E At FE AR 5 23,465 107 23,572
Bank balances and cash RITEBEIRE 4,963 174 5,137
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FEEH30E IR S R EMER R IE (2,089) (7,192) (9,281)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIE S & (1,542) (4,102) (5,644)
Total identifiable net assets, at fair value BRAFEIRZ AR EEFELR 34,146 21,720 55,866
Non-controlling interests eI (16,964) (10,557) (27,521)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 14) W EE 2 g2 (HiiE14) 39,331 - 39,331
56,513 11,163 67,676
Consideration paid/payable, satisfied by: UTRHARNEECH EARE
Cash consideration RENE 14,100 1,500 15,600
Consideration Shares RERD 18,489 - 18,489
Contingent consideration — cash (Note 24) SARE - R e (HiF24) - 9,663 9,663
Total consideration transferred, at fair value RATEEERARE 32,589 11,163 43,752
Fair value of pre-existing 22.5% equity interest in T EE H BB ClamanIi 1722, 5% A% i 2
Claman at the date of acquisition NEE 23,924 - 23,924
56,513 11,163 67,676
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the ERREHMBARZRESRESN
acquisition
of subsidiaries
Cash consideration paid ENEERE (14,100) (750 (14,850
Bank balances and cash acquired BUBERITABR KA S 4,963 174 5,137
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the ARAWENBAR 2R RRSZE
acquisitions of subsidiaries BB R (9,137) (576) (9,713)
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31. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table shows the information relating to the non-wholly owned subsidiary, Greenie
Group, Claman and TeamTech that has material non-controlling interests (‘NCI”) during the year
ended 30 April 2023. The recognised financial information represents amounts before inter-

company eliminations.

As at 30 April 2023

31. FERER

TRETEE-_ZT-

ZHENA=ZTRIEFERBERERIFE

MerE ([ FEIER IR ) 2 FER B M B R AlGreenie& B - Claman &
TeamTechZ %} - BRI S ERHE R AIME AT 2 25 -

R-E-_=FNA=1H

Greenie Group

Claman Group

TeamTech Group

Greenief @ Claman% @ TeamTech @

Proportion of NCI's ownership interests IR = P A R R L A 49% 49.7% 49%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHEx FET TR

Non-current assets IEMENAE 38,024 6,622 17,023
Current assets REEE 11 66,966 18,731
Current liabilities VE=N (3) (21,094) (5,425)
Non-current liabilities EREAE - (1,349) (3,281)
Net assets AEFE 38,032 51,145 27,048
Carrying amount of NCI R 2 AR EE 18,636 25,409 13,254

As at 30 April 2022

R-ZZEZZFA=1+H

Claman Group

TeamTech Group

Claman& 2 TeamTech£: [

Proportion of NCI’s ownership interests FEFRE IR RE RS P A RERE 2R L 191 49.7% 49%
HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAT

Non-current assets SERBEE 7,791 22,003
Current assets MENEE 32,633 13,052
Current liabilities TEAE (362) (11,199)
Net assets BEFE 40,062 23,856
Carrying amount of NCI PRI R 2 BRE A 19,903 11,690




31. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

31. FFIERER(E)

Greenie Group

Claman Group

ENEEAR AT FiR2023
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023

BE-Z-_=FNA=+HLEE

TeamTech Group

Greenie5E @ Clamanf® TeamTech%EH
From 8 From 11 From 30
February June 2021 September
2023 (date of (date of 2021 (date of
acquisition) For the year acquisition) For the year acquisition)
to ended to ended to
30 April 2023 30 April 2023 30 April 2022 30 April 2023 30 April 2022
H-E-=% B-E-—F BE-T-—fF
—ANH BZE ~A+—H BZ NA=+H
(€6 1=F:0DF —EC=F (WERERE —2== (MEaE)Ees
ZECZZH MA=+A s MA=+A i
mA=+H HEE MA=+H LFE mA=+H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER TER FHET THER FHT
Revenue Wi - 46,195 39,377 14,149 19,632
Other income Hiplle A - 132 32 72 -
Expenses 53 - (35,243) (33,494) (11,028) (17,321)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the HARE T K 2 W RS e ks
period - 11,084 5,915 3,193 2311
Profit and total comprehensive income for the SRR RS PRI ER S A I
period attributable to NCI 2EWEEE - 5,506 2,939 1,564 1,133
Net cash flow from (used in): SR BEERERE
Operating activities T - 27,598 5,462 (558) (1,819)
Investment activities REEE - - _ _ _
Financing activities REES - - - (224) 2,505
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32. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 32. MERERBERZEHNER
FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) ETEHHRERS
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, BGAMBERREMIBIBREZ BRI REBBE T EE
the Group had the following major non-cash transactions: FERLTH
During the year ended 30 April 2023 the Group allotted and issued 20,500,000 consideration REBEE_E_ZFUNA=Z+THLFE A£EBBRER
shares of the Company as a part of consideration to acquire 51% equity interest in Greenie. 1T 72K A 7]20,500,0008% (KB B 19 - 1E & 39 KB LA EE

Greenie#J51%% # o

During the year ended 30 April 2022 the Group acquired approximately 17.8% equity RBEE-_—FWNA=1THIFE NEBFBAK L
interest in Claman at a consideration of HK$15,689,250 by allotment and issue of 1T 2572 T)34,885,000 A% B A% 17D » LA E15,689,2507% T Ui &
34,885,000 consideration shares of the Company. Claman#717.8% % # o

During the year ended 30 April 2022, the Group entered into supplementary agreements HEZZ-—_FNA=Z+—HALFE AEEHREESH
in respect of commission of approximately HK$4,906,000, which was settled through the 4,906,000 LA A RTE BN BEEEBEAF N 2A
refundable good faith deposits paid in previous year. REREZES M-

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BMETBEEZEBZHE
The movements of the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows: NEBBMETHEEZBEZEEHNOT

Interest-bearing

borrowings
FTEEE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 May 2021 R-ZE-_—FHA—H 22,139
Finance costs B 591
Cash inflow (outflow) in financing activities: BMETBZRESRACKL):
Addition of interests bearing borrowings SFREEZRE 35,829
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings RN EEE (13,166)
Interest paid BAFIE (591)
At 30 April 2022 and 1 May 2022 R-BE-—FNA=+HR=-ZT=—FHA—H 44,802
Finance costs B IR 1,380
Cash outflow in financing activities: BMETBZRERD
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings EEFEEE (2,483)
Interest paid BEASFIE (1,380)
At 30 April 2023 R-ZB-=FTA=+H 42,319
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BEALRE
In addition to those transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRGEETBHmERE M TRBRNT S, AR NEERE
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related parties during the years ended BT _=FER_T-__FNA=THIEFEREAREALTE
30 April 2023 and 2022: TATRS
Remuneration for key management personnel (i.e. directors) of the Group AEETEEEAS(PES) 2L
Further details of the directors’ emoluments are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial EEME 2 FSHFFHIR G A B RRMES -

statements.



34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of accounts receivable, loan receivables,
deposits and other receivables, bank balances and cash, financial assets at FVPL, accruals
and other payables, contingent consideration payable, bank overdrafts and interest-bearing
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance for

the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk including (interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below. The Group also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial instruments.

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

ENEEAR AT FiR2023
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-_=FNA=+HLEE

34. BIBEABEEBEREE

AEEZTESRTAGFERERR BRER REREME
WHR RITESREAS BRRERATEIRIEREE
et BEARAMENTR BNEIRKE  RITEX R BME
E-ZEeRMIAZIEMBRATNEEXBEESETRNE

%o

AEESRTAMEENTIERBR ATSER(EFERELE -
SRR RRAERRER) EERREADECRER EFGE
RYRSEEERE Ll SBERAR2BER  LHAMT - KEE TR
EEMAERTAELNMSERRR -

ERTAZEFBRCARTIISE

Financial Financial

assets at assets at
At 30 April 2023 amortised cost FVPL Total

R A EiBEE

STEZ BRAFEIRZ
R-ZBE-=fMA=+H SREE SREE “@et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET

Assets BE

Club membership at FVPL FERERRATEIE 2 GMEsE - 1,592 1,592
Accounts receivable FEURBR TR 113,180 - 113,180
Loan receivables JEWE T 24,722 - 24,722
Deposits and other receivables R& RE b EUGRIE 15,854 - 15,854
Listed equity securities at FVPL FEiRBRE A TESEZ ETRAES - 6,796 6,796
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RS 100,003 - 100,003
Total st 253,759 8,388 262,147

Financial Financial

liabilities at liabilities at
amortised costs FVPL Total

R R A EiBEE

SRz BRATFEIEZ
k=% =Ri cRaRE Foh
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET

Liabilities afE

Accruals and other payables FESTRUIE I H At FE A 7K0R 10,044 - 10,044
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 4,077 - 4,077
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 42,319 - 42,319
Contingent consideration payable R B RRAE - 7,973 7,973
Total st 56,440 7,973 64,413
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

Financial Financial
assets at assets at
At 30 April 2022 amortised cost FVPL Total
R KA 2 BATE
RZZ=Z=FMWA=+H ZEmEE FIfR EREE 1Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAT
Assets BE
Club membership at FYPL FEBRBRERATESIR GHEk - 1,615 1,615
Accounts receivable FEUTBR FX 116,361 - 116,361
Loan receivables FEWE 25,608 - 25,608
Deposits and other receivables 24 R H MR HIE 35,872 - 35,872
Listed equity securities at FVPL BBERRAFEYRZ FHRAES - 5,000 5,000
Bank balances and cash BITHEBRIES 84,022 - 84,022
Total @st 261,863 6,615 268,478
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised costs FVPL Total
FEiRiEa
IR AR AR RAFEDER
= 5= N ZeREE 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FHBT
Liabilities =8
Accruals and other payables JFE SRR N E fh PR RUR 13,246 - 13,246
Bank overdrafts BITEX 26,150 - 26,150
Interest-hearing borrowings REE 44,802 - 44,802
Contingent consideration payable e e SRR - 10,213 10,213
Total st 84,198 10,213 94,411
Interest rate risk N

Except for loan receivables, certain other receivables and interest-bearing borrowings, the Group
has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates and interest-bearing
borrowings are carried at floating rates and certain other receivables and loan receivables are
carried at fixed rates.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest risks and
the Group’s interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the
Group’s interest-bearing borrowings.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings at
the end of the reporting period:

BRERER B TEMEREERARGBERZI ARETES
Rt BEERAE FEENRARKERSREBAATE NS
MEEHNFE Bt SEERFHARGE  METEBEYK
AR W EFIREE RS

R SR (B 90 458 BT S ) ) SR b B LA S B R g - i AR SR 2 A
kAR ERETRAREFSERREEZEBRITAERS
ZRE

TERFVAEEZ S EERRERRZFIERFR :

2023 2022
—E=HF —E-_F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
YIRS FHET BRI FHET
Variable rate borrowings SEAREE
Bank overdrafts RITEX 2.0 4,077 2.0 26,150
Interest-bearing borrowings STEEE 2.3-8.0 42,319 0.8-8.0 44,802

At 30 April 2023, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 1% in interest rates would decrease/
increase the Group’s profit before tax by approximately HK$464,000 (2022: approximately
HK$710,000).

AT _=FMA=+8 fHsHEEFIRE M RW1%E R
007 52 BB AR AT R 49464,0008 70 (Z T == 4F © 49710,000/%
JT)e



34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest
rate risk for non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 1% increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates
over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2022.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s operations are mainly carried in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Operating
subsidiaries within the Group are exposed to foreign exchange risk from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not
the operating subsidiaries’ functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any related foreign exchange hedges, however the
management of the Group monitors its foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedges
should the need arise.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to foreign
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operating subsidiaries to which they relate. Such exposures arise
from the business operations in Hong Kong denominated in RMB and US$. As HK$ is pegged to
US$, the Group considers the risk of movements in exchange rates between HK$ and US$ to be
insignificant for transactions denominated in US$. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
RMB. The Company is not exposed to material currency risk at the end of the reporting period.

FAREARAR FR2023
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34. BIBABEERERBE @)

DES:NHE))

M GURE A DREFI RN RE R BB EEME T - WER
B EFEE 2 0T M T A 2 FIR @R - Z1%2 L nsom >
EEBBTEMERBRAE T —EAFERE ARG LR
R HE_T__FNA=FTRHIFEZHNIMABRELE
AT

SMERBR

AEEEBTECEBRTEARE - AEBMEAT 2 EEMBER
FAPTARZINERR - REGFEALEMB AR 2Nt EHHE
ZHERERGREREAERAE -

R SR (B3R B O R AE (R AR BROMNE S0 - AR B 2 B IR R R A
FERB - W B TR B o

TRADFAEERRERRZEBLENBERTDEEEBIAIN
BRHEZEHREEXA EFJ’TFEZQ\\[HKW cHERBEL
ERBBUAARBRETAHEZERZE a8 EXTTH
8 AEERRERNIAZTAEZR %ﬁﬁ%“}%%éﬁ%iZFgﬁ@
REHEMITBR - ELHEARNEEIERZARE - AQF

RNEEHRL EMEERGERAR -

2023 2022
—EC-=HF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Overall exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities: B R EERBEMREL 2K
Bank balances and cash: RITEBREES
RMB AR 48 955

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit before tax in response
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period.

TRETRBERRFTEBAAIERNAMZINEER 2 12
ﬁéféib < AEBBBADNG R HR 2 HOEE

111

2023 2022
—Eg=-= —E-—

Increase Increase

(decrease) (decrease)

in foreign in foreign
exchange rate HK$’000 exchange rate HK$'000

SHEER SN FEE 3
BORD) FHET EmCEL) FHETT
RMB AR 10% 5 5% 48
(10%) (5) (5%) (48)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to Group’s exposure to
currency risk for non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The stated changes in foreign currency
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates
over the period until the end of the next annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2022.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments of trading
securities classified as listed equity securities at FVPL.

The Group’s listed equity investments are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy or sell
trading securities are based on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities
compared to that of the stock market index and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s
liquidity needs.

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

SMERB(E)

BEE ST Y BRSMEER R A S AR R DT - 180
REARRGEN 2 (R UET A KA T
BB
EEERBRET TSR ARl RE 8
BT CAMASTALFEZANAAERERET -

RAEE R

AEEAGRSBRAEBRERATEINELTRAERZEE
EFNEFREMEENBRABREHRR

AEEZ FHEFRENBRALET BEXHEETEESF 2R
ENERSRAERENEFHEREENSIEEREBITER
BRZRBURAKEZRBESTEME

At 30 April 2023, it is estimated that a change of 30% (2022: 15%) in the relevant stock market R-ZZE-=FMA=+H0 EHERETSEHR(GELHIREM
index (for listed investments), with all other variables held constant, would have changed the S)EEB0%( T - —F - 15%)MTA EMEEEE G5 A
Group’s profit before tax as follows: EEZBRBANATESMTRATES :
2023 2022
—=F —E-—F
Increase Increase
(decrease) in (decrease) in
equity price HK$’000 equity price HK$'000
RAE fRA(E %
O A) FHET EmORL) FAT
Changes in the relevant equity HERERKRESH 22 :
price risk variable:
Increase i 30% 2,036 15% 750
Decrease e (30%) (2,036) (15%) (750)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in
the stock market index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to the exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date. It is
also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s investments would change in accordance with
the historical correlation with the relevant stock market index or the relevant stock market index
or the relevant risk variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables over the period until the end of the next annual reporting
period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 30 April 2022.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, loan receivables, deposits and other receivables, and bank balances and
cash. At 30 April 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising from
the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all accounts receivable and applies general
approach to assess ECL on other financial assets at amortised cost including loan receivables and
deposits and other receivables. To measure the ECL, loan receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

HRESTET  BRBETSESIEMABRRESNEE
AR Z2BENMERRELE  WERANRRZ B BFENRAE
REE - IRBRARERE 2 AT EMZRARKE SRR
FRRREE 2 ELARIEmED  mATEEthESRSTE -
Flth 2 BB e TR A AAERETSERAARRARESER
HAZET - EFERESHRTEERZABIREY - HE_T
ZoFMA=TREFEZ AN IRAARELEETT

FERE

FEERBERGHFIETEGNERRAEBSRUBES
2R AREZEERRE RS BUEERR  BKRER 2E
REMBRFBEBARRITESRIRE R_F_=ZFWA= +
B AEBERZEFHIREREARRERSFHIERRER
BERTATMERAEEELMBERNERNT AEEENK
REERBREEWEIRRKRAIZSEENREE - AEET
EREEMERRREMERARANRERESREESRH
EERR

AEEREBEFEF B RELRFORA TR EHRIES
ERERBE AHFRAMAEREEREFRAZHESEEHRR
B YRA—RIDENTRREEKAABZEMSREE(E
FERIREFARZRS KA YRR 2 RAEEER - Rt 8
BHEEER BEERCEARGERREZS M AKED
ETEEAN UREZEEERRREREEEREN I RLH
g HEERAANAE AR IEER -



34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arises when the Group
has significant exposure to individual customers.

In respect of accounts receivable, and deposits and other receivables, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each debtor. The default risk
of the industry and country in which debtors operate also has an influence on credit risk. At
the end of the reporting period, other than the accounts receivable gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$122,409,000 (2022: approximately HK$125,586,000) (Note 18) as discussed
below, the gross carrying amount of the refundable deposits of approximately HK$5,000,000
(2022: approximately HK$27,250,000) (Note 20), and the gross carrying amount of loan
receivables of approximately HK$26,793,000 (2022: approximately HK$26,857,000) (Note 19) as
discussed below, the Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk which individual
balance at the end of the reporting period.

At 30 April 2023, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as approximately 8% (2022: 7%) of
the total accounts receivable was due from the Group’s largest customer and approximately 31%
(2022: 30%) of the total accounts receivable was due from the Group’s five largest customers.

At 30 April 2023, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as approximately 29% (2022: 27%)
of the total loan receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and approximately 75%
(2022: 74%) of the total loan receivables was due from the Group’s five largest customers.

Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as to the economic environment.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group reviews the recoverability of each trade debt at the end of each reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies
simplified approach on accounts receivable to provide for the ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9. The
Group measures loss allowance for accounts receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for
accounts receivable as at 30 April 2023 and 2022.
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34. BIBABEERERBE @)

FERBE)

FEERZZEERRIEXSRTFZERNFIEXE  HAit-
WAEERENEFAZERAR EHREASEET2EER
2Rz o

REUREFAR LS REMBERRENS  AEBAZZEE
EREBIEEHAZEARNGRATTE - B ALCEMETE
RERZEHRBRITEEEERR -RBEHKR BT XA w
2 HBRE B4 5122,409,0008 L2 EWR (= F==F : 47
125,586,000/ 7T )(Mi5E18) - B AR B 49 45,000,0007%8 7T 2 Al iR
Re(ZFZZ4F : £927,250,000/ 7T (M 5E20) REBREELN B
26,793,0005% 7T 7 FEUT B 3 ( = F = —4F : 426,857,000 7T (It
H19)00 AEBERREPHARL EER LR HEREERR
EFIER -

ZSFMA=+TA AEEEEERBREPRBEIN £98%
(ZF==F  7%)NEREFAEABRRAEBRZAEE 2K
B A RAIB31%( = F=ZF - 30%) EWER R B AR AEE
AREP 2

RZZFZ=FNA=1tR AREAEEERRETER  £29%
(ZFB-—F  27%) WEIRER BB RBRARERAE P 2K
B ARKT7S%( —FZZ4F - 74%) B E R E RERAEE
hAREFPZHE.

JEWRRF A Rz R M JER R

SRR EA BREGEER 2B EL - BRIFTRES
REFBEXNIHFRZ 28 AR BATXN 28N Ltk
EPRBZEPARN KBRS

REGERBBRERE FEEEREEEZR—XEAKAEET
EERE FHEERPTEMESREFIARR LK DS HET
ERERETE - It AEBMEEER S REPREHZAE
RMERS 2 FIUR [ £ 3R - PARETE st AT R Bl & JE AR R 40 2 R (E S
B AREH B ERRRBECE  AIRE BB RS %R
FEORATRERTEHEE B R REG  ARERESNENE
HEEBERZ T ERIRR BRI FRSEHERR
BEEAE mRRAREELEEBERERMER  TRAE
Fombz BEEATEBETR  RENBERPREED 2B
BRETEE - SRARETRAEFPERIEES

TRIEHEPALEEN T _T__FMA=1aA%
RUERFEZ 2 EERBRREBHREEBIEZER

At 30 April 2023 R-FE-=FMA=+H

Gross carrying Loss Credit-
Past due ECL rate amount allowance impaired
el AHEEEEER FREAE EERE FEERE

% HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FHET
Not past due R EA 0.10 32,672 (33) No &
1 - 30 days past due wHEIIZ=30H 1.55 8,822 (137) No &
31 - 60 days past due BHI31E60H 2.42 9,632 (233) No &
61— 90 days past due #6190 H 2.55 8,646 (220) No &
91-180 days past due #EI912180H 3.18 55,807 (1,776) No &
Over 180 days past due w1 HAER 180 B 100 6,830 (6,830) Yes =

122,409 (9,229)

113



114

Vongroup Limited Annual Report 2023
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

58

FOR

BE-

34.

B R R M aE

THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023

C=FENA=tTHIEEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables (Continued)

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

EEmEE(E)
JEWIEF A R 172 RAEMEW TR (E)

At 30 April 2022 R-ZZFE-_—FWA=+H

Gross carrying Loss Credit-
Past due ECL rate amount allowance impaired
B TEEEEBEX BREAEE B FEERE

% HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET
Not past due R ER 0.10 34,197 (35) No &
1—30 days past due BENZE30H 1.44 11,992 (172) No &
— 60 days past due BHI31E60H 2.67 12,525 (334) No &
—90 days past due #6190 H 3.08 11,745 (361) No &
91-180 days past due #1191 %180 H 338 29,563 (1,000) No &
Over 180 days past due HHAER®180H 28.65 25,564 (7,323) Yes &

125,586 (9,225)

At 30 April 2023, the Group recognised net loss allowance of approximately HK$15,372,000 (2022:
approximately HK$16,911,000) for accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables. The
movement in the loss allowance is summarised below.

RZTZ=FMNA=+H FEEEREIEFIELN5372,000%8
TL(ZFEZZ4F : 916,911,000/ ) - BB E 2 EEBLMIT -

Account Deposits and
receivables other receivables Total
RBER
EWERRK HippE kA EoE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 30 April 2021 and 1 May 2021 RZE-_—FNWA=+HK
S5 T = 9,797 8,395 18,192
Increase in allowance BN 8,309 2,334 10,643
Amounts recovered BBl & 58 (8,881) (3,043) (11,924)
At 30 April 2022 and 1 May 2022 R-B-—_#mA=tHR
—E-"FHA—AH 9,225 7,686 16,911
Increase in allowance BEIL N 3,317 1,591 4,908
Amounts recovered [=RlE (3,313) (3,134) (6,447)
At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FMA=+AH 9,229 6,143 15,372

For deposits and other receivables, the management of the Group makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experiences, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. As at 30 April 2023 and 2022, except
for carrying amounts of approximately HK$4,247,000 (2022: approximately HK$4,247,000), with
corresponding loss allowance for ECL of approximately HK$4,247,000 (2022: approximately
HK$4,247,000) included in deposits and other receivables are based on lifetime ECL assessment
and categorised as underperforming, all the remaining balance are based on 12-month ECL
assessment.

Accounts receivable are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period greater than agreed contract terms.

Impairment losses on accounts receivable are presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

ECL rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

RS REMERFIENS ASEEEEREATEETH

BECHRUARSERTBUATEEENZ EERELMER TH
ke REMERREZ T REE RZB_=FR=_F==
FUA=+AH - BRIRE{EX4,247,000/8 T ( = F = =4 : 4,247,000
JBor) MEBIEEREEBREN4247008 T(=ZF ==
F 1 #94,247,000/57T) 2 {2& R EA WG IE D IR ER ETEHE
BEEETE UDBARBRRE FMAKRTEBIRETZEA
BEEEEBTE -

FEUBR R A T2 B 2 AT U B BOR R Y < 8 B A IR H 2RI
REZPR(EhaE) BB AREEREBMARGEERTE
PAR PO EBBIHE A S HIR 2 MR AREEL SO -

RN AR 2 AR BN ERF ALY AREBEFE 2R
il LR M2 8 RN E—E1TRE AREE -

FHEEBRENENBE=FLERBRERET - ZFHBR
A B DA S R A MR R S B B ) 2 A AR~ E TR
REBE R IR FHR 2 L EMRR B MNER -



34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables (Continued)

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables are set out in Notes 18 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The management monitored the financial background and creditability of those debtors on an
ongoing basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have
good credit history. In this regard, the management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Loan receivables

The Group estimates the ECL under HKFRS 9 ECL models. The Group assesses whether the
credit risk of loan receivables have increased significantly since their initial recognition, and
apply a general approach model to calculate their ECL, the management assesses impairment
loss using the risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates key measurement
parameters, including probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default, with the
consideration of forward-looking information.

At 30 April 2023, the management assessed credit quality of individual money lending customers
with reference to historical payment information. Based on the assessment, no loan receivables
was credit impaired.

The analysis of changes in the gross amount and the corresponding provision for impairment of
loan receivables in relation to loan receivables are as follow:
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34. BIBABEERERBE @)

EEmEE(E)
JEWIEF A R 172 RAEMEW TR (E)

ERAEERERERRZS AR EMEKRRIBRARZEE
Bl 2 E— S EERE A RIRMNGE B RKRMEE18520 ©

EEEREEEZSEBACUBEESRERE AREEBE
BERFEREELZZGHTFETRS URBEEERR 3
fms EEERAAKEZEERBRDABIEE-

JERE

AEEEBEEVHRELAFIRRAEEBRELFEIAD
FEEER AEEFTERKER 2 EERRE NS BBRLEE KR
i WM - AREELA FARMEEER ERERAE
SRR E2R(BEENS VERRRERELRR) QR
BRABIREDEAY E BRI AR SR ERRE -

RIZE-ZHFNA=+H EB2EL2ZBENRERTEHER
MEEP 2 EEER -BEE MEEKEREHRERRE

BRI B 4 8 A R M R AR SR 2 B BT
W -

Lifetime ECL

At 30 April 2023 12-month ECL (Underperforming) Total

2 HTEH

128 A #EE FEEE
R-ZBE-=fMA=+H FEER (ZRBEXE) “@Er
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FATT FAT
Gross carrying amount fREME 26,523 270 26,793
Less: Loss allowance B B IREE (1,801) (270) (2,071)
24,722 - 24,722

At 30 April 2022 RZZE__FMA=+H

Gross carrying amount BRE4AE 26,560 297 26,857
Less: Loss allowance B R (952) (297) (1,249)

25,608 - 25,608
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables (Continued)

As at 30 April 2023, the Group recognised loss allowance of HK$2,071,000 (2022: HK$1,249,000)
on its loan receivables. The movement in the loss allowance for loan receivables during the year
is summarised below.

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

FERRE)
JEWE (&)
RE-ZB-=FEOA=+HA AEERERKERERERER

2,071,000/ 7L ( = F = —4F : 1,249,000, 7T ) FRNEWE R 2 5
BREEEBMNT -

2023 2022

—EBC-=F —T==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
At the beginning of the reporting period RS EAA) 1,249 1,303
Increase in allowance B m 1,102 1
Amounts recovered BlkE & (250) (54)
Exchange realignments [& 5 % (30) (1)
At the end of the reporting period R|BEHR 2,071 1,249

Bank balances

In respect to the Group’s deposit with banks, the Group limits its exposure to credit risk by
placing deposits with financial institution with high credit rating and no recent history of default.
Given the high credit ratings of the banks, management does not expect any counterparty
to fail to meet its obligations. Management will continue to monitor the position and will
take appropriate action if there are changed. As at 30 April 2023 and 2022, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk in relation to deposit with banks.

In these regards, other than the credit risks mentioned above, the management considers the
Group does not have any other significant credit risk and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s other financial assets at amortised cost are considered to have low credit risk,
and loss allowance recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12-month expected
losses. The other financial assets are considered to be low credit risk when they have a low
probability of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

RiThaRR

BAEEZ RITFRME  AEEBFRFRNAEERFEEFT
MBI R MR8 MR UREIEAZ 2 EERAR -
ERZERTEARERTA EREROTEEEARZEF
BERTHEME EREMFERETHRR - WEFRE LR
bt BERREETH R-T_=FR-T-__FMA=+A"
AEBWMARITERERZSEERZEERR -

BUTE B LA EERRN ERERRSARER L EEREAMD
BEREERR MAAZZZEERRRTD TARSERES -

REHHAGTEZE ML BEE

AEERBHERAHBZAAEMEREEDRRABRER
RIREIE - I NHER 2 BEBEBERN2EAEHER - N A
HEMEEZENXRERRTANEHNABRRETEN
RERBRVNENR  HERAFRERRIE -




34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for its own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demand, subject to board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with loan covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
relies on interest-bearing borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.

The following liquidity risk tables set out the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on current
rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

FAREARAR FR2023
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BBRBEEEERBE @)
REBESER

AEERNSBEUEEERERTARRSEETFE BERESA
B ERRERSRETAENENREF L HALEFE L
?tt)&?‘iﬁfﬁgf’ﬂ‘%@ZB(ﬁ?%mﬁﬂ ERBHREARBDE SN
7 RETEERG NBERAERAVRESAEINIZER
BEISRARFESRE UWENEEHARRORDEST
Ko AEBKBETEERABRNRBDES IR

NTZhBEERRRBENGHNARBAZRERE/ELY
AEESBAERBESHRIHBTAOBR(EERANNEYL
(HAFBNR)RFERRZEEMEAEZFENT) AR
AEEAHRERNRZEFRE -
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Total
Total contractual On demand
carrying  undiscounted or less than
amount cash flow 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
BHREER RERS
HEREE ReEREE PR—F 1225 2E3F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET FAT FHET
At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-=FMNA=+H
Accruals JERT IR 5,690 5,690 5,690 - -
Accrued retainer fee FEEtIE 1,995 1,995 1,995 - -
Other payables H A fER A 1,009 1,009 1,009 - -
Consideration payable BRE 1,350 1,350 1,350 - -
Contingent consideration payable FESARRE 7,973 11,600 4,800 6,800 -
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) sEEE (K 42,319 42,319 42,319 - -
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 4,077 4,077 4,077 - -
64,413 68,040 61,240 6,800 -
At 30 April 2022 RZZEZZFWA=+H
Accruals FERTFE 3,127 3,127 3,127 - -
Accrued retainer fee fEHEEEE 7,775 7,775 7,775 - -
Other payables HAth R FRIA 994 994 994 - -
Consideration payable FENRE 1,350 1,350 1,350
Contingent consideration payable FER S ARE 10,213 14,400 2,800 4,800 6,800
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note) STREE ) 44,802 44,802 44,802 - -
Bank overdrafts RITIEX 26,150 26,150 26,150 - -
94,411 98,598 86,998 4,800 6,800
Note: et -
Interest-bearing borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than M B ERBRIER 2 BEEE LB BA Pt AR Bk

R—F | 7EBRBERN-RZE_=FNA=1+H 2t REZEKRAE
#)/542,319,000/8 70 ( = F = = 4F : £944,802,000/8 7 ) - 4S5t R A S E 2 B 1§
R AR EERBRIT T AR TEB R EREIRER - AR B EER
R RS REEBREERIBHEMEA TIEEER B EE -

1 year” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 April 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts of these
interest-bearing borrowings amounted to approximately HK$42,319,000 (2022: approximately HK$44,802,000).
Taking into account of the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe that it is
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such interest-bearing borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, as follows.

AT HEINERE

Set forth below is the maturity analysis on the term loans subject to a repayment on demand clause based on BERGFIREETERPER 2 EHERZ DD -

scheduled repayments.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

35.

34. BIBABEERERBE @)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBELER(E)
Total
Total contractual On demand
carrying undiscounted or less than
amount cash flow 1year 11to2years 2to5years Overb5 years
BHREER RERR
HEREE RERAERE DR—F 1225 2E55F SELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHETT FHETT FAT FAT FAT FAET
At 30 April 2023 R-B-=FWA=1H
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 42,319 60,419 4,856 4,321 12,183 38,789
At 30 April 2022 R-TE-—FWA=+H
Interest-bearing borrowings SFEEE 44,802 50,577 4,187 4,187 10,238 31,965

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or required to disclose
their fair value in these financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels of
the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, with the fair value
measurement categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.

«  Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the .

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

*  Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

35. AF{ERE

NTREFINBEEEVBERELNEBRAFEAEEELZ
RFEEFR=ERINA  BAFEFERERZEFHREAR
REEEERBANTECEERAME BEATVEAEREY
EEHEmMs BEACKEBRABIRET ) E - SAZREZR

BIEET -

E— R (B&EMA) - AEERF2RYARGHEREERR

«  Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or . 5

BRERMIS L2 R EABORERE):

B EAMEEREN tEERB G B R

BREEMEZHAEE R

° Edl

E=M(BERR): EERBBE L TAIBEGARE -

(a) Fair value of the Group’s investment properties that are measured at fair value (a) FEBRATFEFABRZRENEZLATE

Fair value

measurements
categorised into
Level 3
PEEE=HH
AFEFE
HK$'000
FAT
At 30 April 2023 R-ZB-=FTA=+H
Commercial properties EEYE
— Hong Kong —&# 115,350
— Mainland China — AR A BE 7,800
Residential properties FEY#E
— Hong Kong — &8 96,400
— Macau — &P 14,500
234,050
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-_—_FPA=+H
Commercial properties EEZ/ES
- Hong Kong — &5 119,300
— Mainland China — R B oK P 8,700
Residential properties EEYE
— Hong Kong — &5 97,050
— Macau — R 14,000

239,050



35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

()

(b)

Fair value of the Group’s investment properties that are measured at fair

value (Continued)

During the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they
occur. The details of the movements of the fair value measurement categorised as Level 3 of
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35. AV EFE#E)

(@) AEERQATVEFEZRENEZDTVEE)

REE-_E-_=f€R-_T_—
ME_HrBTEESE TEEAREBEE=f -AEEH2
BEAREEER RENHRERSERAN BRI
FE-DEAATFESEE-H 2 ATEFEZEFFBEN

FOA=THIFE £

the fair value hierarchy are as follows: T
Commercial
Commercial property in Residential Residential
properties Mainland properties property
in Hong Kong China  in Hong Kong in Macau Total
REBZ RPBEIKREZ REBZ PRz
[EE2/ES [GE3/ES FEYE EEMHE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET TFHET FHET FET TFHET
At 1 May 2021 —F#RA—H 113,824 8,269 105,004 16,731 243,828
Fair value change 5,476 431 3,134 (2,731) 6,310
Disposal - - (11,088) - (11,088)
At 30 April 2022 and 1 May 2022 T _FPPA=+HK
119,300 8,700 97,050 14,000 239,050
Fair value change (3,950) (900) (650) 500 (5,000)
At 30 April 2023 R-B-=FWA=+H 115,350 7,800 96,400 14,500 234,050
Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets and financial liabilities that are (b) *EEBRAFVENEZHMESBREERSCHEEZATE

measured at fair value

Relationship of
unobservable

Sensitivity of
unobservable

Financial assets/financial Fair value  Valuation techniques and inputs inputs
liabilities Fair value as at 30 April hierarchy  key inputs to fair value
FABRAAER FABRBAER
SREE SMEMH RUA=+EZAFE LAFPESER GERWNRIEZEGAZE HAVPEZBRE ZHRE
2023 2022
—E-=F —ZT——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Financial assets at FVPL
BEBERROATFEIIERZ
SREE
Equity securities
AR A FH
— listed in Hong Kong 6,796 5,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active N/A N/A
market
—&BALT E— BTS2 WE NiEA NiE A
Club memberships 1,592 1,615 Level 3 Market comparable range Assuming other factors N/A
from HK$125,000 to remain unchanged, the
HK$1,650,000 as at 30 April higher the adjusted
2023 (2022: HK$105,000 market price, the higher
to HK$1,750,000) and the fair value
individual second
quotation prices of club
memberships
Ll F=M RZZEZ=FNA=1+H T BREHBEZRIETE . TEAR

SR ELBNT
125,000/ 7T 21,650,000/ 7T
TE T T4 1050005
21,750,00087T) AR E
ez ERE_RE

gRERZTEES A

DFEMD
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35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b)

35. AV EFE#E)

Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets and financial liabilities that are (b) FEERATEHAEZHMEMEERSRABEZATYE
measured at fair value (Continued)

Financial assets/financial
liabilities

SREE SRAHE

Fair value as at 30 April

REOA=+RZATE

(&)

Valuation techniques and
key inputs

DPESE FERNRIEGARE

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs

to fair value
FABREBAER
BEAFEZER

Sensitivity of
unobservable
inputs

TREEHAER
ZHBE

Financial liabilities at FVPL

EBEBEDOFEIEKZ

A5 =N
Contingent consideration
payable

JERTER AR

2023 2022
—EBo=HF T -F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAT
7,973 10,213
7,973 10,213

(i) Discounted cash flow with

discount rate at 12.8%,
and(ii) Income approach
based on the scenario
analysis with parameters
including probabilities
assessment to the operating
results estimated by the
management under each
scenario

(VBRI R B12.8% R &7

BT RINERER
DITIIAE - 28
BREEBRESBSMA
FHRORE KA RO B R TS

(i) The higher the discount
rate, the lower the fair
value; (ii) the increase
in the probability for
base case in the scenario
analysis

(VEBREHE  ATE
HIE ()RR
FR LA 2 B S A

(i) if discount rate increase/
decrease 1%, all other
variables constant, the
fair value of unlisted
equity investment would
decrease/increase by
HK$102,000/HK$106,000;
(ii) if the probability
increase/decrease
5%, all other variable
constant, the fair value of
contingent consideration
payable increase/decrease
by HK$413,000

()M B3R =380, R A
1%+ BB Bt B B
FAE B EmK
RREZ N ERR
b/ 1 91102,0007
Tt/ 106,000/ 7T
(ii) & AT B 138 0, AL
5% » PG Eofth AT B4 A
ENE ENSARE
ZAFEE N, R
413,0007%8 7T



35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Fair value of the Group’s other financial assets and financial liabilities that are
measured at fair value (Continued)

During the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value
measurements in both years except for the derecognition of unlisted equity investments.
The details of the movements of the recurring fair value measurements categorised as Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
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35. AV EFE#E)

(b) AEEZEAFPEFABZAMEHEEREHMAEFEAZLVE
(&)

HE_Z_ZFR-_ZT-__FMA=TRHIEE BRELE
RIELMBRAREN RREAFENFE - RES -—HITE
AEZHTEER TEEANBLE=-RATEFE D
BRATESRE=RZERHERTEAEZEHFIEN
T

Financial assets

Financial assets

Year ended 30 April 2023 at FVPL at FvoCl Total
Club Unlisted equity
memberships investments
FEiBER EBHMZEKA
RATFEIE RATFEIE
CEMEE CEMEE
BE-_Z-_=FWA=+ALEE =fin—£:3 FLEHRAERE Fob
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period RIRE 1,615 - 1,615
Net changes in fair value in profit or loss BaAATEZE)FE (23) - (23)
At the end of the reporting period MRS EIR 1,592 - 1,592
Year ended 30 April 2022 BHEZT--_FNA=1THILFE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period RS B 1,592 23,924 25,516
Net changes in fair value in profit or loss BREANFEES)FE 23 - 23
Transfer out of Level 3 — derecognition upon 8P B3R — R S UE — B B A AR
step-up acquisition of a subsidiary - (23,924) (23,924)
At the end of the reporting period REREHR 1,615 - 1,615
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of Level 3 as of the date of the AEBEBNBEANESRERNEHRBEREE E HERE
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. AREHE=4 -
The only financial liability subsequently measured at fair value on Level 3 fair value HEeEREMATEAENE —cRBaEREKESE

measurement represents contingent consideration payable (Note 24). The fair value changes
that are recognised in profit or loss for contingent consideration payable amounting to
HK$2,240,000 (2022: HK$1,150,000) for the year ended 30 April 2023.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities carried at other
than fair value

The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost using the discounted cash flows analysis. The
management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their fair values.

TeamTechﬁﬁ%E’ﬁﬁ&W&F Mizk24) HE-T=—FM
A=1TBIEFE REZERAZENKIARBATEZS A
2,240,000/ 70 ( = F = =4 - 1,150,000/ ) °

(0 FAEERATVEUMNIRZEHEERERABEZIATE

AEEEEEEBERB MM - et IR HEKR AT
ZeRMEERERABBEIAFE-ARETEERR P&
ABUBRARNZEHR AR EREERSRARBLZ
FREEREEAFEBS -
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36. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 36. EXERE
The Group’s objective when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as KREBEBEERZ BNARBREBBERE 2N UAKE
a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders PR R R E A R R ARG - W EE ANEEIA
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. AR E AR ©
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of AREBAABBABRT N TREZIRESE BEEARATFIRESK
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. BITH R M s B G AN B84 -
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, which is calculated as total AEBRBEEELRERER  BEERVIRGABBERRIERE
borrowings divided by total equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. RZEERERNERESAE N E-_=F R T - _FNA
The gearing ratios as at 30 April 2023 and 2022 were as follows: =THAZBELEET :
2023 2022
—F=-= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Total borrowings BELE
— interest-bearing borrowings —sEEE 42,319 44,802
— Bank overdrafts —R1TEX 4,077 26,150
46,396 70,952
Total equity BlEw 528,704 483,412
Gearing ratio EEE RS 0.09 0.15
PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. TEMBARZFHE

37

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which affected the results, assets and liabilities as

at 30 April 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Issued and fully paid share

RIZEZ=FR-_T-_—FNA=1TH HARRIZEE &AE
REBEVEZEEZMBRARZFESINT

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary operation capital/registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ML
MEARER R REES BRTRBERE EMEX ARREERERDL TEEK
2023 2022
—E=HE B CF
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HiE Gk B L3
Allex Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
Allex Limited a5 187 bIES 37
BlackPod Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Technology and related
activities
BlackPod Group Limited & 18T R RAREE
Centrix Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
REBZARRA 5 187 WEER
Champmark Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
BREARAT 5 18T MEE
Claman British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 50.3 - 50.3  Investment holding
Claman RERRES —REEIETEBER REER
Dynasty Kingdom Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
Dynasty Kingdom Limited &b 187 MEER
Easy Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 - 100 - Financial services businesses
Easy Credit Limited B 100,000/ 7T SRIREES



37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which affected the results, assets and liabilities as
at 30 April 2023 and 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Issued and fully paid share

ENEEAR AT FiR2023
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37. TEMBARZHEEE)

REIE- =GRS -_—FNA=1TH HARARIZEE AE
REBEVEZEEWNBRARZFBEHIMOT ()

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary operation capital/registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
Bl A
MEARER RIREELS BRTRHERE FMER FAREERERDL TEER
2023 2022
—EBZ=HF it St o2
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE 53 B s

FringeBacker Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 50.3 - 50.3  Technology business
FringeBacker Limited e 2B IR
Four Directions Ecommerce Limited  Hong Kong HK$2,050 - 51 - 51 E-commerce
Four Directions Ecommerce Limited &/ 2,050/ 7T BIE%
Golden Throne Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Technology and related

activities
Golden Throne Holdings Limited EERAHE —REEIET SRR R RAEES
Greenie British Virgin Islands ~ HK$7,780 - 51 - - Investment holding
Greenie HBELES 7,780/ 7T BEER
Greenie EdTech Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 51 - - Education technology services
Greenie EdTech Limited E# 15T BERRS
House2buy Properties Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Property business
BEGMEARRA RERZES —REEIETERR MEEL
Honning Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Technology and related

activities
BAERAT &5 e HERIBRED
Jet Victory Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
EYARAR &5 %7 MERT
New Image Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
HEISEERAA &k 18T VESS S
Max Wide Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 - 100 - Trading of securities,

technology and related

activities
R BERRE B 18T EHEE MR REEED
TeamSoft Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51 - 51 Enterprise system and software
TeamSoft BE 1,000/ 7T CEERRAM
TeamTech British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Investment holding
TeamTech HBRZES —REEIET L ER BEER
Unitech Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
BEBXARAA B 18T MEER
United Luck Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
BEER A BE 18T WEER
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries which affected the results, assets and liabilities as

37. TEMBARZHEEE)

REIE- =GRS -_—FNA=1TH HARARIZEE AE

at 30 April 2023 and 2022 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Issued and fully paid share

LBBEAVEZIRMBARZFAEBRINNT (&)

Percentage of equity interest

Name of subsidiary operation capital/registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
Bl A
MEARER RIREELS BRTRHERE FMER FAREERERDL TEER
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E--F
Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE 53 B i
Vongroup Consumer Finance British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - 100 - Investment holding
Corporation
Vongroup Consumer Finance RBRIES L ERE TR 2 il BB
Corporation
Vongroup Investment Holding British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - 100 - Investment holding,
Limited technology and related
activities
Vongroup Investment Holding HBEZEE — B EEIET T AR REER  BHE R AEEER
Limited
VG Investment Assets Holdings Inc British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100 - 100 - Investment holding
VG Investment Assets Holdings Inc ~ HBELEE —REEIETERR HE R
Vongroup Consumer Finance British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Corporation
Vongroup Consumer Finance RBRELHS —RAEEIETLER BEER
Corporation
Vongroup Life Sciences Corporation  British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 each - 100 - 100 Investment holding
Vongroup Life Sciences Corporation  REBEZEE —RAEEIETLER BEER
Win Harbour Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Property business
FAERBRAR BE 18T MEEL
Xios Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 - 100 Technology and related
activities
Xios Limited o 187 R RABEEE
I RIER PRC Registered/paid-up capital of - 100 - 100 Financial services businesses
RMB10,000,000
(Notes (i) and (iii))
ERIER Ll AMER/BHEBRAARE CERRBED
10,000,000 (A7) % (iii))
BREREEACRIARAR PRC Registered/paid-up capital of - 100 - 100 Financial services businesses
(ERERE) HK$23,000,000
(Notes (i) and (ii))
ERREEACRINERAA Gl AMER/BHBRA SRRB XS

([FemiEE D)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in opinion of the directors of the
Company, principally affected the results or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiary would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,

result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

23,000,0007% 70 (A1 aE(i) % (ii))

i) dbRERE and EEiEI%E are limited liability companies established in the PRC.

i) Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC Law.

i) dESUIE3E is indirectly held by the Company through contractual arrangements by the registered owners of

the subsidiary.

ARREERRERAIIAR AN B
FEYEAEEEEFEERS
MDA B2 #1E, K it RIBENITE

Hikt

RAHAKRERBEEKN
RAEER AT HEAM

o) 2l

) ERERKEREARNP K BRAF

i) REBPEAREIMANIEALE -

i) JERIEBIYAADFEBZNERRZEMER AR L2 AT

BRA-



38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the statement of financial position of the

Company and the movements in its reserves is set out below:

ENEEAR AT FiR2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-_=FNA=+HLEE

38. AAFHHMAE

REBEERRED ARRZHMBHRRRKEFEFHEBHEIIN
=

2023 2022
—EB-=fF —E=-=

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FHT FHAET

Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRZIRE —* =

Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TaT BRAR R E At FE UK IR 6 6
Accounts receivable PR R 8,040 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU BT B A B 5RIE 38(a) 281,445 280,639
Bank balances and cash RITHEMRNIES 414 634
289,905 281,279
Current liabilities REBEE

Amounts due to subsidiaries FEFH BT B A &I 5RIE 38(a) 11,279 10,150
Accruals and deposits received JES AN E YIRS 3,137 2,768
14,416 12,918
Net current assets REEEFE 275,489 268,361
NET ASSETS EEFE 275,489 268,361

Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital & X 27 9,903 9,083
Reserves i 38(b) 265,586 259,278
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 275,489 268,361

* Represent amounts less than HK$1,000.

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 29 August 2023 and signed on its behalf by

Vong Tat leong David

HEH
Director

EF

* &% 88/ \r,0008 T o

BB LA EFER - E_=F \A-FNAMERIZES
i To|EFAREE -

Xu Siping
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBMRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
BE-Z-=FA=1+HLEE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued) 38. AATFBBMRRFE)
(a) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries (a) FEW PENHBRTRE
FEUGRIE AEER R RBREKESE -

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(b) Movement of reserves (b) FEEES
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
B EE EREE S RitEE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FAT FAET
At 1 May 2021 RZEZ—FHA—H 611,780 262 (365,339) 246,703

Loss and total comprehensive loss for  ZRFZE51E R 2 A E1E40%
the year - - (4,519) (4,519)
611,780 262 (369,858) 242,184

Shares issued for acquisition of a RUE—HMB AR ERTZ

subsidiary & 17,094 - - 17,094

At 30 April 2022 and 1 May 2022 R-IBE-—FPNA=+HK
—Z-—#7RA—H 628,874 262 (369,858) 259,278

Profit and total comprehensive profit — ZN4F & 5% FI| K2 2 1 % 1| 4858
for the year - - 378 378

Shares issued for acquisition of a MUE B AREEITZ

subsidiary e 5,930 - - 5,930
At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FNAB=+H 634,804 262 (369,480) 265,586

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 39. {EHREE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, sine 30 April 2023 up to the
date of this report, no significant events affecting the Group have taken place.

BRaaMBRERMBOMEREIN BT =FHA=1H
BEAREAS UEEEYEREEMEANSE-



CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last

five financial years prepared on the basis as hereunder stated is set out below:

FAREARAR FR2023
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BB ERTE

ATOEERR 2 ASEBER AN RFE 2B TIBEAEEAR
AERBEZHERIINOT

Year ended 30 April
BZMA=+ALEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EB-=HF —E-= B BT —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
Revenue s 201,608 193,230 110,689 34,023 33,953
Profit before taxation BREL R A 22,768 25,741 21,839 9,920 22,258
Income tax (expense) credit Frisfi () E% (2,190) (1,632) (1,601) 298 (98)
Profit for the year NEE R 20,578 24,109 20,238 10,218 22,160
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES REBEERER
As at 30 April
REUA=+H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —EF-= —E-—F —T-TF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHET FHET
TOTAL ASSETS MEE 609,358 591,602 451,060 427,030 418,171
TOTAL LIABILITIES warE (80,654) (108,190) (37,139) (35,380) (35,095)
528,704 483,412 413,921 391,650 383,076
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
L/ EZTES

Locations

Ho

Investment properties

BREME

10.

11

12.

13.

Flat E, 9/F., Tower 1, StarCrest, 9 Star Street, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BAETEHIRE S EIREEE

Flat H, 6/F., Tower 5, Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEARE SHTE B FSEEHE

Flat B, 10/F., Tower 7, Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BANBAWE SHREEMF7E10EBE

Flat D, 43/F., Tower | and Car Parking Space No. 2-083, 2/F., The Harbourside, No. 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
BRNEMNTHEREIREBRAR T 1438 E R F2-0835F E L

Unit A, 25/F., Le Royal Arc, Avenida Sir Anders Ljungstedt, Macau
SRR ETRIF RS I S BEFI25ME AR

Flat A&B, 2/F., Queen’s Centre, 58-64 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BT ERAERS-645E T AR EP L2EARBE

Residential car parking space 602 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
EBNEAME SEH8% 8 EMF6Ee0250 T EHBAL

Residential car parking space 604 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
BANBAWE =485 /8 EmM F6iE6045% EEEBE AL

Residential car parking space 637 on 6th Floor of Harbour Place, 8 Oi King Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
BANEAWE R85 /8B FE637RETEN

Office E, 22/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BERNEBIESEESFAREEISNEEE

Room 3606, No. 233 Hebei Road, Tianhe District, Guangzhou, the PRC
Fh B M T ROR IR A A6 B8 2335736065

Shop 4, Ground Floor, King Palace Plaza, No. 55 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BB NEBEMENSSTE 2SI 454

Car parking space No. P25 on 1/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEBEBEE3 RS 118 FE P25 B L

Leasehold land and building held for own use carried at cost

MRASIEFERRCHEE L RETF

1.

Office A, 17/F., EGL Tower, 83 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BN EBE B BB IR RS 17EAE

Existing use
BEFAR

Residential
=

Residential
=

Residential
=

Residential

F=

Residential
=

Commercial

[CES

Residential

F=x

Residential

F=E

Residential

F=

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[CES

Commercial

[EES

Term of lease

HEHR

Medium term

]

Medium term

T

Medium term

T

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

T

Medium term

T

Medium term

]

Medium term

]

Medium term

A

Medium term

A

Medium term

A

Medium term

]
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